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audit regulations in force in Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of NH Hotel Group, S.A.,

Report on the Financial Statements

*O.pin.ion

We have audited the financial statements of NH Hotel Group, S.A. (the Company), which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, and the income statement, statement
of changes in equity, cash flows statement and notes to the financial statements for the year

then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017, and its results and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Company (identified in Note 2-a to the financial statements) and,
in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained therein.

Basis fo erinibn

We conducted our audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those regulations are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including
those pertaining to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Spain pursuant to the audit regulations in force. In this regard, we have not provided any
services other than those relating to the audit of financial statements and there have not been
any situations or circumstances that, in accordance with the aforementioned audit regulations,
might have affected the requisite independence in such a way as to compromise our
independence.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Delcite, S.L. Inscritz en el Registra Marcantil de Madrid, tomo 13.650. seccién 82, fchio 1388, hoja M-54<14, inscripcidn 369,
C.LF.: B-79104459. Demicilio social. Plaza Pablo Ruiz Plcasse, 1, Torre Picasso, 28020, Madrid.



Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Description

The balance sheet as at 31 December
2017 includes deferred tax assets
amounting to EUR 100 million, of which
EUR 91 million relate to tax assets (mainly
tax loss and tax credit carryforwards) of
the Company.

At the end of the year the Company
prepares financial models to assess the
recoverability of the tax losses recognised,
taking into consideration new legislative
developments and the most recently
approved business plans.

We identified this matter as key in our
audit, since the preparation of these
models requires a significant level of
judgement, largely in connection with the
projections of business performance,
which affect the estimate of the
recoverability of the tax assets.

Procedures applied in the audit

Our audit procedures included, among others,
the review of the design and implementation
of the relevant controls, as well as tests to
verify that those controls operate effectively,
the review of the afarementioned financial
madels, including the analysis of the
consistency of the actual results obtained by
the Company with the results projected in the
previous year’s maodels, the obtainment of
evidence of the approval of the budgeted
results included in the current year’s models
and the tax legislation applicable where the
deferred tax assets are recognised, as well as
the reasonableness of the projections for future
years and the cansistency of these projections
with those used in other areas of estimation,
such as those used in the assessment of
impairment on financial investments relating to
Group companies and associates or in the
impairment test on hotel assets. We also
involved our internal experts from the tax
area in the analysis of the reasonableness
of the tax assumptions considered on the

basis of the applicable legislation.

Lastly, we assessed whether Note 14 to
the accompanying financial statements
contains the disclosures required in this
connection by the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the
Company.



Measurement of ownership interests in Group companies and associates

Description

The Company has ownership interests in the
share capital of Group companies and
associates that are not listed on regulated
markets, as detailed in Note 8.2.

The measurement of these ownership
interests requires the use of significant
judgements and estimates by management,
both in determining future cash flow
discounting as the valuation method and in

considering the key assumptions established.

As a result of the foregoing, as well as the
significance of the investments held, which
emounted to EUR 1,887 million at year-end
and for which a net impairment loss of EUR
51 million was reversed in the statement of
profit or lass for 2017, this situation was
determined to be a key matter in our audit.

Procedures applied in the audit

Our audit procedures included, among
others, obtaining and analysing the valuation
studies conducted by Company management
on the aforementioned ownership interests,
and verifying the clerical accuracy thereof
and the adequacy of the valuation method
used in relation to the investment held. For
this purpose, we analysed whether the future
cash flow estimates considered in the
analysis carried out were consistent with the
budgets approved by the Board of Directors,
and with external data and historical
information on the investees.

In this context, we analysed the
reasonableness of the main assumptions
used (basically those relating to the
estimated future cash flows, the terminal
value and the discount rates) and whether
they were consistent with the actual data
relating to the performance of the ownership
interests held, as well as other key
assumptions considered (such as the
revenue growth, the assumptions on gross
margins, cost inflation and perpetuity growth
rates) and with public data on the sectors in
which the investees operate. We also
considered the ability to distribute dividends
based on historical information and existing
agreements that do not preclude their
distribution in the future, and performed a
sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
identified.

We involved our internal valuation experts in
order to evaluate, mainly, the discount rates
considered and the terminal value,
expressed in perpetuity growth terms, of the
projected future cash flows. Lastly, we
evaluated whether the disclosures included
in Note 8.2 to the accompanying financial
statements in connection with this matter
are in conformity with those required by the
applicable accounting regulations.



Impairment test on assets associated with the hotel activity

Description

As indicated in Note 18-a) to the financial
statements, at 31 December 2017 the
Company was carrying on its activity through
hotel establishments that it operates and
owns, or was receiving income from leasing
hotel assets owned by it. The carrying
amount of all the assets associated with the
hotel activity -property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets- amounted to EUR 163
million at 31 December 2017.

At the end of each reporting period,
management performs an impairment test in
order to determine the recoverable amount
of the aforementioned assets. In order to
calculate the recoverable amount of each
cash-generating unit ("CGU"), Company
management generally considers the
calculation of the value in use of each of
these units based on the estimate of future
cash flows and applying specific growth rates
and a specific discount rate

The valuation of the hotel assets is a key
audit matter, since it requires the use of
estimates with a significant degree of
uncertainty. Specifically, the valuation
method generally applied to hotel assets is
the discounted cash flow method, which
requires estimates to be made, inter alia, of:

- The future room rental revenue of each
CGU (projected as the occupancy rate
multiplied by the average price per room
and by the total number of rooms
available per year).

- The rest of the revenue projected as the
average ratio of the room rental revenue
to that revenue.

- Staff costs and other direct expenses
associated with each CGU.

The internal rate of return or opportunity
cost used when discounting.

The residual value of the assets at the end of
the projection period.

Procedures applied in the audit

We obtained the impairment test performed
by management and, with the involvement
of our internal experts, our audit procedures
included, among others:

- The review of the design and
implementation of the relevant controls
that mitigate the risks associated with
the process to assess the potential
impairment of the assets associated with
the hotel activity, as well as tests to
verify that the aforementioned controls
operate effectively;

- The comparison of the consistency of the
methodology used in 2017 with that of
the previous year;

The clerical review of the calculations;

- Based on a sample of assets, taken on 2
selective basis, the assessment of the
reasonableness of the main assumptions
applied in relation to roem rental
revenue, as well as the future
investments and the comparison with
objective publically available data;

- The analysis of the reascnableness of the
discount rate used and review of the
sensitivity analyses;

A retrospective review, based on a
sample of predictions with the objective
of identifying bias in management's
assumptions and the assessment of the
historical achievement of the Company's
budgets.

We also assessed whether the disclosures
made by the Company in relation to these
matters, which are included in Notes 4-c, 5
and 6 to the accompanying financial
statements for 2017, contain the information
required by the applicable accounting
legislation.



Other Information: Directors’ Report”

The other information comprises only the directors' report for 2017, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Company's directors and which does not form part of the financial

statements.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the directors' report. Our
responsibility relating to the directors’ report is defined in the audit regulations in force, which

establish two distinct levels of review:

a) A specific level that applies to the non-financial information statement, as well as to certain
information included in the Annual Carporate Governance Report, as defined in Article 35.2.b)
of Spanish Audit Law 22/2015, which consists solely of checking that the aforementioned
information has been provided in the directors' report and, if this is not the case, reporting

this fact.

b) A general level applicable to the other information included in the directors' report,
which consists of evaluating and reporting on whether the aforementioned information is
consistent with the financial statements, based on the knowledge of the entity obtained in the
audit of those financial statements and excluding any information other than that obtained as
evidence during the audit, as well as evaluating and reporting on whether the content and
presentation of the directors’ report are in conformity with the applicable regulations. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements, we are

required to report that fact.

Based on the work performed, as described above, we have checked that the specific
information described in section a) above has been provided in the corporate responsibility
report for 2017 to which a reference is included in the directors’ report, and that the other
information in the directors' report is consistent with that contained in the financial statements
for 2017 and its content and presentation are in conformity with the applicable regulations.

Responsibilities of the Directors and of the Audit Committee for the
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying financial statements so that they
present fairly the Company's equity, financial position and results in accordance with the
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company in Spain, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process involved in the preparation and
presentation of the financial statements.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion.



Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included
in Appendix I to this auditor's report. This description, which comes later in this report, forms

part of our auditor's report.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Additional Report to the Audit Committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to
the Company's audit committee dated 27 February 2018.

Engaée%ent Period

The Annual General Meeting held on 29 June 2017 appointed us as auditors for a period of
one year from the year ended 31 December 2016.

Previously, we were designated pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting for the pericd
of one year and have been auditing the financial statements uninterruptedly since the year
ended 31 December 1993.

DELOITTE, S.L.
Registered in ROAC under no. S0692

—

Pilar Cerezo Sobrino
Registered in ROAC under no. 16502

28 February 2018



Appendix I to our auditor's report

Further to the information contained in our auditor's report, in this Appendix we include our
responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements.

Auditor’s Responsibiiit—iés for the Audit of the Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pu rpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the use by the directors of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a

going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the entity's audit committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the entity's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we have
communicated with it to report on all matters that may reasonably be thought to jecpardise
our independence, and where applicable, on the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the entity's audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current

period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.



Translation of 2017 Financial Statements and Management Report originally issued in Spanish and
prepared in accordance with Spanish GAAP. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version
: e\-'ail (see Note 23).
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NH Hotel Group, S.A.

INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017

i Thousands of curus)

Note 3171272047 | 3141272016
Revenues Nolc I8 31.32h 28,159
Sales 29,738 26,730
Other Income Note 17.2 1,588 1,429
Procurements 1,230 R3%
Work carried out by the company for lts assets 2,854 5,403
Other vpernting income Note 17.2 87,853 76,895
Non-core and other cnrrent operaling income 87,853 76,805
Staff costs Notc 18.b {38,186) (41,949)
Wages, salaries and similar (32,538} (36,744)
Social security coniributions (5,648} (5,205}
Other operating expenses (50,742) (>7,554)
External services Note 18.c (23,192) (26,038)
Taxes (1,987) {1,76{}
Losses on, impairment of and changes in allowunces for trade reccivables 63 {103}
Other current operating expenses (25,631) (29,652)
Depreciatian and amortisation charge Notes 5 & 6 (19,464) (20,262)
Impairment and gains ar losses an dispagals of non-current assets 22,982 47415
Impatrments and other losses Notes 5 & 6 05 (120)
Income from disposals and other Note 6 and 18.¢ 22,887 47,535
PROFIT/LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 37.853 39,946
Financial income 8%4 27
Frem investments in equity instruments
- Third parties - =
From secinitics held for trading and other financial mstruments
- Third parties 394 300
Financial cxpenses (59,460) {30,638)
On debts to Group companies und ussociatey Note 17,2 (4,393} (2,485)
On dehts to third parties (55,267) (48,153}
Changes i fair value of financial instruments Note 4.¢ {7) 435
Exchange rate differences 493 302
Impairment and galns or losses on disposals of financial instruments Note 8.2 51,375 145,194
1 FENANCIAL PROFIT/LOSS {6,905) 95,620
| PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX 30,948 135,566
Income tax Note 14 (2,776) 6,602)
PFROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 28,172 128,964

The accompanying Nates 1 ta 23 are an integral part of the income swtement for 2017.
The income staternent for 2016 is presented for comparison purposes only.
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NH Hotel Group, S.A.

CASE FLOW STATEMENT FOR 2017

{I'bousands of Eutos)
Notes
oo the report 2017 20146
A) CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Profit (loss) belore tax 30,948 | 135,565
L. Adjudtmeents for: 3,604 | (112,950)
a) Deprecintion and amortisation charpe (—) Notes S & & 19,464 20,262
b) [mpairosent losses {+£-) MNates S & 6 (95) 120
c) Chanpes in provisions (+/-) (225) 9,792
d) Gains 'Losses on derecognition and disposal of non-current assets {+-) Note 1B.¢ (22,887) | (47.535)
u) Gaing.'Losses on derecognition and disposal of financial instruments (+-) Noirs B.2 (51,375) | (145,194)
f) inance income (-} Nurte 18,0 {2,4%2) (1,756)
g) Finance costs (+) 59,660 50,638
i} Exchunge rate differcnecs (+-) {493) (302)
i) Changes im the fair value of finaocial instrements {+- 7 (435)
J) Other income and expenses {-+) 2.090 1460
3. Changey in working capital (5,536) 1,443
a) Inventories (+-) {3) 2
b) Trade and other recefvablas(+/-) (3.515} 1,495
c) Other current assets (/) 2,780 {105)
d) Trade and uther paynbles (+:-) {3.574) 959
¢) Other current liabilisas (+/~) {I8) )]
) Other non~current assets and Liabilives {+/-) {1,200 (899)
4. Oriher cash flows from operating actlvities: (48,230) | (31,770)
a) [nterest paid (-) (43.309) | (32.097)
b) Interest reecived () 79 1,756
5. Cash [lows from investment actvites (4/=14/- 24+/-1+/-4) {(19,155) {7.706)
B) CASH FLOWS FROM INYESTMENT ACTIVITIES
&, Payments doe to lmvestment (175,050} | (150071)
a) Group companies and associstes (160.830) | (131,154)
b) Tangible 2and intangible fixed assets {14,120} | (27.907)
7. Proceeds from disposal (): 24,044 51,668
a) Property, plent end equipment 24,044 50,961
b) Other financial asgets - 707
3. Cash flows from inveéstment activities (7-5) (151,006) | (107.403)
) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIYITIES
9. Equity instraments receivables and {payables): - (2,422)
4) Purchasc of treasury shares (-) - {2,422)
10. Proceeds and payments relating to fimanclal Labilicy instruments: 125,224 | 149,517
a} [ssue of
1. Obligaticns angd other negotiable securities 285,000
2, Bank borrowings (+) - 1,200
3. Barrowings fram Group companies and associates 271,975 | (16,410)
b) Redemption of
1. Bank burraw ings (-) Note 13.1 | (135,0060) | {120.273)
2. Debis with credit institutions (-) Note 13.1 {11,751) -
1L, Dividends pakd aut and other equity lnstruments retribations {12.,056) -
a) Dividends {-) Note 11 (17.036) .
2. Cash flows from financing actlvitles {(+/-9+/-10+/-11) 108,168 147,095
D) EFFECT OF EXCIIANGE RATE YARIATIONS {66} 302
E) NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EDQUI¥ALENTS {+-5+-8+/-12:H-D) (62.059) 32,288
Casn and ¢ash cquivalents at the start of the financial year 62,582 30,264
Cush and vush cquivakmis st end of year 493 62.552

The accompanying Notes 1 to 23 ars an integral purt of the cash flow stateracnt for the vear 2017.
The cash flow statemert far 2014 is presented for comparmyon only,




REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS OF NH HOTEL GROUP S.A. FOR
THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2017

1.-COMPANY PURPOSE

NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. (hereinafier the Company) was incorporated as a public limited company in
Spain on 23 December 1981 under the trade name “Material para Ferracarriles y Construcciones, S.A.”,
which was subsequently changed to “Material ¥ Construcciones, S.A.” (MACOSA) and later to

“Caorparacion Arco, S.A."

In 1992, Carporacion Arco, 5.A. took over Corporacién Financiera Reunida, S.A. (COFIR), while at the
same time adopting the trade name of the company taken over and amending its corporate purpose to the
new activity of thc Company, which focused on the management of its shareholding portfolio.

During the 1998 financial year, {COFIR) merged with Grupo Catalin, S.L. and its subsidiaries and Gestién
NH, 5.A. through the absarption of these companies by the former. Subsequently, Corporacién Financiera
Reunida, S.A. (COFIR) took over NH Hoteles, S.A., adopted its trade name and broadened its corporate
purpose to allow for the dircct performance of hotel activities, activities in which it had already been
engaged indrectly through its subsidiaries.

Informatiort on these mergers can be found in the financial statements of the years in which said transactions
took place.

The General Sharehelders’ Meeting of 29 Junc 2014 agreed to change the company's name from “NH
Hoteles, S.A.” to “NH Hotel Group, S.A."

The Group entered into an agreement with Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (hereinafter “Hesperia®) in 2009
to merge their respective hotel management businesses. As a result, the Group now manages certain hotels
owned or operated by Hesperia. On 7 March 2017 a new agrecment to manage 28 hotels was signed between
NII Iotel Group, S.A. and Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (“GIHSA”) for a 9-year period. This contract
replaces and extends the previous one, signed in 2009 (sec Note 19.3).

The Company 15 the head of a group of subsidiaries engaging in the same aclivities and that constitute,
logether with NH Hotel Group, S.A., the NH Hotel Group.

At the end of 2017, the Group was operating hotels in 31 countries, with 380 hotels and 58,926 rooms, of
which around 74% are located in Spain, Germany, Italy and the Benclux countries.

NH Hotel Group, S.A. has its registered addrass in Madrid.

The consolidated financial statements for 2017 were drawn up by the directors of NH Hotel Group, S.A. at
the Board meeting beld on 28 February 2018, in accordance with the regulatory reporting framework
applicable to the Group, as established in the Code of Commerce and all other Spanish corporate law, and
in the International Financial Reporting Standards (“[FRS") adepted by the European Union in accordance
with Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and in Law 62/2003, of 30 December, the
Tax, Administrative, Labour and Social Security Measures Act, and as such give a true and fair presentation
the Group’s cquity and financial position at 31 December 2017 and of the results of its operations, changes
in equity and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

The consolidated financial statements for 2016 were approved by the shareholders at the Annual Genera)
Mecting held on 29 June 2017 and filed with the Companies Registry of Madrid.



The consolidated financial statements for 2017 of the Group and the entities that it comprises have not yet
been approved by the shareholders at the respective Annual General Meetings or by the respective
shareholders or sole shareholders. Nonetheless, the directors of the Parent Company believe that said
financial statements will be approved withaut any significant changes.

Buased on the contents of said consolidated financial statements, the tolal volume of equity, period profit,
assets and cousolidated sales amounted to EUR 1,152 million, EUR 33 miilion, EUR 2,472 million and

EUR 1,546 million, respectively.

2.-

a)

b)

d)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company

These fimancial statements were preparad by the direclors in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Company, which consists of:

a) Spanish Commercial Code and all other Spanish corporate law.

b) The General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, which was amended by
Royal Decree 602/2016, and its sector adaptations.

¢) The mandatory rules approved by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute in order ta
mmplement the General Accounting Plan and the relevant secondary legislation.

d) The standards and circulars of the National Securities Commission.

¢) All other applicable Spanish accounting legislatior.

True and fair presentation

These consolidated financial statemerts, which were obtained from the Company's accounting
records, are presented im accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
thereto and, 1o particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained thercin and, accordingly,
provide a true and fair presentation of the Company’s equity, financial pesition, results of operations
and cash flows for 2017.

Non-obligatory accounting prirciples

No non-nbligatory accounting principles were applied. Furthermore, the Company’s directors formally
prepared these canselidated financial statements by taking into account all the obligatory accounting
principles and standards with a significant effect hereon. All obligatory accounting principles were

applied.
Key issucs in relation to the measurement and estimation of uncertainty

In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, estimates were made by the Company's
directors in order to quantify certain assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported
herein. These estimates relate basically to the following:

The assessment of possible impainment losses on certain assets.

The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of liabilities for pensions and other
undertakings made to the personncl.

The useful life of the tangible and intangible assets.

The market valoe of specific assets,

The caleuiation of provisions.

Recoverability of tax assets.

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at year-end 2017,
events that take place in the future might make it necessary to change these estimates (upwards or
downwards) m coming years. Changes in accounting estimates would be applied prospectively.
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¢) Comparative information

The information relating to 2016 contzined in these notes to the consolidaled financial statements is
prescnicd for the purposes of comparison with the information for 2017.

f) Grouping of items

Certain items in the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprchensive income, consolidated statement of changes in cquity and consclidated
cash flow statement arc grouped together to make them easier to understand; however, whenever the
amounts involved arc material, the information is broken down in the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

g) Changing in accounting policies
In 2017 there were no significant changes in accounting policies with respect to thosc applied in 2016,
h) Correction of errors

In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 2017, no material crrors were
detected that would have madc it necessary to restate the amounts included in the consolidated
financial statements for 2016.

3.- PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS

The proposed distribution of profits for the year prepared by the Company's Directors and that will be
submitted for approval by the Shareholders at the General Shareholders' Meeting is as tollows (in thousands

of euros):

2017
To legal reserve 2,817
To distribution of dividends 25,355
Total o 28,172

Additionally, the distribution of dividends in the amount 0f 8,731 thousand euros with a charge ta voluntary
Teserves is proposed, increasing the estimated total dividend to approximately 34,086 thousand euros. Both
amounts are derived from a maximum amount to be distributed: gross 0.10 euros per share for all
outstanding shares). The final amount in euros to be distributed will be updated according to the number of
outstanding shares at the date of the dividend's approval by the General Shareholders' Meeting.

4.- ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The main accounting policies used by the Company in preparing the financial statements for 2017, in
accordance with the Spanish Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, were as follows:

a}) intangihlc assets

Intangibie assets are considered to be any specifically identifiable non-monetary assets which have
been acquired from third parties or developed by the Company. Only those whose cost can be
estimated in an objective way and from which future economic profits are expected arc recognised,

Any assets deemed to contribute indelinitely to the generation of profits are considered to have an

indefinite useful life. The remaining intznpible assets are considered to have a “finitc usefil life”. All
the Company’s intangible asscis arc considered to have a “finite nseful life”.

11



Intangible assets with a fmite useful life are amortised according to the straight-line method, applying
annual amortisalion percentages calculated according to the estimated years of useful life of the asset

in question.

As a general rule, intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or productivn cost. They are
subsequently measured at cost less the related accumulated amottisation and any impairment losses.

"Intangible Asscts” in the accompanyirg balance sheet includes, essentially, the following:

i) Usufruct Rights: this ilem refiects the right to operate Hotel NH Plaza dc¢ Armas in
Seville, acquired in 1994, whose amortisation is recognised in the income statement
over the 30-year term of the agreement at a rate which increases by 4% each vear.

ii) “Computer applications” include the costs incurred by the Company in the acquisition
and development of various computer software programmes acquired by the different
consolidated companies. Computer applications are amortised applying the straipht-
line method at 25% per year.

b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially rccognised at acquisition cost and are subsequently reduced
by the related accumulated depreciation and by any impairment lusses recognised, as indicated in Note
4-c.

Property, plant and equipment upkeep and maintenance cxpenses are recognised on the income
stalement for the year m which they are incurred. Hoewever, the costs of improvements leading to
increased capacity or efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised.

For non-current assets that necessatily take a period of more than twelve months to get ready far their
intended use, the capitalised costs include such borrowing costs as might have been incurred before
the assets are ready for their intended use and which have been charged by the supplier or relate 10
loans or other funds borrowed specifically or generally directly attributable to the acquisition or
production of the assels,

(oods and elements removed, whether due to modernisation or any other cause, are accounted for
under the balances presented m the comresponding accounts of assets and accumulated depreciation.

The Company depreciates its property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method,
distributing the cost of the assets over the following years of estimated useful life, as follows:

Estimated years of

useful life
Buildings 50
Plant and machinery 10-12
Other plant, fixtures ané fumiture 4-10
Other Fixed assets 4-5

These items are depreciated based on their estimated useful life or the remaining term of the lease, if
this is icss than the useful life.

The profit or loss resulling from the disposal or retirement of an asset is calculated as the difference
between the profit on the sale and the book value of the asset, and is recogniscd in the incume statement.
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¢) Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Each year the Company assesses the possible cxistence of losses in value requiring it to reduce the
book value of its property, plant and equipment and infangible assets. Loss of value is deemed to exist
when the recoverable value is below the assct bonk value.

The recoverable amount is determined as the value in use. Value in use is calculated based on
estimated future cash flows, discounted at a discount rate after tax which reflects the current market
valug, in relation to the value of money and the specific risks associalcd with the asset over a five-
year pertod, and a perpetual value, excapt in the case of leased hotels corresponding with the leasing
period, for which a perpetual vaiue is not considered.

As a general rule, the Company has defined each of the hotels it operates as cash-generating units,
according to the real management of tkair operations.

The operating result for each CGU is obtained at the end of the year without taking non-recurring
results (if any) or financial results into account.

Once the operating result is obtained or each CGU, the impairment test is performed for those in
which there arc indications of impairment. The Company considers a CGU to shew signs of
irapairment if it meets the following conditions, among others: it has negative operating results and
its business is stable (1., this does not zpply to recently opened hotels until, usnaliy, 3 years after they
open).

Additionally, all the CGUs that have shown an impairment in previous vears will be analvsed
individually and subjected to an impairment test.

Future cash flows are estimated based cn the result for the year approved by the Company’s directors,
and the records of at least five previcus years. The first projected year corresponds to the budget
approved by the Board of Dircctors for the year after the year subjected to the impairment test. The
projections for the follewing ycars are consistent wilth macroeconomic information from external
sources of information, and the business knowledge of the Company’s Operations Management.

A senes of factors are considered by the Company’s directors when drafting their projections:

- 'L'he estimated growth of GDP (Gross Domestic Product) for the next five years, published by
the International Monetary Fund {IMFE) in its reporl every Qctober,

- Local management’s knowledge of the lacal business/assets/situation of each CGU,

- Records of the previous rosults cbtained by the CGUs.

- Investmenls in repositioning the CGUs.

These factors are reflected in the cash flows through the following working hypotheses used to obtain
the projections:

Income from accommodation is projected as the product of the occupancy percentage, the
average daily rate (ADR) per room, and the total available rooms per year.

-~ The other revenues are projecled based on the average of the relationship between (he revenue
from accommeodation and those revenues.
Staf costs arc calculated based on the average staff costs with a growth in the inflation index

(CPD).

- Tax costs are calculated based or the applicable tax rates.

- Direct vosts are directly linked tc each income source and are projected with an average ratio,
while non-distnbuted costs are projected with the average ratio between them and direct costs.

For the caleulation of the discount rate the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) methodology
has been applied: Weighted Average Cest of Capital (WACC), as follows:

WACC=Ke*EXE+D) + Kd*(1-T)*DAE+D)

Where:
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Ke: Cost of Equity

Kd; Cost of Financial Debt
E: Equity

D: Financial Debt

T: Tax Rate

The cost of equity (ke) uses the Capital Asset Pricing Model, or CAPM.

The main variables used to calculate the discount rate arc as follows:
«  Risk-free rate: using the average long-term interest rates of a 10-year bond over the last

12 months for each country, in the lacal currency.

»  Market risk premium: defined as 6.7% (6% in 2016), based an market reports.

*  Beta or systematic risk: Used as outside sources of information, this information is
gathered from independent databases and concerns the ratio between the risk of
companies and overall market risk. The re-leveraged beta coefficient has been cstimated
on the basis of 64% de-leveraged betas (70% in 2016), the debt structurc of comparable
companies {Debt / (Debt + Equity) of 31% (32% in 2016) and the corresponding tax
rate in each country.

«  Market value of debt, amounting to 8% (5% in 2016).

«  Premium by size: based on recent expert reports.

The discount rate after tax applied by “he Commpany for this purpose is 7.05%. Like the cash flows
resulting from the impairment tests, the average discount rate was also calculated after tax.
Meanwhile, the book value to which the value-in-use is compared does not include any deferred tax
liabilities which could be associated with the assets,

The average discount rate before tax applied by the Company for this purpose 1s 8.77% (9% in 2016).

Using a post-tax discount rate and post-tax cash flows 1s consistent with the standards, as the estimated
future cash flows will reflect assumptions that are consistent with the manner of determining the
discount rate. In addition, the result of the post-tax flows updated at a post-tax discount rate would
obtain the same result with respect to the impairment test if a pre-tax rate were used and, therefore,
the impairment and reversion accounting records would be the same.

[f the recoverable value of an asset is estimated to be less than its baok value, the asset’s baok value
1s reduced ta its recoverable amount, and the related write-down is recognised in the Income statement.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amonnt of the asset is increased to the
limit of the original value at which such asset was recognised before the loss of value was recognised.

Information on impairment losses detected in the financial year appears in Notes 5 and 6 of this Annual
Report.

d) Leascs

Leases are classified as financial leases whenever the terms of the lease substantially transfer all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Company generally classifies all leases as operating leases. Whether a lease is financial or
operating depends on the economic background and nature of the transaction, rather than the mere

form of'the lease agreement.

The arguments used to classify the leases as operative are as follows:

- The ownership of the asset is transferred to the lessor at the end of the lease;
There 1s no option to acquire the asset at the end of the lease;
The term of the lease does not exceed the economic life of the asset
The present value of the minimum lease payments does not substantially cover the market

value of the underlying asset;
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- The duration of leases is always much shorter than the economic usefiil life of the underlving
asset:

- In the cvent that it is decided to extend the duration of the lease, the terms of the new lease
should be renegotiated;

- ‘lhe group can unilaterally terminate the lease without a penalty being imposed as a
CONsScyuence;

- The increases or decreases in the residual value of the underiying asset are not bome by the
Group, but by the lessor.

Expenses resulting from opcrating leases are charged to income in the year in which they arc
mcurred.

When the Company acts as the lessar, it recognises the income from operating leases using the
straight-line method according to the terms of the agreoments signed. These assets are recorded at
the purchase price of the leased assets in the section “Tangible Fixed Assets” and amortised in line
with the policies adopted for similar tangible asscts for uwn use. When the Company is the lessce,
the cost of leasing is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis, with the resulting
asset or liability recorded in the corresponding scctions of the balance sheet.

¢) Financial instruments
1} Financial assets
The fnancial assets held by the Company are classified into the following categories:

- Loans and receivables: finzncial assets arising from the salc of goods or the rendering of
services in the ordinary course of the Company’s business, or financial assets which, not
having commercial substance, are not equity instruments or derivalives, have fixed or
determinable payments and are not traded in a two-way market.

- Investments in the equity of the Company’s group companies, associates and jointly
controlled entities: group companies are deemed to be those related to the Company as a
result of a relationship of control and associates are eompanies over which the Company
excreises significant influeace. Jointly controlled entities include companies over which,
by virtuc of an agreement, the Company exercises joint control with one or morce other
partners.

- Financial assets held [or sale These include debt securities and equity instruments of other
companies that arc not classified m any of the previous categories.

- Financial assets held [or rzding: those acquired with 2 view to disposing of them in the
short term or those that are part of a portfolio where evidence exists of recent actions with
this goal. This catcgory alse includes (inancial derivatives that are not finance guarantees
(€.g. suretics) or those designated as hedging instrumenis.

initial measuyemertt —

Financial assets are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration given, pius any
directly eligible transaction casts.

Subsequent measurement —

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost.

[nvestments in the Company’s group companies, associates and interests in jointly contralled
entities are measured at cost, net of any accumulated impairment losses, where appropriate, These
losses are caleulated as the difference between the carrying value of the investments and their

recoverable amount, Recoverable amount is the higher of [air value less costs to sell and the
present value of the future cash flows from the investment. Unless there is better evidence of the
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2)

3)

recoverable amount, it is based on the valuc of the equity of the investee, adjusted by the amount
of the unrealised gains existing at the date of measurement (including any goodwill).

I'inancial assets held for sale are measured at fair value and the gams and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recogniscd in equity until the asset is disposed of or it is determined that
it has become permanently impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in equity are recognisec in the net profit or loss for the year.

Lastly, financial assets held for trading are valued at their fuir value, registering the result of
changes in fair value in the income statement.

At least at each reporting date, ths Company tests financial assets not measured at fair value
through profit or loss for impairmeat. Objective evidence of impairment is deemed to exist when
the recoverable amount of the financial asset is lower than fts carrying valuc. When this ocours,
the impairment loss is recognised on the income statement,

In particular, in relation to valvation adjustments relating to trade and other receivables, the
Company calculates the corresponcing impairment losses, if any, by analysing these on 1 case-by-
case basis and provisioning balances past due by more than 180 days.

The Company deregisters financial assets when they mature, or when the rights to the financial
assct’s cash flows have been transferred, along with the inherent risks and benefits of ownership.

Conversely, the Company does not derecognise financial assets and recognises a financial liability
for an amount equal o Lhe consideration received in the transfers of financial assets in which the
risks and rewards inhcrent in its ownership are substantially all retained.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument represents a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting
all of its liabilitics.

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised in equity as the proceeds received, net
of issue costs.

Treasury shares acquired by the Company diring the year are recognised at the value of the
consideration paid and are deducted dircetly from equity. Gains and losses on the acquisition, sale,
issue or retirement of treasury shares arc recognised directly in equity and in no case are they
recognised in profit or loss.

Fimancial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Company that have arisen from the purchase
of goods or services in the normal course of the Company's business and those which, not having
commercial substance, cannot be clessed as derivative financial instruments.

Accounts payable are nitially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted
by the directly attributable transaction costs. These liabilitics arc subsequently measured at

amortised cost.

Diebt issues are mitially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, less the costs
directly attributable to the transaction. They are subsequently valued at their amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Bonds with a maturity date greater than twelve months are
classified under non-current liabilities, while those with a maturity date of less than twelve months

are meluded m current Habilities.

Convertible bond issues are recognised at the time of their issuc, distributing the fair value of the
consideration received between their equity and liability components, assigning the residual value
obtained after deducting the amount established separately for the liability component, from the
fair value of these instruments as a whole, to the equity insttument. The valuc of any derivative
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%)

embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component will be included
in the hability companent.

Loans received from banking institutions are recognised at lhe amount received, net of costs
incutred in the transaction. They are subsequently valued al amortised cost. These transaction costs
and financial expenses arc recognised on an accrnal basis in the income statement using the
effective interest rate method, and :heir amount is added to liabilitics to the extent to which they

are rot settled in the period they were produced.
Derivatives and hedge accounting,

Derivatives used to hedge the risks to which the Company’s operations are exposed, mainly
exchange and interest rate risks, arz valued at market valuc on the date they are contracted. Any
subsequent changes in their market value are recognised as follows;

- In fair value hedges, the gains or losses arising on both the hedging instruments and the
hedged items atiributable to the type of risk being hedged are rccognised directly in the
income statement.

- Fur cash flow hedges, valvaticn differences in the effective part of the hedge elements are
temporarily recognised in the equity item “Equity valuation adjustments™ and not recognised
as results unttl the losses or gains of the hedged element are recognised in profit or loss or
until the hedged element maturzs. The meffective part of the hedge is direcily entcered into the
income statement.

Hedge accounting is interrupted when the hedging instrument expires or is sold or finalised or
exercised, or when it no longer meets the hedge accounting criteria. At that time, any cumulative
gain or loss corresponding to the kadging insoument that has been recognised in equity is kept
there until the expected transaction is undertaken,

When the transzaction covered by the hedge is nut expected to take place, the net cumulative gains
ot losses recognised in equity are translerred to the profit or loss for the period. Any changes in
the fair value of derivatives which fail 1o meet hedge accounting criteria are recognised in the
income staternent as they arise.

Ihe derivatives involved in other financial instruments or in other important agreements are
booked separately as derivatives only when their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the important agreement and as long as such important agreements are not valued at
fair value through the recognition o7 any changes ta fair valuc in the income statement.

Valuation technigues and assumpticns applying to the measurement of fair value

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are detcrmined as follows:

*  The fair value of financial asssts and liabilities under standard terms and conditions which
are traded in active liquid markets are based on market prices.

» The fair value of other financia! asscts and liabilities (excluding derivatives) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted valuation models on the basis of cash flow discounting
using the price of observable market transactions and contributor listings of similar

instruments.

e In order to determine the fair value of interest rate derivatives, cash flow discounting is used
based on the implicit flow cstermined by the interest rate curve according to murket
conditions. In order fo determne the fair value of options, the Company uses the Black-
Scholes valuation model and 1s variants, using for this purpose market volatilities for the
strike and maturity prices of said options.

Any financial instruments valued afrer their initial recognition at fair value are classified as level
1 to 3 bascd on the extent to which fair value can be observed:
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* Level 1: includes any mstruments indexed to listed prices {without adjustment) of identical
assets or liabilities in active markets.

a  Level 2: meludes any instruraents indexed Lo other obscrvable inputs (which are not the listed
prices included under Tevel 1) for assets or liabilitics, be it directly (i.e., prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices).

* Level 3: includes any Instruments ndexed to valuation techniques, which include inputs for
assets or labilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The change in fair value as of 31 December 2017 of these hedges has had a positive cffect
concerning the 2017 income statement of 7 thousand euros (435 thousand euros in 2016). At 31
December 2017, the Company had not contracled any exchange rate insurance.

These derivative instruments have rot been treated as hedging instruments.

f) Inventories

Restaurant inventaries are measured at the lower of acquisition cost or realisable value.,

g) Foreign currency transactions

The Company's functional currency is the euro. Therefore, transactions in currencies other than the
euro are deemed to be “foreign currency mansactions™ and are recognised by applying the exchange
rates prevailing on the date of the transaction,

At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denomimated in foreign currencies
are translated to euros at the rates then prevailing. Any resulting gains or losses are recognised directly
in the income statement in the year in which they arise.

h) Income tax

Tax expense (tax income) comprises current tax expense {current tax income) and deferred tax
expense (deferred tax Income).

The current income tax expense is the amount pavable by the Company as a result of income (ax
settlements for a given year. Tax credits and other tax benefits, excluding tax withholdings and interim
payments, and tax loss carryforwards from prior years effectively offset in the current year reduce the
current InCome tax expense,

The deterred tax expense or income relztes to the recognition and derecognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilitics. These Include temporary differences measured as the amount expected to be payable
or recoverable on differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their tax bases,
and tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. Said amounts are recognised by applying to the relevant
temporary difference or credit the tax rate al which they are expected to be recovered or settled,

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except for those arising
tfrom the initial recognition ol goodwill or of other assets and habilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and affects neither accounting profit {(1oss) nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets arc recognised to the extent that it is considered likely that the Group will have
taxable profits in the future against which the deferred lax assets can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising [rom transactions charged or credited directly to equity arc
alse recognised in equity.

The deferred tax assets recognised are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and the
appropriate adjustments arc made, according to the extent of doubts as to their future recoverability.
Also, unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
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recognised to the extent that it has become likely that they will be recovered through future taxable
profits.

i) Income and expenses

Revenue and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis, {.e. when the actual flow of the related
goods and services occurs, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Revenue
is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, net of discounts and taxes.

Revenue from sales and services rendered is also recognised by reference ko the stage of completion
of the transaction at the reporting date, provided the outcome of the transaction van be reliably

estimated.

Interest incomne from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method and dividend
income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established. In any
case, interest from financial assets accrued after the date of acquisition is recognised as income in the
consolidated income statement.

j) Provisions and contingencies

The consolidated financial statements inclade all the provisions with respect te which it is considered
likely that the obligation will have to be settled. Contingent liabilities are not recogniscd in the
consolidated financial statements but rather are disclosed, unless the possibility of an vutflow in
settlement is considered to he remote.

Provisions are measured at the present valuc of the best possible estimate of the amount required to
settle or transfer the abligation, taking into accoumnt the information available on the event and its
consequences. Where discounting is used, adjustments made to provisions are recognised as intercst
cost on an accruai basis.

The compensation teo be received from a third party on settlement of the obligation is recognised as an
asset, provided that there are no doubts that the reimbursement will take place, unless there is a legal
relationship whereby a portion of the risk has been externalised as a result of which the Company is
not liable; in this situation, the compensation will be taken into account for the purpose of estimating
the amount of the related provision that should be recognised.

k) Termination benefits

Under current legislation and cerfain employment contracts, the Company is required to pay
termination benefits to smployees terminated under certain conditions. Thercfore, termination benefits
that can be reasonably quantified are recognised as an expense in the year in which the decision to
terminate the employment relationship is taken.

At 31 December 2017 the Company recognised 4,055 thousand euros for this item (7,137 thousand
curos for the previous year) (see Note 13-b).

) Environmental assets and liabilities

Environmental assets are deemed to be assets used on a lasting basis in the Company’s operations
whose meain purpose is to minimise environmental impact and protect and improve the environment,
including the reduction or elimination of firture pollution.

Because of their nature, the Company's business activities do not have a signiticant cnvironmental
impact.

m)} Obligations to employees

The Company has nat cstablished any supplementary pension plan to the social sceurity system.
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Collective agreements in the hotel industry, applicable to the Company in Spain, require a specific
number of monthly salary payments to those employees who leave the company due to retirement,
permanent disability or upon reaching a certain age and having a certain number of years of service
and fulfilling certain pre-established requirements.

[n this regard and in compliance with Royal Decree-Law 16/2005, the Company has outsourced its
obligations conceming its emplovees' pension plans.

n) Share-based remuneration schemes

These schemes, which may be paid in shares, are valued at the time of granting, using a financial
method based on a binomial model which takes into consideration the strike price, volatility, the
cxercise period, the expected dividends, the risk-free interest rate and the assumptions made
conceming the Anancial year.

The allocation of the aforementioned valuation to profit or loss is carried cut under personnel expenses
on a straight line basis over the periad of time the employee is employed as a requirement for its
exercise, and a balancing entry on the Balance Sheet under Reserves.

On each subsequent closing date, the Company reviews (he estimates regarding the number of options
expected to be exercisable, adjusting ths cquily figurc il neccessary.

i} Transactions with related parties

The Company pserforms all its transactiens with related parties on an arm’s length basis. Also, the
transfer prices are adequately suppotted and, therefore, the Company's directors consider that there
are no material risks in this connection that might give rise to significant liabilities in the future,

0) Currcnt/Non-current classification

Current assets are assets assocliated with the normal operating cycle, which in general is considered to
be one year; other assets which are exgected tc mature, be disposed of or be realised within twelve
meonths from the end of the reporting neriod,; financial assets held for frading, except for financial
derivatives that will be settled in a period exceeding one year; and cash and cash equivalents. Assels
that do not meet these requirements are classified as non-current assets.

Similarly, current liabilities are liabilities associated with the normal operating cycle, financial
liabilities held for trading, except for fmancial derivatives that will be settled in a period exceeding
one year; and, in general, all obligations that will mature or be extinguished in the short term. All other
liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

p) Onerous contracts

The Company considers onerous conftrzcts to be those in which the inevitable costs of fulfilling the
obligations they entail exceed the econcmic benefits expected from them,

The Company follows the principle of recording a provision at the present value of the aforementioned
difference between the costs and beaelits of the contract, or the compensation foreseen for
abandonment of the contract, if such is decided.,

The methodolopy, assumptions and discount rates used to calculate any necessary provisions are
applied i accordance with the criteria cescribed in Note 4.c.

q) Non-carrent assets classified as held for sale

Under the heading "Non-current assets classilied as held for sale” the Company includes those assets
whose hook valuc is to be recovered through their sale and not through their continued use. This
condition is considered to be met only swhen the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for
immediate sale in its curremt staic, and thal the sale will be within one vear from the date of
classification.
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Non-current assets classified as held for sale are valued at their historical cost, which in a1] cases is
Iess than their fair value less selling expenses. For the measurement of fair value, the investment book
valu¢ plus the amount of the existing unrealised gains of the assets owned by thesc companies,
supported by valuations carried out by independent experts, have been taken into account.

r) Cash flow statements

The following terms with their corresponding explanation are used in the cash flow statements
prcpared using the indirect method:

- Cash flows; inflows and putflows ol cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subjecl Lo an irsignificant risk of changes in value.

- (Operating activitics: the principal revenue-producing activities of the Company, and other
activities that are not investing or financing activities.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term asscts and other investments not
included in cash and cash eguivalents.

- Finaneing activities: activities that resvlt in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
liabilities that are not operating activitics.

5.- INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The detail of the different items included in "Intangible Assets" and of the changes therein in 2017 and
2016 are as follows (in thousands of curos):

Balance at Assignments  Balance at
31/12/2016 Additions  Retirements (Note 6) 31/12/2017
COST
Rights of use 32,176 100 - (1) 32275
Concessions, patents and trademarks 359 315 (71} 255 858
Software applications 115,374 9,648 (63,655) 1,581 63,948
148,909 10,063 (63,726) 1,835 97,081
ACCUMUATED AMORTISATION
Rights of use (2(,799) (1,363) 2 9 (22,151)
Concessions, patents and trademarks (102) (98) 71 (13) (142)
Software applications (8C,6351  (12,163) 63,216 2z (29,580)
(101,536) (13,624) 03,289 (2) (51,873)
Impairment - - - - -
NET BOOK YALUE 47,373 45,208
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Balznce at Assignments Balance at
31/12/2015 Additions Retirements {Notfe 6) 3171272016
COST
Rights of use 32,078 a8 - 32,176
Concessions, patents and trademarks 146 213 - 339
Software applications 14,860 14,305 (2,856) 65 116,374
137,084 14,616 (2,856) 65 148,909
ACCUMUATED AMORTISATION
Rights of use (19,430) (1,369) - (20,799)
Concessions, palents and tradcmarks (74) (28) - (102)
Software applications (71,5935} (10,762) 1,722 {80,633)
(91,099} (12,159) 1,722 (101,536)
Impairment - - - -
NET BOOK VALUE 45,985 47,373

The most significant additions in 2017 were those arising from investments made to develop the

Company's computer applicatious.

The sectton “Usufruct Rights™ recognises the tolal amount agreed by way of payment for the usufruet rights
over the Hotel NH Plaza de Armas.

The derecognitions are mainly represented by withdrawals of software applications which were fully
amortised at year-end and which will be replaced by ncw investments, At the end of 2017 and 2016, the
Company had fully amortised intangible assets still in usc, itemised as follows (in thousands of euros):

‘Thousands of curos
2417 2016
Usage rights, concessions, patents and brands 1,615 1,686
Software applications 10,200 59,485
Total 11,815 61,171
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

The detail of the different ilems of "Intangible Assets" and of the changes therein in 2017 and 2016 are as
follows (in thousands of curos):

Balance
at
Balance 2t Assignments 31/127201
3171272016 Additions Retirements (Note 5) 7
COST
Land and buildings 92,022 477 (327) 21 92,193
Plant and machinery 63,822 329 (2,278) 83 62 A56
Cther plant, fixtures and
furmiture 9,361 254 (3,978) 4,123 9,760
Other hxed assets and
assets ander construction 6,187 2,321 (80) o060 2,362
171,392 3,881 (6,663) (1.839)} 166,771
ACCUMIILATED
AMORTISATION
Buildings {10,394) (1,803} 82 (1) (12,116)
Plant and machingry {29,764) (3,218) 2,006 - (30,976}
Other fixtures, tools,
fumiture and other fixed
acsets (8,774) {(R19) 3,716 7 (5,870)
(48,932) (3,840) 5,804 6 (48,962)
Impairment (370) - 271 - {99)
NET BOOK VALUE 122,090 117,710
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COST
Land and buildings

Flant and machinery

Other plant, fixtures and
furniture

Other fixed assets and assets
under construction

ACCUMULATED
AMORTISATION

Ruildings

Plant and machinery
Cther plant, fixtures and
furniture

Other fixed assets and assets
undear construction

Impairment

NET BOOK VALUE

Balance at Balance at

31/12/2015  Additivns  Retirements  Transfers 31/12/2016
93,900 1,064 (3,448) 2,506 92,022
60,855 3,958 (3,038) 2,047 63,822
8,567 783 (126) 137 9,361
8,416 2,530 (4) {4,755) 6,187
171,738 8,335 (8,616) (65) 171,392
(10,384) {1,740) 1,730 - (10,394)
(25,562) (5.621) 1,419 - (29,764)
(4,740) (671) (25 - (5,286)
(3,421} (71) 4 (3,448)
(44,107) (8,103) 3,278 - (48,932)
(250} {176) 56 - (370)
127,381 122,090

The year’s most significant additions rclate to investments related to renovations of certain hotels, notably
the NH Barcelona Calderén and the NH Macrid Nacional.

Additionally, disposals of tangible and intanzible assels have been made durmg the vear, recording a net
capital gain of 22,887 thousand euros.

At the end of 2017 and 2016, the Company 1ad fully depreciated items of property, plant and equipment

still in use, itemised as follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Plant and machinery 14,514 13,828
Other fixtures, tools, furniture and others 3,459 6,737
Total 18,013 20,565

The headng related to Land and Buildings includes Land corresponding to 52,457 thousand euros {52,647
thousand curos in 2016). The reduction in the amount of Plant and machinery is due to their repositioning.

The Company has taken out insurance policizs to cover the possible risks to which the different elements
of its property, plant and equipment are subject and the claims that may be filed against it for conducting
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its business activilies. It is understood that such policies sufficiently cover the risks te which the Company
is exposed.

At 31 December 2017, there is 104 thousanc euros in commitments for the purchase of fixcd assets.

7. LEASES

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Compary had contracted with lessors for the following minimum lease
payments, based on the leases currently in force, without taking into account the charging of common
expenses, future increases in the CP1 or future contractual lease payment revicws:

Actual value
Thousands of curos 2017 2016
Less than one vear 6,791 6,011
Between two and five vears 21,783 19,114
More than five ycars 9,898 12,039
Taotal 33,472 37,164

The current value of the rental payments has been calculated by applying a discount rate in keeping with
the Company’s weighted average cost of capital and includes the commitments which the Company
estimates will have to be met in the future to guarantee a minimum return from hotels operated under a
management agreement.

The operating lease payments recognised as an expense in the years ended 2017 and 2016 came to 4,591
thonsand euros and 4,521 thousand euros respectively, almost entirely consisting of the hotel lease
payments (see Note 18-c).

The term of the opcrating leases arranged bty the Company ranges from 5 to 15 years. Also, the rental
income from said leases consists of a fixed ammount tied to the CPI index which is reviewed annually.

8.- FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
8.1- Non-current financial assets

The breakdown of this item at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Thousands of
euros
2017 2016
Other collection rights 16,395 | 16,395
Guarantees 1,310 1,237
Others 6 6
Total 17,711 | 17,638

The "Other coellection nghts" heading reflects the claim filed against the insurance company that underwrole
the ten- year construction insurance. The amount claimed corresponds to the repairs made and pending in
a housing development. This clatm was left out of the 2014 sale agreement for Sotogrande, S.A., the
company which, first presented the claim. Lixewise, the accounts receivable reflect the deferred payment
for the sale of 15 business units of another real-estate development which was also exciuded from the
Sotogrande, S.A, sale agreement.

235



9¢C

£18p pIpneu)) (eu)
solvedwos poypneur ()
(£16%F¢) DEF'T1T6T w0
- $Lh sy
ry 09t (L50°€) (£€<°T) $68 %08 ()} YT ‘00 MWBLRSAIIIA [2]0H ewi]) puer) HN 3utfisg
80508 17616 6v0'bL 9FRS £0°TI %66 (o) TUIRUBLLZMquIanm [y 200801 HN|
(6t7°97) SLY L QLE"S 08T (e 1) GLL %001 (4230030 T{ED/PHUPRAFT'S 940 UONBAIRSIY [ETLST} HN
- 980°1<E L6685 (Lp67r) CRPT COLLT %001 {55 JRIAINOH/PUPBIAY VS BURAST SANOT] HN
(#99°8) LIT'6LE SRCRIT £86'01 L9S'E mma,gﬁ Y00 {+) SUTPIOHI/PHPEIN/ V'S “RIS[IOTT UOHISI) 3¢ BUBDLIDIIBOUNE]
- 6SEELD RI0LER $LE1GL ($01°%) EFL 00T %00 L (%) SWPIOH/PLPRIAY V'S edomyg HN
+ 607 00€ 68 1¥ BLY991 96581 L¥R'EET %S (32 ) RIZ[OYOUERPR A/ Y d°S BITI] HN
UOISIANL] 1507 Annbg swap nnb2 soyio| ™ (580 Igug [epdeo areyg | Swpjoyaseys ANLATI Y/ SSSTPPE PAIRISTIRY /AUBauIo,)
SIPIOY4EYS B0 D3]
SOINJ JO SPUBSNOL -~ /107

‘SMO[[0f 5B 51 §1(0Z PUE /1T PUS-TeaA 17 59]BII08SE PLE $IRNUI PI[00uod Aputef ‘satuedmos dnoig) o] ToTrefar Ur uoeuLIOMuL JUBDIITUSIS 1SOUI SN

531810055 PUE SaNNU3 pafonpuod-Apuof ‘soruedwod dnosn  -7'g



'

BJEP POUPRRUN (2)
sauedwos pagipneur ()

SOJUR JO SPUBSNoY], - 910¢

(68T 9%) FSL'0TO'T EE_
£09 512
(Zr'¥ 9pT’9 (£EET) (1eg'L} [056°8 %0$ () P ‘e ey (0K Buys pueln YN Sufio
805 08 180°98 8CH 1L 119°¢ Ze0°TI %64 (xx)3UloUBULYBMQUAXT T, Y-S ‘AoUITL] 1
(SI1'ST) T69°1E [03F°6 1LZ'Z (16¥) loos L %001 (729037 1D/PUIPRIN/T'S “90LI() UOLBAIASIY [RAUD) H
£58°0SE LS PEL (90€°4:) POETI 6S0°LLI %001 {1 RIRPIOH/PUPEI VS epedSy SO|I0H H
(bL1°19) LITELI 8TOCIT (€L17E) LS 1¥] QL0 F01 %001 () SUIPIOH/PUPLIA/ V'S “MIOISIOH] UOISI5) ST BUBOIIQTROUNY')
I6SEELE T2 TES CHEGSL (995°L) CPL DD %001 (e} BUIPIOR/PUPBINY V'S “edOIng mL
EET00E [08E"66€ 19L8FI TLL9] (P8 e %S (e} Bi3RICH/OUZEPEA/ VA’ BIRI| HN
UCGKIADL] 1509 Aunby BWAIL ANNDA IO (5507]) 17014 [BIndeD auvys JUIp[Oyareys ANIANIOV/ SS2UPPE POIMSIBRY AURdILIO)
SIDPIOTARYS [0 [ RETg|




8¢

SOF'FER'T {687'98) [ 00€*L0T (68+) o161} | #SLOTET | (IZED) SI9% D9K'0T6' | 1940,
£09 - I (T L09 (£9) L8T 0y £19410
1% 2 - - - 1T9'F - A £LT BIO[AOH BURD/PI]
‘02 1WatreSemEAL 2101 BUI) pURID HN Juieg
- - 9€ (19€) - {19€) - [9€ SUOH/PUIPEALIGIOVIPIULINUT 2P CI3OUeL] odniny
= - b66'T (66D 2 (F60°E) - $60°E Fup|Of |/PUPR NS VS SOPRINGSY 52101530 A BAUOTEISAT]
- £O8 - (£08) z (€08) - £0R NRULIOC]PLPRIN/ TS BOUIQT BNSUILAJ POOD) 15T,
LES'D (S11sz) - (687) (029°%0) ¢S89 1L - A SHOTE 1Y) TRD/PUPBIAYT'S “OLIC) UOHRAISSY (BAUI) HM
LSROSE - 8¥LEd - (87LCH) LE80SE = Tl £FLOSE KQuppdsomuopamyg, TS Pundsg sa[M01] HN
PRI (PL1719) §3E°6S : (€950TI) AFATA - - LIT6LL ZUIP[OH/PIPRIN/ V'S “HIS[SI0H UONSS) 3(] BUBDSTROUE
65E°ELE - - ‘ ESEELE - - 6SECLo SuiploHeuoRMRgy 'S Rdoiny HN
305°0% - - - - R0S°0R . - 80508 AUDLRUL/AMQUsKAT 'S ‘soutur HN
CET00E - - - - EE1°00€ - 6L PSOVOE EXRIOH/OUSEPRA/ Y 'S BI[RL] HN
QIOTAT/IE | QI0TZI/LE | SESIAN] | SUOPPY | STOTTI/IE | 910TTI/IE | Luowuny | suonppy | S10Z/TH/IE ALY/ §52IPPe PaIASISay /Auedo)
I ke Te SIURRE] 1 uUe[Eg | 1B 90We[es] ™ anuR[Ry
BN UQ1SIA0Ig ity
}{50INa JO SPUESNOY] UL) SMO[[OF SB A ¢107 Ul ,Setuediuo)) dnoar) Ul SJUSUESSAU],, UT SS3ueyd oy [
 LIS'988'T | (E16PE) 0ISZS 11} [ {682798) 0E9'126'1 (L¥) £TL PSLOTE'T |Bjo]
CCh - . - - coh (1) C6E L0Y 3140
\TH'Y = ¢ . - 1Thy - - Fa BRJOH/RUNLD/PIT ‘00 JUSWIENELY [10H BUTYD pueln; HN SWiteg
9TH'S (6¥C97) Wer'n) |51 €L91E . X AL 4 INU]) [IES/PHPEIAY TS 90D UOTIRAISSY [ANTA]) HN
9R0°1SE - - - 9R0°15¢ = 6TC LSRDGE Aneyrdsorypuoreareqy TS eyedsT 5910107 TIN
£SSOLI (#99°8) nIs'es - FLI'TD LIT6LI - - LI1Z'6LT SWPIOH/PHEPEN/ V'S “RISJ3I0] | UOINIL) N BUEIIAWROUIIE ]
6SE'ELG . - - ASE'CLE - - 6SEELE FuipjoH/eU0RaRgs TS ‘edomyg N
305°08 - . 80508 - - 80S 08 SuruunyAINgUWOXNT/ 'S “IOURULY YN
602°00¢ - - - - 60Z'00¢ - 8L £E1°00¢ WIARIOHOURRPTEA S V'S “BIR HM
LIOGTI/TE | LIOZZI/IE SIeSIARY [ SUCTIPPY | QI0ZTI/IE | L10T/TI/IE | SIUQWAINoY | SUODIDPY | SLOTZI/1E AIANIY, SSEIPPE palAsIEey /Aueduio))
IE OUR|EY Je 20UeRY e uod.w—dm Jo Jueeyg IR S0UR[RYH
12N UUIBIAOIL] IS0

}(80.4N3 JO SPUBSTION] UL} SMO[[O] $8 aI® £ [(Z UT , seTuedmoy) dnois) ut SJUSLUISIAT,, I Se3URYo AT,



9.- NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE, LIABILITIES LINKED TO NON-CURRENT
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In accordance with the 9th Regulation on Registration and Valuation of the General Accoumting Plan on
"Non-current assets held for sale” (see Note 4.q), non-strategic assels which, pursuant to the Strategic Plan,

are undergoing divestrment with committed sales plans, were registored.

On 28 Dceember 2016, the Company acquired 50% of the inactive company Capredo Investments Gmbh
for 3,190 thousand euros, of which 3,150 thousand eures is still outstanding (see Note 13.3).

Drring 2017, there were no significant movements,

The significant data in relation to these assets at 31 December 2017 is as follaws:

Thousands of eures
QOther Total
Direct Share Profit equity Shareholdars'

Company shareholding capital (Loss) items Equity Cost
Sotocaribe, S.L. 35,5% 61,082 872 100,421 162,373 42,399
Capredo Investments GmbH 100% 40 320 16,777 17,137 9.066
Tota o 51465

10.- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

"Cash and Cash Equivalents" largely mcludes the Company’s cash position, loans granted and bank
deposits maturing in three months or less. The average interest rate obtained by the Company for its cash
and cash equivalents balances in 2017 and 2016 was a Euribor-tied variable rate. These assets are

recognised at their fair value.

There are no restrictions on how cash may bs used.

As a result of the enactment of Royal Decree 1558/2012 of 15 November, of Article 42 bis of Royal Decrce

1065/2007 of 27 July, approving the General Regulations on tax management, inspection and procedures,
and implementing the common rules of tke procedurss for applying taxes, which establishes certain
reporting obligations with regard to overseas assets and rights, among others, it is disclosed that some
members of the NH Hotel Group S.A. Board of Directors have the right, as representatives or authorised
officials, to dispose of bank accowmts located abroad, which are in the name of Group companies. The
reason certain Board members have the right to dispose of overseas bank accounts is that they are directors

or board members of said subsidiaries.

NH Hotel Group S.A. holds other accounting documents, namely the consolidated annual accounts, from
which sufficient data can be extracted mn relation to the aforementioned accounts.

11.- EQUITY

a} Registered share capital

NH Hotel Group, S.A. share capital at the end of 2017 comprised 350,271,788 fully subscribed and paid
up bearer shuares with a par value of €2 each. All these shares carry identical voting and economic rights
and are traded on the Continuous Market of the Spanish Stock Exchanges.
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According to the latest notifications received by the Company and the notices given to thc National
Securities Market Commission before the erd of every financial year, the shareholders with shareholdings
above 3% at 31 Decemnber 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
HNA Group Co Limited 29.35%* 29.50%
Oceanwood Capital Management LLP 12.06% 11.97%
Hesperia Group 9 27%%* 927%

Although in the CNMV Records it ts recorded that the sharehoiding of Grupo HNA in NH is 29.50% at 31 December 2017, Grupo
HNA reported a decrease to 29.35% in its shareholding in NH to the CNMV on 27 February 2017, In addition, on 3 November 2017,
Grupe HNA nolified the CNMV of the signing of a sales caniract and repurchase agreement throvgh which it would transfer NH
shares representing approximately 1.14% of the share capital. Depending, on whether the sale hag been formalised and the terms and
conditions of it. Grupo HNA's shareholding in NH coild reach 28.20% of the share capital. Finallv, on 19 January 2018, it notified
the CNMYV of the engagement to review its shareholding in NH, including identify potential buyers of its shareholding.

** The shareholding of Grupo Hesperie consists of the direet shureholding held by Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (9.10%) and
Eurcfondo (0.17%).

At year-end 2017 and 2016, thc members of the Board of Directors were the holders or proxies of
sharcholdings representing approximatcly 21.38% and 21.28% of the share capital, respectively.

On 29 Tune 2017, the General Sharcholders' Meeting approved the distribution of a dividend at 5 cents per
outstanding share, charged to 2016 profits. The total amount of dividends paid in 2017 amounted to 17

million euros.

b) Share preminom

The balance of the "Share Premium" account arose as a result of the capital increases carried out by the
Company.

The Consolidated Spanish Public Limited Liability Companies Act expressly permits the use of the share
premium account balance to increase capital in the entities for which it is recognised and does not establish

any specific restrictions as 1o its use.

¢) Legal reserve

Under the Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Campanics Act, the Company must transfer 10% of net
profit for each year to the legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at least 20% of its share
capital. The legal reserve may be used to increasc capital provided the remaining balance does not fall
below 10% of the increased capital amount. Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital,
it can only be used to offset losses, provided that sufficient other reserves are nat available for this purpose.

At 31 December 2317 and 2016, the compary’s legal reserve was not fully constituted.

d) Restricted reserve

Reserves totalling 39,250 thousand euros at 31 December 2017 (39,983 thousand euros at 31 December
2016) could not be distnibuted, as this figure corresponds to own shares.

e) Treasury shares and shareholdings

At the end of the vear, NH Hotel Group, S.A. had 2,416,368 ircasury sharcs on its balance sheet, whose
main composition and movements arc broken down as follows:

» Securities loan linked to the convertible bond issue dated 8 November 2013, On 4 November 2013,
the Spamish National Secunities Market Commission (CNMV) was notified of the loan of
9,000,000 of own shares to the three financial institutions involved in the placement of the
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convertible debentures or debenlures exchangeable for shares of NH Hotel Group S.A. amounting
to 250 million euros. The purpose of this loan was to allow said financial entities to offer the shares
to subscribers to the convertible debentures requesting them (see Note 13).

At 31 Dccember 2017, the financizl entities have returned 7,615,527 of those 9,000,000 shares,
which are thus now held by NH Heotel Gronp, S.A. but which according to the terms of securities
lending, continue to be avaiiable t¢ the financial entities, who can borrow them at any time, until
the convettible debentures are canczlled or amortised.

In August 2016, the Company purchased 600,000 treasury shares.

In in first half of 2017, the first cycle of the long-term incentive plan was settled corresponding to
the year ended 31 December 2016. This plan was settled in March, April and July with the delivery

of 183.632 shares valued at 733 theusand euros on the settlement date.

12.- PROVISION FOR CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES

The detail of “Provisions for Contingencies and Charges” as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as

follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Provisions for contingencies and extraordinary costs:
Provision for pensions and similar obligaiions 306 352
Provision for liabilities 11,037 12,227
Provision [or oncrous conlrac:s - 9
11,343 12,588
Provisions for contingeneics and curren expenses:
Provision for onerous contracts - 11
Provision for restructuring 5,800 6,800
- 5,800 6,611

Provision for [iabilities

In 2017. the long-term "Provision for liabilities" account includes provisions for litigation and risks which
the Company considers probable. No decision on these claims is expected in the short term.

The amount recognised over the short term corresponds to restructuring and passible termination benefits

for the dissolution of a service contract which is under discussion.

13. CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT PAYABLES

13.1 Debt instruments and Debts with credit institations

The balances of the “Bonds and other negotiable securities” and “Debts with credit institutions™ items at

31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
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Thousands of euros
2017 20156
Long-term | Short-term | Long-term | Short-term
Convertible bonds - 244,606 238,724 -
Guaranteed senior bonds maturing in 2019 - - 250,000 -
Guaranteed senior bands maturing in 2023 400,000 - 285,000 -

i Borrowing costs - 5,125 - 6,248
Atrangement ¢xpenscs {12,285) {3,536) (10,087) (4,015)
Debt instruments and other marketable securitics 387,715 246,195 763,637 2,233
Unsecured loans - - - 6,200
Subordinated loan 40,000 - 490,000 -
Credit lines - 2,008 - 7,559
Arrangement expenses (2,5623) (799) (2,434) (1,015)

| Borrowing costs - 140 - 151

' Debts with credit institntions 37,437 1,349 37,566 12,895

- Total 425,152 247544 | 801,203 15,128

The current fair value of the convertible bonds, bearing in mind the implicit cost until maturity of bonds
issued during 2017, would mean such bonds amoimting to 242 million euros (224 million euros in 2016).
With regard to [inancial liabilities tied to a variable interest rate, because of their variable configuration,
their fair vaiue does not differ from ther book value.

Convertible bonds

On 31 October 2013, the Company placed convertible bonds among institutional investors amounting to
250,000 thousand curos, with the following features:

Amount of the issuc £250,000,000
Nominal value of the hond €100,000
Maturity 5
Rank of debt Unguaranteed senior
Issue price 100%
Coupon 4%
Exchange price 4.919 euros
Conversion premium 30%
Redemption price 100%
Maximum number of shares to issue 50,823,338

Under ccriain circumostances, at the request of the bondholder or Company, this instrument may be
redecmed or converted early.

This transaction is considered an instrument comprising liabilities and equity, with the equity at the time of
issuance worth 27,230 thousand euros.

As is commonplace for this type of issue, and in order te enhance the liquidity of the instrument on the

secondary market, NH Hotel Group, S.A. signed a security loan agreement with the placing entities for up
to 9,000,000 trcasury shares. This loan bears interest at 0.5% and was drawn to the extent of 1,384,473

sharcs at 31 December 2017 (see Note 11).

As the maturity of the convertible bonds will occur on 31 October 2018, the Group has reclassified all debt
associated with the "Bonds and other convertisle securities” item of current liabilities at 31 December 2017,

In this regard, the dircctors of the Company consider there being no doubt as to the Company being able to
meet the payment of the debt at matunity both due to the expectation of generating positive cash flows
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during the year and the fact that, as indicatec in the section “guaranteed syndicated credit line" of this Nute,
the Company has a credit line of 250 million curos and a final maturity on 29 September 2021 which, at 31
December 2017, 18 available mn fizll.

Secured senior honds maturing ix 2019

On 30 October 2013, the Company placed guaranteed convertible senior bonds for a nominal value of
250,000 thousand eures, maturing in 2019. The nominal yearly interest rate for said issuance of notes is
6.875%. At 31 December 2017, these bonds are fully cancelled through early amortisation or refinancing
(see section "Refinancing 2017").

Sccured scnior bonds maturing in 2023

On 23 September 2016, the Company placed guaranteed convertible senior bonds for a nominal value of
285,000 thousand euros, maturmg in 2023, The nominal yearly interest rate for said issuance of notes is
3.75%. On 4 April 2017, the Company issusd an extension of guaranfeed senior bonds maturing in 2023
for a nominal amount of 115,000 thousand euros with an implicit cost until maturity of 3.17%. The
outstanding nominal amount at 31 December 2017 is 400,000 thousand euros (see section “Refinancing

20177).

Refinancing 2017

As indicaled in the section "Guaranteed senior notes maluring in 2019, at the bepinning of the year the
Group owed 250,000 thousand of bonds to their holders which have been [ully refinanced or amertised in
full throughout 2017

In this regard, in April 2017, the Company issued an extension of guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2023
for a nominal amount of 113,000 thousand euros with an implicit cost until maturity of 3.17%. This
extension led to the conversion of 121,505 thousand euros in guarantced senior nofes maturing in 2019 with
an annual nominal intcrest of 6.875%, after having the aforemcntioned 121,505 thousand euros acquired
by the Deutsche Bank branch in lLondon ¢n this date, the Company reached the following milcstones
corresponding to the accrued and unpaid coupon and preminm for the repurchase otfer.

o Conversion of the nominal amount of 121,505 thousand euros of guaranteed senior note maturing in
2019 mto a new one of 115,000 thousanc eures with the same conditions as the guaranteed senior notes
maturing in 2023,

*  Payment of unpaid accrued interest and ather interest: 3,225 thousand enros

e Payment of the amount of the repurchasz premium: 9,599 thousand euros

In relation to the conversion of the notes, the Directors of the Company consider that all the qualitative and
quantitative criteria have been met (mainly, that the current value of the cash flows discounted under the
new terms, including any commission paid net of any commission received, and discounting using the
original effective interest rate, differs by less than 10% from the discounted present value of the cash flows
which still remained of the syndicated nozes maturing in 2019), for their accounting recognition, in
accordance to their interpretation of the standard, that the new noles maturing in 2023 and amount of 115
million euros, do not differ significantly rom those cancelled [or the amount of 121,505 thousand suros
maturing in 2019. Therelore, the new notes maturing in 2023 are reduced by the arrangement expenses
pending of the redeemed obhigations maturicg in 2023, as well as the new arrangement expenses incurred
which could be registered as such.

In May 2017, the Company voluntarily amortised, by paying the applicable premium, 28,495 thousand
euros of the guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2019 with an annual nominal interest rate of 6.875%. The
payments made for the repurchase were broken down as follows:

» Nominal paid t advance: 28,495 thousand euros

Unpaid accrued interest and other mterest: 920 thousand euros
s  Amount of the repurchase premium: 2,058 thousand euteos
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Finally, in November 2017, the Company valuntarily amartised, by paying the applicable premium to the
remaining 100,000 thousand curos of the gusranteed senior notes maturing in 2019 with an annual nominal
interest rate of 6.875%. The payments made for the repurchase arc braken down as follows:

* Nominal paid in advance: 100,000 thousand eurcs
» [Inpaid accrued interest and other interest: 286 thousand euros
e«  Amount of the repurchase premium: 3,438 thousand euros

As a result of the aforementioned three amcrtisations, the guaranteed senlor notes maturing in 2019 have
been fully refinanced or canceiled early in full.

Secured credit line

On 22 September 2016, the Company and NH Finance, S.A. entered into a revolving business credit with
credit institutians amounting to 250,000 thousand eucos ("syndicated credit line”) with a maturity of three
years, extendable ta five years at the time oi the refinancing of the guaranteed “senior" notes maturing in
2019. As a consequence of the refinancing and early payments of the guaranteed senior noles maturing in
2019 which took place in 2017, the maturity date of said financing has been extended to 29 September
2021. At 31 December 2017, this financing “vas not available in full.

Obligations required in the guaranteed senior note indentures maturing in 2023 ard in the syndicated
eredit line

The senior notes maturing in 2023 and the syndicaied credit line require the [ulfilment of a series of
obligations and limitations of cssentially homogencous conlent as regards the assumption of additional
borrowing or provision of guarantecs in favour of third partics, the granting of real guarantees on assets,
the sale ol assets, investments that are permitted, restricted payments (including the distribution of
dividends to sharcholders), tramsactions between related parties, corporatc transactions and disclosure
obligations. These obligations are detailed in the issue prospectus for the aforementioned notes, as well as
I the credit agreement of the syndicated credit line. In addition, the syndicated credit lice requires
compliance with financial ratios; in particular (i) an interest coverage ratio of > 2.00x, (ii) a debt coverage
ratio of < 5.50x and (ii1) 4 Loan to Value ("LTV") ratio of < 55% up to the matutity or refinancing date of
the guaranteed senior notes matiring in 2019, e fact which occurred daring 2017. On the date of cxpiry or
refinancing of these debentures, the loan-to-value ratio must be < 70%, and after that date, the applicable
loan-to-value ratio will depend on the indebtedness of NH at the time, as indicated below:

. Debt-to-Income ratio > 4.00x;: LTV ratio = 70%
- Debt-to-incame ratio < 4.00x: LTV ratio = §5%
- Debt-to-income ratio < 3.530x; L'V ratio = 100%

As a result of the early veluntary amartisation of all guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2019, the LTV at
31 December 2017 is generally <70%. Sutsequently, it will be reviewed according to the ratio of net

indebtedness.

At 31 December 2017 these ratios were completely adhered to.

Package of guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2023 and syndicated credit line

The guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2023 and syndicated credit line (undrawn at 31 December 2017)
share the following guarantees: (i) pledge of saares: 100% of the share capital of (A) Diegem, {(B) Immo
Hotel BCC NV, (C) Immo Hotel Belfort NV, (I3} Immo Hotel Brugge NV, (E) Immo Hotel Dicgem NV,
(F) Immo Hotel Gent NV, (G) Immo Hotel GP NV, (H) Immo Hotel Mechelen NV, (1) Immo Hotel
Stephanie NV, (J) Onroerend Goed Beheer Maatschappij Van Alphenstraat Zandvoort, B.V. and (K} NH
[talia, S.p.A. (ii) first-tier mortgage guarantee on the following hotels located in the Netherlands: NH
Conference Centre Koningshof, owned by Koningshof, B.V.; NH Conference Centre LeeuweNHaorst,
owned by LeeuweNHaorst Congres Center, B.V.; NH Schiphol Airport, owned by Onroetend Goed Beheer
Maatschappij Kruisweg Hoofddorp, B.V.. NH Zoetermeer, owned by Onroerend Goed Bcheer
Maatschappij Danny Kayelaan Zoetermeer, B.V.; NH Conference Centre SparreNHarst, owned by
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SparreNHorst, B.Y.; NH Best, owned by Onroerend Goed Beheor Maatschappij Maas Best, B.V.; NH
Capelle, owned by Onroerend Goed Behcer Maatschappij Capelle aan den IJssel, B.V ; NII Geldrop, owned
by Onroerend (Goed Beheer Maatschappij Bogardeind Geldrop, B.V.; NH Marquette, owned by Qnroerend
Goed Beheer Maatschappij Marquette Heemskerk, B.V.; and NH Naarden, owned by Omroerend Goed
Beheer Maatschappij [Jsselmeerweg Naardsn, B.V. and the joint guarantee on first demand of the main

operating companies in the group whelly owned by the Parent Company.

Limitation on the distribution of Dividends

The gnaranteed senior notes maturing in 2023 and the syndicated credirt line described above cantain clauses
limiting the distribution of dividends.

In the case of the senior notes maturing in 2023, the distribution of dividends is generally permiticd
provided that (4} the interest coverage ratio is > 2.0x and (b) the sum of restricted pavments (including
dividends #nd repayment of subordinated debt) made since 8 November 2013 is less than the sum of,
amongst other items, (I) 50% of NH's consolidated net income {(even though in the calculation of net
income,100% of consolidated net losses mus: be deducted) from 1 July 2013 to the date of the last quarterly
accounts available (this is what is known as the CNI Builder) and, (ii) 100% of the net contributions to
NH’s capital from 8 November 2013.

Additionally, as an alternative and without having to be in compliance with the previous condition:

(i} in the case of bonds maturing in 2023, WH may distribute dividends provided that the leverage ratio
(gross debt/FRITDA) does not cxceed 4.5x.

Finally, and also altematively and without having to be concurrent with the previous ones, the notes
maturing in 2023 establish a franchise to be able to make restricted payments (including dividends) without
needing to comply with any speeifie requirement, for a total aggregate amount of 25,000,000 euros as of

November 2013.

[n the case of the syndicated credit line, the distribution of a percentage of the NH Group’s consolidated
net profit from the previous year is allowed, provided that there has been no breach of the financing
agreement and the Net Financial Debt (through the Dividend pavment) / EBITDA Ratio is less than 4.0x,

The maximum percentage of the consalidated net profit to be distributed will depend on the Debt Ratio.
Net Financial (through the payment of the Dividend) / EBITDA according to the following breakdown:

- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA < 4.0x: Percentage of consolidated net profit: 75%
- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA < 3.5%: Percentage of consolidated net profit: 100%
-~ Net Fimancial Debt / EBITDA < 3.0x: Percentage of consolidated net profit: unlimited

Credit lines

The available balance on credit lines at 31 December 2017 was 2,008 thousand euros with an available Kimit
of 48,345 thousand euros.

Subordinated loan

A loan amounting to 40,000 thousand euros fully drawn at 3] December 2017 and with a single maturity
and repayment in 2037, are included in this item. The interest rate of these loans is the 3-month Euribor
plus a differential.

Detail of current and non-current payables

The detail, by maturity, of the items includec under “Non-Current and Current Payables™ is as follows (in
thousands of euros):
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Maturi

Instrument Lirmt Availahle | Disposed | 2017 | 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 | Remaindcr
Subordinated lpans 40,000 - 40,000 { - - - - - - 40,000
Vuriuble inteTest 40,000 - 40,000 - - - - - - 40,000
Convertible bands 250,000 - 250,000 - 250,000 - - - . -
Fixed ratc 250,000 - 250,000 | - | 230,000 - = : - -
Guaranteed senior noteg mat, in 2023 400,000 - 400,000 | - - - - - - 401,000
Fixed rate 400,000 - 400,000 y - - - - - 400,000
Secured credit line 250,000 250,000 - - - - = - = -
Variablc intcrest 250,000 250,000 . . . - - - - -
Credit lines 50,333 48,345 2,008 - 2,008 - - - - i,
Variable interest 50,353 48,345 2,008 - 2,008 - - - - -
SURTOTAL 290353 | 298345 692,009 | - | 252,008 - - - - 440,000
Arrangement expenses (19,183) - (19,i83) - (4,336) | (3.091) | (3,233)| (3,187} | (2,755) (2,582)
Implicit derivative converithle bonds (5,394) - (5,394) - (5.334) - - - - -
Borrowing costs 3,263 - 5265| - 5,265 - - - - -
Borrowing at 31/12/2017 STLOL | 298345 | 472696 | - [ 247544 | (3,090 | (3233)| (3,487 | (2755 437418
Burrowing at 31/12/2016 1,102,453 | 281,97 | Q16,331 | 15128 | 233,638 | 246,487 (884) | {926} (463) | 323351

13.2 Derivative financial instruments

The Company's financial risk management is centralised in the Corporate Finance Division, which has
assigned said management to one of the company's subsidiaries, NH Finance S.A,

The details of the derivative financial instrurrents included an the balance sheet under “Short-term financial

investments™ at 31 December 2017 and 201€ are as follows:

Thousands of euros

Item 2017 2016
Exchange rate derivatives - 1,318
Taotal - 1,918

During 2017, the exchange rate insurance wzs liquidated.

13.3 Other non-current financial liabilities

The balance of "(Other Non-Current Financial Liabilities” at the end of 2017 and 2016 is zs follows

(in thousands of euros):

2017 2016
Acquisition of Capredo Investment GmbH (Note 9) 3,150 3,150
Others 224 65%
Total 3,374 3,809
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13.4. Information on the nature of financial instruments and their level of risk

The Group financial risk management is centralised at the Corporate Finance Division. This Division has
put the necessary measures mn place {0 control exposure to changes m interest and exchange rates on the
basis of the Group’s structure and financial position, as well as credit and liquidity risks. If necessary,
hedges are made on a case-bv-case basis. The main financial risks faced by the Group’s policies are

described below:

Credit risk

The Company’s main financial assets include cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) and trade and other
receivables. In general, the Company holds its cash and cash equivalents in institutions with a high level of
creditworthiness and part of its trade and cther receivables are endorsed by guarantees, guarantors and
advance payments by tour operatora.

The Company does not have a signilicant concentration of credit risk exposurce to third parties, both due to
the diversification of its financial investmerts and to the distribution of trade risks with short vollection

periods among a large number of customers.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s financial assets and liabilit'es are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, and this may
have an adverse effect on its results and cash flow. in order to mitigate this risk, the Company has
established policies and has refinanced its debt at fixed interest rates through the issuance of convertible
bonds and guaranteed convertible senior bonds. At 31 December 2017, approximately 94% of the gross

borrowings was tied to fixed interest rates.

Aside from the impact any changes in interest rates could have on financial assets and liabilitics which
comprise the net cash position, changes couid arise in the valuation of the financial instruments arranged
by the Company. The effects of changes in the interest rates on efficient derivatives are booked against
equity, while the effects on inefficient derivetives are booked in the income statement. T'he Company has
chosen to exclude the temporary value of designating hedges in order 10 improve their efficiency.

Liguidity risk

Fxposure to adverse situations in debt or capital markets could hinder or prevent the Group from meeting
the financial needs required for its operations end for implementing its Strategic Plan.

Management of this risk is focused on thoroughly moritoring the maturily schedule of the Group’s financial
debt, as well as on proactive management and maintaining credit lines that allow forecast cash needs to be

met.
The Company’s liquidity position in 2017 is based on the following points:

— The Company had cash and cash equivelents amounting to 493 thousand euros at 31
December 2017 (see Note 10).

— Available undrawn credit tacilities amounting to 48,345 thousand curos at 31 December
2017. Plus the secured long-tern syndicated credit line for 250,000 thousand euros which
was undrawn at 31 December 2017 (see Note 13.1).

- The campany’s capacity to increase its financial horrowing; given that it has non-
collateralised assets in the companies is majority owns and meets the financial ratios required

by the financing agreements.

J astly, the Company makes cash position forecasts on a systematic basis for each business unit and
geographical area in order to assess their neecs. This liquidity policy followed by the Company ensures that
payment undertakings are fulfilled without having to request funds under onerous conditions and allows its
liquidity positicn to be monitored on a contiruous basis.
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Exchange rate risk

The Company is exposed to exchange rate rluctuations that may aifect its sales, results, equity and cash
flows, arising largely from:

- Investments in [orcign counlrics (essentially Mexico, Argentina, Colombiga, Chile, Ecuadar,
the Dominican Republic, Panama and the United States).

- Transactions made by Group companies operating in countries whose currency is other than
the euro (essentially Mexico, Argentina, Celombia, Chile, Ecuador, the Dominican Republic,

Venezuels and the United States).

The NH Group endeavours to align its borrcwings with the cash flows in the different currencies.

14.- PUBLIC AUTHORITIES AND TAX MATTERS

NII Hotel Group, S.A. and the companies vith tax domicile in Spain in which it held a direct or indirect
stake of at least 75% during the 2017 tax period pay Corporate Income Tax subject to the tax conselidation
scheme governed by Title VIL, Chapter VI of Law 27/2014 of 27 November on Corporate Income Tax.

The companies belonging to the tax group have signed an agreement to share the tax burden. Hence, the
Parent Company settles any credis and debis which anise with subsichary compames due to the negative
and positive 1ax bases these conitrbute (o the tax group.

The NH Hotel Group, S_A. tax group comprsed the following companies in 2017;

NH Hotel Group, S.A. NH Europa, S.L.
Latinoamericana de Gestién Hotelerz, S.L. Atardecer Caribefio, S.L.

NH Central Reservation Office, 8.L. Hoteles Hesperia, S.A.

NH Hoteles Espafia, S.A. Nuevos Espacios Hoteleros, S.A.
NH Hotel Ciutat De Reus, S.A. Coperama Holding, S.L.

Gran Circulo de Madrid, S.A. Coperama Spain, S.L.

NH I.ogroiio S.A. NH J.as Palmas, S.A.
Ibermterbrokers, S.L. NH Lagasca, S.A.

in previous vears the Group carmed out resiructuring operations in which 1t opted for the special scheme
for business reorganisation provided in the Corporate Tax Law. The legally established items are included

in the annual report of the corresponding vear.
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Balances with Public Authorities

The detall of "Balances with Public Authoriies” 1s as follows:

Tux receivables
Thousands of
euros
2017 2016

Non-current receivables

Deferred tax assets 59,966 | 108,961
Tuotal 990,066 | 108,961
Current receivables

VAT refundable 1,168 1,719

Corporate income tax refundable 1,518 856

Others 1,858 2,039
Total 4,545 4,654

Tax payables
Thousands of
EUr0s
2017 2016

Non-current payables

Deferred tax liabilitics 6,076 | 6,247
Total 076 | 6,247
Current payables

Tax withholdings payatle 513 695

Social Security payable 432 404

Others 61 -
Total 1,006 { 1,099

Reconciliation of the accounting profit to the taxable income

Corporate [ncome tax is calculated on the basis of accounting profit or loss determined by application of
the generally accepted accounting principles, and applying the relevant adjustments in accordance with the
rules set cut in Law 27/2014 on Corporate Income Tax. Therefore, the accounting profit may not necessarily
coincide with the taxable income for Corporation Tax purposes.

The reconciliation of the accounting profit to the Corporate Income Tax to pay or refund for the years 2017
and 2016 is as follows (in thousands of curos):
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Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Accounting profil before tax 30,948 135,566
Adjustments to accounting profit (loss):
Due to permanent differences (21,052) | (111,385)
Due to temporary differences 587 1,157
Individual taxable base 10,483 25,338
Bases provided by the consolidated companies 58,732 (6,474)
Previous taxable base 69,215 18.864
Carryforwards for negative tax bases before consolidation (2,873) (2,424)
Carryforwards for consolidated negative lax bases (14,429) (2,292)
Tax hase of the tax group 51,911 14,148
Tax liability (12,978) (3,537)
Deductions for consolidated double taxation 6,489 1,768
Non-activated deductions used in the consolidate year 1,622 442
Withholdings and payment by instalments 6,281 2,124
Current taxes to be refunded 1,414 797
Previous years’ taxes to be refunded - 29
Total taxes to be refunded 1,414 896

The permanent differences relate mainly to the removal of provisions in the accounting portfolio and the
adjustment for non-deductible financial loss calculated in accordance with article 16 of Law 27/20[4 of 27
November on Corporate Income Tax, and to the reversal of impairments of shares which were tax-
deductible in tax periods before 2013 and which as from 1 January 2016 are no longer tax deductible, and
therefore must be included in corporate inceme tax for a minimum annwal amount in a lincar manner for
five years. Accordingly, the Tax Group heg incorporated approximately 31 million curos into the fax
assessments of Spanish compeanies atfected in 2017. 3.6 million eures of this amount corresponds to the

Company. It also includes other permanent differences rclated (o non tax-deductible financial expenses.

The temporary differences relate mainly to provisions for accounting purposes not considered a tax expense
and with the recovery of 30% of the amortisation that was not deductible in 2013 and 2014 calculated in
accordance with Article 7 of Law 16/2014, introducing various tax and administtative measures aimed al

consolidating public finances and driving economic activity.

Reconciliation of accounting profit and Corporation Tax expense

The reconciliation of accounting profit and Cotrporation Tax expense 15 as follows:

|

2017 2016
Accounting profit before tax 30,948 135,566
Permanent differences (21,052) |  (111,385)
Adjusted tax base - 9.896 24,181
Rate at 25% (2,474) (6,044)
Non-activated deductions applied in the year 186 442
Cancellation of negative tax bases by asset disposals (8,701)
f Capitalisation of negative tax hases 1,377
Activation of deductions - 864
Others (438) (540)
Total tax expense recognised in the income statement (2,776) {6,602)
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The break down of Corporation Tax expensz for 2017 :and 2016 is as follows:

Thousands of eurcs

2017 2016
Current tax (2,621) (6,334)
Non-activated deductions applied ir the ycar 186 442
Deferred tax 147 (170)
Dthers {(488) (540)
Total Corporation Tax expense (2,776) (6,602)

Deferred tax asscts

'I'he negative tax bases and the deductions vhich reduce deferred tax assets correspond te those ofTsct by
the Company, with the remainder within ths reconciliation of the accounting profit and taxahle tax base
corresponding to other companies of the tax Group.

The changes in Deferred tax assets in 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Thousands of euros
Deferred tax assefy 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year 108,901 | 118,639
Assct disposals due to changes in scope - (8,701)
Tax credit offsets (3,200) (6,695)
Capitalisation of tax losses - 7,377
Appiication of capitaliscd deductions (5,529) (2,346)
Activation of deductions - 864
Temporary differences (152) 118
{Other movements (108) {293)
i Balance at end of year: 33,966 | 108,961
Thousands of euros
Detail of the balance on deferred tax nssets 2017 2016
Negative tax bases 86,673 89,879
Deduclions 4,257 9,786
Cthers 2,036 9,296
Balance at end of year: 99,966 | 108,961

‘The cancellation of assets amounting to 3,206 thousand euros is due to the cancellation of tax losscs to
offset the positive tax bases generated by the Company in 2017. Additionally, the cancellation af deductions
has been made for 5,529 thousand euros as & result of their use by the Company to atIset the paositive rate

in 2017.

The balance of deferred tax assets relates mainly to tax credit carry forwards on losses In previous years,
deductions to avoid double taxation, temporary differences generated by the amortisation deducfible limit

and various provisicns.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had assets resulting from tax losses and deductions amounting to 90,930
thousand curos (89,665 thousand eurvs in 2016). Additivnally, NH Las Palmas, S.A., a company within the
Tax group, has a tax loss asset of 354 thousand ewros. At 31 December 2017, the tax credit recovery plan
that supports the recognition of these tax credits had been updated. Given that the results of the tax credit
recovery plan arc satisfactory, the Company's Directors have decided to maintain the tax crediis recognised
in the balance sheet.
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At31 December 2017, the Consolidated Tax Group had the following negalive tax bases pending offsetting:

Financial year Amount
2008 7.836
2009 60,384
2010 17,256
2011 24.577
2012 130,017
2013 11,592
2014 80,125
2015 14,905
Total 346,692

At 31 December 2017 the Tax Group, whose parent company is NH Hotel Group, S.A., had tax credits of
119,136 thousand euros which had not been recorded in the accompanying balance sheet because the
Darectors considered they did not meet accountmg standard requirements. These assets are grouped as

follows:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016

Finance costs and negative tax bases
Non-deductible finance costs by the Tax Greup 260,852 | 223,095
Negalive tax bases generaied by the Spanish entities before inclusion in the Tax
Group 103,572 | 106,447
Total base 364,424 | 329,542
Total rate 91,106 | 82,386
Deductions 28,030 28,637
Total non-activated tax credits - B 119,136 111,992

The Company did not capitalise the non-deductible finance costs for Spanish corporation tax purposes
because they exceed 30% of the profit from the tax group's operations calculated in accordance with Article
16 of Law 27/2014 of 27 November on Carporate [ncome Tax, due 1o nol having the required degree of
certainty that sulficient profit will be gencraled from operations over the next ten vears to offset said result
pursuant to the aforementioned article. The amount positively adjusted in the Company's individnal tax
basc of the cxecss financial burden, as it is considered non-deductible, is 335,726 thousand euros in 2017

(37,200 thousand curos in 2016). There is ne deadline for offsetting non-deductible finance costs.

Deferred tax liabilities

The movements in deferred tax liabilitics during 2017 arc as follows:

Thousands of
euros
Deferred tax liabilities 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of vear: 6,247 | 6,419
Deferral on reinvestment (171) | (172}
Balance af end of year: 6,076 6,247
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Years open for review and tax audits

The years open for review for the Consolidation Tax Group are as follows:

Tax luss
Tax carryforwards
Corporation 2014 - 2016
VAT 2015 102017
IRPF {personal income tax) 2015 to 2017
Non-resident [ncome Tax 2015 t0 2017

[n relation to the years open to audit by the Tax Agency, contingent liabilities not susceptible to objective
quantification may exist but, in the opinion of the Directors, they are not material.

Deductions applied by the consolidated tax group of the Parent Company

At 31 December 2017, the Tax Group held the following tax credits carryforward (in thousands of euros):

Ycar of origin Deduction pending application Amount
2004 10 2011 Defiucrion to encourage certain activities (not 28,030
activated)
2009 to 2015 Deduction to avoid double taxation {activated) 3,528
2013 to 2014 Others (activated) 729
| 32,287

Similarly, the consolidated tax group availed itseif in prior years of the “Deferral for reinvestment of
extraordinary prafit.” The csscntial characteristics of this reinvestment are as follows {in (housands of
BUTDS):

Amount offset
Revenue
Yearof . subjectto Amount Last year of
origin ‘ deferral ~ Prior years 2016 pending deferral
1999 75,145 52,802 682 21,661 2049

‘This income was reinvested in the acquisiticn of buildings.

15.- INFORMATION ON AVERAGE PERIOD FOR PAYMENT TO SUPPLIERS

Below is the information required by Additional Provision Three of Law 1572010 of 5 July (modified
through Provision two of Law 31/2014 of 3 December) according to the 1CAC Resoition of 29 January
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2016 on the information to be incorporated in the record of annual financial statements relating to the

average period for payment to suppliers in commercial fransactions.

2017 2016
Days Days
Average period for payment fo sappliers 53 77
Ratio of paid transactions 58 81
Ratio of transactions pending payment 9 33
Thousands of Thousands of
euros eUros
Total payments made 06,493 99,847
Tatal payments pending 9,250 9,781

in accordance with the ICAC Resolution, for the calculation of the average period for payment to suppliers,
the commercial transactions corresponding to the delivery of goods or provision or services rendered from
the date of the entry into force of Law 31/2014, of 3 December have been taken into account,

Suppliers, for the exclusive purpose of giving the information pricr to this Resolition, are considered as
trade creditors for debts with. suppliers of goods or services, mcluded in the items “Suppliers™ and “Sundry
Creditors” 1n curent liabilities on the attached fmancial balance sheet at 31 December 2017.

The average peried for payment fo suppliers has been calculated, as stated in the Resolution of 29 January
2017, of the Institute of Accounting and Auditing, using the weighted average of the two ratios explained

below:

- Ratio of paid transactions: average payment period of transactions paid in 2017 weighted by the
amount of each transaction.

Ratio of transactions pending payment: average period between the invoice date and the end of
the year weighted by the amount of each transaction.

16.- THIRD-PARTY GUARANTEES AND CLAIMS IN PROCESS

At 31 December 2017, the Company bhad a total ot 8,662 thousand enros in econemic or financial bank
guarantees jssued by various banks to guarariee leasing contract obligations and others related to the usual
operations of NH in various countries. Therzfore, their execution would be linked to a failure by NH to

comply with those confractual obligations.

At 31 December 2017, the Company had taken out insurance policies to cover risks arising from damage
to material goods, loss of prefits and third-party liability. The capital insured sufficiently covers the assets
and risks mentioned above.

Commitments to third parties

- The Company currently acts as co-guarantor for a syndicated loan granted by two banks to the
associate Sotocaribe, S.L. which at 31 December 2017 had an outstanding principal of 18,215
thousand euros (equivalent to 22,685 thousand dollars at 31 December 2017) and final maturity
on 31 December 2020.

- DUnder the agrecments reached belween Grupa NH and HNA Group regarding the joint venture,
a right of "Tag-along" is recagniscd, in the scnse that if one of the parthers receives a takeover
bid by a third party for 100% of the shares in the company, the other partmer has the oplien to
exercise their right of first refusal or may commuunicate s irrevacable offer to sell the shares
it holds the aforementioned joint venture, and under the conditions of sale supplied by the third
party; if the third party does not accept the offer of the other partner to sell the rest ol the shares
in the company, the other partner is not allowed vo sell its shares to the third party.

44



~  Within the framework of new development projects in the normal course of business, in which
the Company's subsidiaries act as lessees or operators, the Company gives personal guarantees
in favour of third parties to secure its contractual obligations, often issue promissory notes in
payment of said obligations anc agrees penalty clauses in case of breach of contract.

-  Within the framework of the (rroup’s finaneing, personal and real guarantees have been granted
to fulfil the obligations guaranteed under the financing agreements (see Note 13).

Within the framework of the sale of a hotel, NH as a seller agreed to undertake the extension
of the aforementioned hotel, anc agreed with the buyer a put option in favour of the buyer, NH
being obliged to accept the exercise of that option provided that certain conditions are met and
for a price agreed between both parties.

Claims in progress

The Company's main contingent assets and liabilities at the date of drafting these consolidaled
financial statements were as follows:

— The Company has appearcd in the insolvency proceedings of Viajes Marsans, S.A. and Tiempo
Libre, S.A., from the unsettled cstate of Gonzalo Pascual Arias and Gerardo Diaz Ferran, and
in the voluntary insolvency procecdings against Maria Angeles de la Riva Zorrilla, in order to
claim outstanding amounts. The Group alse appears in the voluntary bankruptcy proceedings
of Transhotel and QOrizonia as well as in other proceedings both naticnally and intcrnationally,
and provisions the credit balances in the cansolidation annual accounis [or the amoumnts
considered unrecoverable.

— The owner of a property has filed a suit demanding compliance with certain contractual
obligations. Following notification of the dismissal of the appeal, an appeal for review due to
breach of procedure and an appeal in cassation were lodged, which have still not been resolved.

- Onthe occasicn of the agreemerts reached in 2014 for the sale of the shares held by NH Hotel
Group, S.A in the company Sotogrande, S.A., Grupo NH agreed to subrogate to the position
of Sotogrande, S.A. for certain claims assuming all rights and obligations relating thereto, and
are summarised as follows:

«  Plaintiff in the proceedings against construction agents for construction defects in
twenty-five homes and contractual liability, as well as a claim against the insurer.

o Defendant in the claim process for contractual breaches by a property developer.

« The Company may be subject to a claim for amounts derived from an eventual
administrative claim.

It filed an arbitration claim requesting the validity of the declaration of resolution Lo sell
practised at fifteen premiscs in San Roque, the deeisian on which was in favour of the
Company's interests. To the contrary, it filed for annulment of the award, which has been

dismissed. Cutrently, the debtor company has entered bankruptey having requested the right
ta separate the premises of the husiness premises from the whole from the company which is

currently in process,

- A Company sharecholder has requested that certain resolutions adopted at the General
Shareholders' Meeting be annulied; this has been dismissed in the first instance and is being

appealed.

— There are amounts related to pcssible compensation for the termination of a certain service
contract, which are under discussion and whose maximum amounts have been fully

provisioned.
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The Company's directors consider that the kypothetical loss incurred as a result of such actions would not

have a material effect on equity.

17.- BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED I'ARTIES

17.1.-

The detail of "Balances With Related Parties” in 2017 and 2016 is as follows {in thousands of euros):

2017

Balances with related parties

Other Group | Other related
companies parnes
Long-term investments: 35,912
Loans to companies 55,912
Short-term investmernis: 680,804 7,382
Loans to companies 6&{,804 7,382
Non-current payables (279,972}
Current payables (289,496)
Other Group | Other related
conpanics parties
Long-term investments: 55,912 -
Loans to companies 55,912 -
Short-term investments: 508,873 5,055
Loans to companies 508,873 5,955
Non-current payables (48,079) -
Current payahles (241,45%) -

Long-term investments

“Loans to Companies™ lacludes the following loans graated to the following Group companies:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Participating loans
NH Hoteles Espafia, S.A. 52,965 52,069
NH Central Reservation Office, S.L. 2,943 2,943
Total 55,912 55,912

The most relevant characteristics of the participating loans are as follows:

-

NH Hotel Group, 8.A. will receive floating-rate interest calculated in accordance with business
performance (net profit) of the borrowing company.

The aforementioned loans may rot be redeemed early unless the origin of the funds for the
aforementioned fransaction 15 an increase in shareholders' equity and provided that it does not

come from the recognition of assets.
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- They are considered loans subordinated to the other general creditors.

- They shall be considered net equity for the purposes of capital reduction and liquidation of
companies envisaged in current Spanish corporate legislation.

The Company's directors intend to extend the aforecmentioned loans oo maturity,

Short-term. investments:

“Loans to Companies” includes the following balances with Group companies:

Thousands of eurcs

2017 2016
NH Euwropa, S.L. 09,924 99,022
Latimoamericana de Gestidon Hotelera, S.1., 105,493 67.058
Current payables to Group coripanies 475,387 341,893
Total 680,804 508,873

The financing of NH Europa, S.L. and Latinoamericana de Gestion Hotelera, S.L. consists of a current
account on which a variable interest rate linked to the quarterly Euribor plus a spread is paid.

‘The balances that comprise the current accounts payable to Group companies are made up mainly of the
baiances relating to the financing structure cf the consolidated NII IIotel Group of which the Company 15
the Parent. The accounts receivable or accounts payable accrue mterest al a [loating rate pegged to the 3-
month Buribor plus a spread. In this way, NH Hotel Group, S.A. centralises the Group's cash (hrough a

bank and in a single account.

Non-current pavables

The "Long-term Debts" heading mainly cocsists of the loan with the Group company NH Finance, S.A.
with maturity in 2019.

Current payables

“Current I'ayables” includes the following lcans from Group companies:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Current account with WH Holtceles Espafia, S.A. 136,572 136,521
Current payables to Group companies 152,924 104,934
Total 289,496 241,455
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17.2.- Transactions with related parties

The transactions performed with related parties in 2016 and 2017 are as follows:

Income
Thousands of enuros
2017 2016
Dividends 32 -
Group holding activity (Note 18.a) 32 -
Lcasc income 8,231 7,333
Group (Note 18.a) 8,231 7,333
Interests 1,936 1,614
Group holding activity (Note 18.a) 1,556 1,429
Assoclates 380 185
Iees (Accessory Income) 87,853 76,895
Group 87,853 76,895
Expenses
Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Interests 4,393 2,485
Group 4,393 2,A85
18.- INCOME AND EXPENSES
a) Revenues
The revenue itemised by activity is as follows (in thousands of euros):
Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Hoctel activity:
Accommodation in rooms 15,777 13,984
Leasing (Note 17.2) 8,231 7.333
Catering 4,224 3,798
Rooms RS54 712
Others 552 903
29,738 26,730
Holding activity:
Income from dividends (Note 17.2) 32 -
Income from lending activity (Note 17.2) 1,556 1,429
1,588 1,429
Revenues 31,326 28,159

Similarly, revcnuc corresponding to 2017 and 2016 was distributed by geographic market as

follows {in thousands of curos):
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2017 2016

National market 31,326 28,156
31,326 28,159

b) Staff costs

The breakdown of "Transactions With Related Partics™ on the balance sheet for 2017 and 2016 is as

follows (in thousands af eures):

2017 2016
Wages, salaries and similar 28,483 29,427
Social security contributions 5,648 5,205
Termination benefits (Nole 4.k) 4,055 7,317
38,186 41,949
The average number of employees al the Company in 2017 and 2016, by professional category, was
as follows:
2017 2016

Group's general management 8 7

Managers and heads of department 84 90

Technical staff 124 117

Sales representatives 24 34

Administrative staff 33 28

Rest of workforce 194 208

Average number of employees 467 484

The workforce at 31 December 2017 and 2016, by professional categury and gender, was as follows:

31/12/2017 31/12/2016
Males Females Males Females
Group's general management 6 2 6 1
Managers and heads of department 45 38 47 42
Technical staff 59 64 57 62
Sales representatives 2 22 5 29
Administrative staff I1] 20 14 17
Rest of workforce 106 91 108 98
Average number of employees 229 237 237 249

The averuge number of cmployees at te Company with a disability equal to or greater than 33% in
2017 and 2016, by prolcssional category, was as follows:

2017 2016
Managers and heads of department 1 1
Sales representatives 1 -
Administrative staff - 1
Rest of workforce - 3
Average number of employees 2 S

The average age of the Company’s workforce was approximately 40.5 years and average length of

service In the Group came fo 7 years.
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Long-term Share-based Incentive Plan

On 25 June 2¢13, the Company's General Shareholders Meeting approved a long-term share-based
incentive plan (“the plan®) for the NH =Hotel Group SA's executives and employees, as follows:

The plan will consist of the grant of crdinary shares of NH Hotel Group, S.A. to the beneficiaries
calculated as a percentage of the fixed salary, according to their level of responsibility. The number
of shares to be granted shall be subject to the degree of fulfilment of the following objectives:

o ['SR (total shareholder return) at the end of each of the plan cycles, comparing the
performance of WH Hotel Group, SA shares with the following indices:

o IBEX Medium Cap
o Dow Jones Euro STOXX ‘Iravel & |_ecisure

» EBITDA, discounting the amount corresponding to rentals compared annmaily with the
forecasts of the Company's strategic plan,

If the minimum degree of tulfilment established in the aforementioned objectives is not achicved, the
plan beneficiaries shall not be entitled 1o shares under said plan.

The plar. is aimed at 2 maximum of 10) beneficiaries. The Board ol Directors, at the proposal of the
CEQ, may include new members in the plan.

'I'he plan has a total duration of five years, divided into three three-year cycles:

s The first cycle began on 01/0.72014 with delivery of shares in 2017 (settled)
¢ The second cycle began on 01012015 with delivery of shares in 2018 (in [orce)
s  The third cycle began on 01/01/2016 with dclivery of shares in 2019 (in force)

The first cycle of the Plan (R1/01/2014 - 31/12/2016), was settled during the first quarter of 2017 with
an achievement of 47.71%. Said compliance was approved by the Board of Directors, and the number
of shares to be delivered to each beneficiary resulted from mulitiplying the number of shares promised
by the degree of compliance with the cbhjectives (47.71%). The maximum amount approved by the
GGeneral Shareholders' Meeting for the two current cycles of this plan amoumts to 10,720 thousand
BUros.

The 2017 General Sharcholders' Mcceting approved the launch of a new Long-Term Incentive Plan.
The new plan has a duration of fivc years, divided into three three-year cycles;

e The first cycle began on 01/01/2017 with delivery of shares in 2020 (in torce)
 The second cycle began on ¢1/01/2018 with delivery of shares in 2021 {awaiting approval)
e The third cycle will begin on 01/01/2019 with delivery of shares i 2022 (awaiting approval)

'T'his second plan will have a very similar structure to the first; delivery of ordinary shares of NH Hotel
Group, S.A. to the beneficiaries calculated as a percentage of fixed salary, according to their level of

responsibility.

The number of shares to be delivered shall be subject to the degree of fulfilment of the following four
abjectives:

o TSR (tolal shareholdsr return) at the end of each of the plan cycles, comparing the
performance of NH Hotel Group, S.A., shares with the STOXX® Europe 600 Travel
& Leisure share index

¢ Revaluation of the Sharc

o Recurring Net Profit
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o Recurring EBITDA

The beneficiaries must remain m the Group on each of the plan settlement dates, notwithstanding the
exceptions desmed appropriate, as well as achieving the mmimum thresholds for each of the
objectives.

The Board of Directors will be authorisad to decide, before the start of each of the ¢ycles, the effective
implementation thereof in accordance with the Group's financial position at the time. At 31 December
2017, all the cycles had been approved by the Board of Directors.

The number of shares to be delivered to each beneficiary shall be that resulting from dividing the
maximum amount destined to each beneficiary in each cycle by NH's share price in the ten days prior
to the grant date of each cycle (“reference value®).

The maximum amount spproved by the General Sharcholders' Meeting for (he three cycles of the
second Plan is 16,200,000 euras.

The effect of this item on the statement of changes in cquity for 2017 was 1,508 thousand euros (1,927
thousand euros in 2016).

¢} External services

Shown belew is a breakdown of the items included in "External setvices”:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016

Leasing (Note 8) 4,591 4,521
Outsourcing of services 842 1,820
Supplies 581 356
Maintenance and cleaning 1,023 1,021
Laundry and related costs 493 470
Costs associated with information technologies [4,856 16,908
Marketing and merchandising 217 246
Other external services 589 496

23,192 26,038

d) Other operating expenses

“Other Operating Expenses” include the fees relating 1o statutory audit services and other services
provided to the Company, which in 2017 and 2016 totalled:

Thousands of curos

2017 2016
Audit 284 262
Other verification services 245 397
Tax 185 471
Others 471 202
1,185 1,332

¢) Gains or losses on disposals of fixed assets

This section shows the results obtained from the dispasal of hotels or their retirement for repositioning

work.
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19. REMUNERATION AND OTHER EMOLUMENTS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Management Bodies of the Company hzve the following composition at 31 December 2017:
- Board of Directors: 10 members in 2017 (11 in 2016),
- Executive Committee: 5 members in 2017 (4 in 2016},
- Audit and Control Committee: 3 members in 2017 (5 tn 2016), and
- Appointments and Remuneration Committee: 4 members in 2017 (6 in 2G16).

The amount accrued during 2016 and 2017 by the members of the Parent Company”’s Board of Directors in
relation to the remuneration of the CEQ, bylaw stipuiated directors’ fees and attendance fees and other

iteras, 15 as follows:

19.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors

Thousands of eurcs
Remuneration item 2017 2016
Fixed remuneration 490 451
Variable remuneration 344 -
Parent Company: allowances 178 274
Parent Company: attendance allowances 1,017 509
Options on shares and other financial instruments 191 .
Indemnifications/other 86 i0
Life insurance premiums 26 4
Total | 2,332 1,248

The Board of Dircetors had 10 members at 31 December 2017, of which ong 18 a woman and nine are
men {in 20186, there were 11 members: iwn women and nine men).

In relation to the chapter “Share transactiong and/or other financial instruments”, the objective longterm
remuneration earned has been taken into account. The remuneration in kind {Ieasings and medical
insurancc) and the shares deltvered in 2017 duc to the settlement of the meentive long-term plan as
indicated in the section "Others" are included.

19.2 Remuneration of senior management

The remuneration of members of the Management Committee at 31 December 2017 and 20186, excluding
those who simultancously held office as members of the Board of [lirectars (whase remuneration has
bcen set out above), is detaiied below:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Pecuniary remuneraiion 2,678 2,617
Remuneration in kind 556 161
QOthers 042 820
Total 3,876 3,668

'I'here were seven members of Senior Management at 31 December 2017 (six members at 31 December
2017) excluding the CEQ.

The fix remuneration and the variable remureration accrued in 2017 and paid in 2018 are included within
the remuneration of Senior Management.

Included m remuneration in kind is the vehicle, insurance and settlement of the long-term incentive charged
in shares in 2017 that was accrued at December 2016.



Section “Others” takes into consideration the long-term objective refribution accrued in 2017

The two conditions that must be met simulteneously to be considered Semior Managemenl are, on the one
hand, forming part of the Management Corzmittee and, on the other, reporting directly to the Managing

Darector.
19.3 Information on conflicts of interest on the part of Directors

At year-end 2017, thc members of the Board of Directors of NH Hotel Group, S.A. have indicated that they
are not in any situation of cenflict, direct or indirect, that they or persomns related to them, as defined in the
Act, may have with the interests of the Company, except the dirsctors related io GIHSA, who have reported:

On 19 April 2017, with prior information and deliberaticn in previous sessions of the Audit and Centrol
Commiltee of 27 February 2017, and of the Board of Directors on 28 February 2017, NH Hotel Group,
S.A. and Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A., signed a Framework Agreement for the management by NH of 28
hotels in the hotels portfolio owned by Grupo Inversor Ilesperia, S.A. The terms and conditions of the
Agreement have been approved unanimousiy by NIT's Board of Dircctors following a favourable repott
from its Audit and Control Committee.

During the aforementioned meetings, the Dirsctors related 1o GIHS A were absent and abstained from taking
decisions.

20.- INFORMATION ON THE ENVIRONMENT

Tor the Company, sustainability drives innovation, seeking to surprisc our guests as well as achieving water
and energy efficicncy. In our responsible commitment to the Plancl, we work to minimise our impact en
Climate Change, increase the efficiency of resources and develop more sustaingble products. All this
minimises our environmental footprint with responsible consumption of natural resources.

[n 2017, the impiementation of the sustainability initiative continucd. This initiative gives continuity to the
environmental achievements of recent years, Thus, compared to 2008, per Average Daily Room energy
consumption has been reduced by 28%, water consumption by 29% and our carbon footprint by 74%. The
Company is committed to renewable energy, which reduces its carbon footprint. Certified green energy
consumption is available in 78% of hotels in Spuin, [taly, Germany, Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg.

The Company is certified by internationally recognised standards such as ISQ 50001, which certifies the
efficiency of the hotel network’s energy mazagement on an international scale, and ISQ 14001, related to
environmental management, A total of 132 hotels have achieved their own external certification for their

sustainable management.

The Company has reported its climate change commitment and strategy to the Carbon Disclosure Project
{(CDP) since 2010. In 2017, the Company obtained a B Management rating, which places the Company
among the leading companics adopting measures to efficiently reduce emissions, which is indicative of
advanced environmenfal management.

Equally, the Company forms part of FTSE4 Good, an index of the London Stwck Exchange which
recognises the socially responsible behaviour of companies woridwide.
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21.-

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The most significant balances in foreign currency in 2017, valued at the ycar-end cxchange rate, is

broken down as follows

Thounsands of
Currency euros

Current investments in Group companies and associates ARS 3,752
Current investments in Gronp companies and associates BRL 93
Current investments in Group companies and associates CLP 412
Current investments in Group companies and associates COP 2,037
Current investments in Group companies and associates CHF 205
Current investments in Group companies and assoclates DOP (29)
Cwrrent investments in Group companies and assoclates GBP 325
Current investments in Group companies and associates HBUF Q
Current investments in Group companies and assoclates MXN 3,125
Current mnvestments 1n Group companies and associates USD 1,624
Current investments in Group companies and associates uyu 361
Cwrrent investments in Group companies and associalcs 7ZAR 33
Short- term debts with group and associate comparies DOP (629)

The most significant balances in foreign currency in 2016, valued at the year-end exchange rate, is

broken down as follows

Thousands of
Currency euros

Current investments in Group companics and associates ARS 3,269
Current investments in Group companies and associates BRL 9]
Current investments in (Group companies and associates CLP 262
Current investrnents in Group companies and associates COP 3,917
Current investments in Group companies and associates CHT 211
Current investments in Group companies and associates GBP 204
Current investments in Group companies and associates [TUF 114
Current investments in Group companies and associates MXN 4,653
Current investments in Group companies and associates RON 225
Current investments in Group companies and associates USD {56)
Current investments in Group companies and asscciates UvYy 207
Current investments in Group companies and associlates VEF 20
Current investments In Group companies and assoclates ZAR 24
Current investments in Group companies and associates CNY 9
Short- term debits with group and associate companies ARS (10)
Short- term debts with group and associate companies GRP 32
Short- term debts with group and associate companies USD (733)
Short- term debts with group and associate companics VEF 130
Short- ferm debts with group and associate companies ZAR 1
Cash and cash equivalents usD 6,407

Foreign currency transactions in 2017 and 2¢ 16 are not significant.

22.- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the close of the year, there have been no events which would have a significant impact on
the Company's financial-equity situation.
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23.- TRANSLATION

Translation of 2017 Financial Statements and Management Report originally issued in Spanish and
prepared in accordance with Spanish GAAP. In the event ot a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version
prevails.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2017

EVOLUTION OF THE BUSINESSES AND THE COMPANY'S SITUATION

The Company “NH Hotel Group, S.A.” is part of the NH Group, an international hotel operator and one of
the leading urban hotel companies worldwide in terms of number of rooms. The Group operates nearly 380
hotels and 60,000 rooms in 31 countries, and has a significant presence in Furope.

The centralised business model allows it to offer a consistent level of scrvice to its customers in different
hotels in different regions. The corporate headquarters and regional offices offer hotels a wide range of
functions such as sales, reservations, marketing and syslems.

In 2017, world economic activity grew at a pace of +3.5% (Data and estimates provided by the E.C.
“European Economic Forecast Autumn 2017” November 2017), greater than the previous year (+3.0%).
More specifically in the Eurozone, the provisional growth rate for 2017 was 2.2% (+1.7% in 2016). Global
growth has led to a positive cvele of trade and investment. Likewisc, European economies continue to grow,
although the recovery has not ended, which suggests there is room for further growth. In line with the above
data, when comparing the growth rates of the four countries that bring together the largest proportion of
sales and results of the Group, it ix observed that in Holland (+3.2% in 2017 vs. +1.7% 2016), Germany
(12.2% in 2017 vs. +1.9% in 2016), and Italy (+1.5% in 2017 vs. +0.7% in 2016) growth increased
compared with the previous ycar, while in Spain (+3.1% in 2017 vs. +3.2% 1n 2016) growth was similar to

the previous year.

According to the World Tourism Organization ("UNWTO") in 2017, international tourist arrivals globally
reached 1,322 million, representing an increase of + 7.0% over the previous year, a rate much higher than
the sustained and. constant trend of 4% or more which had been recorded since 2010 and represents the best
result in seven ycars. More specifically, the arrival of international tourists to Europe reached 671 million
in 2017, recording remarkable growth of 8% after a comparatively weaker 2016 which was headed by
destinations in thc Mediterranean, The growth was driven by the extraordimary results of Southern and
Mediterrancan Furape {(+13%). Western Europe {(+7%), Northern Europe and Central and Eastern Europe
(both +5%) also posted solid growth. In this Furopean context, Spain has established itsclf as the second
tourist power in the world only behind France but ahead of the United Statcs, and managed to break its
record with 82 million foreign tourists due to an increase of 9% in the numbcr of international arrivals

In this context, in 2017, as a result nf the favourable trend in the hotel business throughout the vear and the
effect of its initiatives, particularly the repositioning of its brands and hotels, the Company reccrded a
significant increase in room prices or ADR (average daily rate).

During 2017, the value of the pricc strategy continues o be enhanced, greater Group growth being obtained
in the top cities compared to direct competitors, where there are market measures in place. The evolution
of RevPar in our top destinations was superior to that of our competitors.

As part of its asset repositioning plan, NH Hotcl Group invested elmost 200 million euros from 2014 to
2017 to fully renovate or remodel its mid-rangc hotels with the greatest potential for improvement. With
the aim of continuing to improve the quality and strengthen the NH Collection brand, the repositioning
investment phase in Germany which began in the previous year was completed during 2017, after the
investment made in Benelux in 2016 and in Spain and Italy in 2015.

Additionally, new repositioning opportunities have been selectively identified for 2018 and 2019, where
the Group will additionally have contributions from the owners of hotels through the rental regime.

Among the main milestones reached over the last years of transformation, the appearance ol a new NII
Hotel Group value proposition stands out based on the improvement ol the quality, experience and the new
brand architecture with the NH Collection, NH Hotel, nhow and Hesperia brands. Tn this vein, the Group
improved the customer experience thanks to implementing a sohd operational vision, including (he ncw
clements making up the hotels' basic product range, known as Brilliant Basics, which are already in placc
in all of the establishments and which are contributing to a better expernience and higher average score of
the customers.
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The trend in quality indicators confirms the improvement in user ratings for the (Group's hotels throughout
2017. At a Group level, 35% of the portfolio is positioncd in the top 10 af the city's TripAdvisor (45% for
NH Collection hotels) (34% and 45% resp=ctively in 2016) and 55% of the hotels are in the top 30 (63%
for NH Collection hotels) (52% and 62% respectively in 2016), which demonstrates the highest levels of

guality perceived by customers.

Also, the NH Rewards lovalty programme now has over 8.4 million members (6.8 million members in
2016), 18% of whom joined in 2017, and 23% of the total are aclive,

Meanwhile, in 2017, the Group began operating another 6 hotels in Marseilles, Eindhoven, Curitiba, Puebla,
San Luis de Potosi and Shijiazhuang with a total of 799 rooms, giving 380 hotels operating with 58,926
rooms at 31 December 2017.

In addition, thc Group signed-up 7 hotels with 1,762 bedrooms in 2017. All the signings wcre rental and
management contracts, many of them in the top brand segment and in primary cities (Frankfurt, Valcncia,
Lima, Brussels).

Taking all the above into account, the Company’s revenue in 2017 was 123.3 million suros, showing growth
of +9.8% (+11.0 million euros). The Prafit for the year attributable o the Company was 2%.6 million euros

compared to 129.0 million euros in 2016.

In this year, gross indebledness for the whole Group decreased from §816.3 million euros in December 2016
to 72,7 million curos in December 2017. At 31 December 2017, cash and cash equivalents amounted to
0.5 millicn curos (62.6 million euros at 31 December 2016). Additionally, this hquidity was complemented
by credit lines at the end of the year amounting to 298.3 mullion euros, of which 250 milhon euros
carresponded to a long-term syndicated credit line. compared to 281.9 million curos at 31 December 2016.

As stated in Note 13 of the report, the Company has refinanced or paid in advance the debt corresponding
to guaranteed senior notes due in 2019,

Likewise, as a result of these operations, the syndicated credit line signed in 2016 for a limit of 250 million
enros will continue to be availablc in full, and its maturity will automatically extend to 2021.

This value optimisation of the Group has recently been reflected in the improvement of the carporate credit
outlooks assigned by the main rating agencies. Fitch improved the corporate rating outlook from "B with a
stable outlook” to "B with a pusitive autlook™ based on greater liquidity and operational improvement. In
mrn, Moody's improved the corporale rating outlook from "B2 with a stable outlook™ to B2 with a positive
outlook”, dus to the operational improvement, the hotel repositioning plan which has allowed NH to
increase its revenues and profitability, its cost saving plan and the significant improvement of its liquadaty
position. Additionally, Standard & Poars iriproved its opinion on the Group's business profile, mainly due
to its successlul repositioning plan which has resulted in improved sales and profitability.

On 28 September 2017, the Graup presented its strategic plan for 2018-2019 to the investment community.
After a phase marked by start of a strong investment in repositioning and improvement of the experience,
NH Hotel Group is in a favourable posilion to face future growth in the coming years. The Group defined
its priorities until 2019, focused on revenue management throngh a dynamic pricing strategy, a continued
focus on efficiency and debt reduction, whilst, at the same time, taking advantage of its current strengths
for new repositioning oppartunitics and organic expansion as a means of additional growth.

The results of the plan will be reflectcd in the significant improvement in the Group's cash generation and
in the reduction of its financial indebtedncss.

At the General Shareholders' Meeting in June 2017, shareholders approved the payment of an interim
dividend from 2016 results amounting to 17 million euros, representing five cents per outstanding sharc
(grass). Additionally, the Group has established a shareholder remuneration policy in line with its debt
reduction plans, defining a medium-term shareholder remuneration ¢losc to 50% of the recurring net profit.
In the short term, it foresees a dividend proposal of ten cents per share in 2018 and fifteen cents in 2019.

Finally, the Group has a diverse workforce of 22,789 employees made up with 134 different nationalities,
of which 11 .4% work in countries other than their home country. The percentage of employees between 25
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and 40 years old reached 49.6%, while that of those under 25 stood at 14.8% and those over 44 at 35.7%.
Greater detail on this issue can he found in the Corporate Social Responsibility reporl on the Grupo NH
corporate website (bttps://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporate/es} mside the section “annual reporls™ of the
financial information section within “shareholders and mvestors section™.

THE ENVIRONMENT

For the NH Hotel Group, sustainability drives innovation, seeking to surprise our guests as well as achieving
efficiencies in the usc of water and energy. In our responsible commitment to the Planet, we work to
minimise cur impact on Climate Change, increase the efficiency of resources and develop more sustainable
products. All this minimises our environmental footprint with responsible consumption of natural resources.

In 2017, the implementation of the sustainability initiativc continued. This initiative gives continuity to the
environmental achicvements of recent years. Thus, compared to 2008, per Average Daily Room energy
copsumpticn has been reduced by 28%, water consumption by 29% and our carbon footpnnt by 74%. NH
Hotel Group is commiltled to renewable energy, which reduces its carbon footprint. Certified green energy
consumption is available in 78% of hotels in Spain, Italy, Germany, Holland, Belgivm and Luxembourg,

The Group is certified by internationally recognised standards such as ISO 50001, which certifies the
efficiency of the hotel network’s energy management on an international scale, and ISO 14001, related to
environmental management. A total of 132 hotels have achieved their own external certification for their

sustainablc management

INH Hotel Group has reported its climate change commitment and strategy to the Carbon Disclosure Project
{CDP) since 2010. In 2017, the Group obtained a B Management rating, which places NH Hotel Group
among the leading companies adopting measures to efficiently reduce emissions, which is indicative of
advanced environmenlal management

Likewise, the NH Hotel Group forms parl of FT'SE4 Good, an index on the London Stock Exchange which
recognises the socially responsible behaviour of companies worldwide.

Greater detail on this issue can be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility report on the Grupo NH
corporate website (https://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporate/es) inside the section “annual reports” of the
financial information section wilhin “sharenolders and investors section”.

RISK MANAGEMENT MODEL

Since November 2013, the NII I1otel Group has had a risk policy approved by the Board of Directors. The
aim of this corporate policy is to define the basic principlcs and the general framewark of action to identify
and control risks of any nature which may affect NH. This policy applies to all companies over which the
NII IHotel Group has effective control.

NH Hote! Group’s risk management system aims to identify cvents that may negatively affect achievement
of the objectives of the Group’s Strategic Plan, providing the maximum level of assurance ic sharehalders

and stakeholders and protecting the group's revenue and reputation.

The mode] set up to manage risks is based on the ERM (Enterprise Risk Management} methodology and
includes a set of methodologies, procedures and support tools which enablc the NH Hotel Group to:

1. Identily the most significant risks that could affect achievement of strategic objectives
Amnalyse, measure and assess such risks depending on their probability of cocurrence along with
their impact, which is assessed from a financial and reputational point of view

3., Priomtisc such risks

4, TIdentify mcasures to mitigate such risks based on the group's risk appetite. This 1s firmed up by
defining risk managers and setting up action plans agreed by the Management Commuttee.

5. Monitor mitigation measures set up for the main risks

6. Periodically update risks and their assessment
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The Group's Risk Map is updated annually and, aftcr validation by the Audit and Control Committee,
approved by the Board of Dircctors. The 2017 Risk Map was approved by the Board at its meeting on 25
October 2017,

In general, the risks to which the Group is exposed can be classified inlo the following categories.

a) Financial Risks, such as fluctuation of interest rates, exchange rates, inflation, liquidity, non-
compliance with financing undertakings, restrictions on financing and credit managcment.

by Compliance Risks, arising from possible rogulatory changes, interpretation of legislation,
regulations and contracts, and non-compliancc with internal and exiernal regulations. Tax and
environmental tisks are included under this heading. It also covers Reputational Risks, arising
from the Group’s behaviour whict negatively affects fulfilment of the expectations of one or more
of its stakeholders {shareholders, customers, suppliers, emplayees, the environment and society in
general).

c) DBusiness Risks generated by inadcquate management of procedures and resources, whether
human, matcrial or technological. This category encompasses difficulty in adapting to changes in
customer demand, including those caused by External Risks, arising from natural disasters,
palitical instabilily or lerrorist attacks.

d) Systems Risks, produced by attacks or faults in infrastructures, communications networks and
applications that may affect security {physical and logical) and the mtegrity, availability or
reliability of operational and financial information. This heading also includes business
interruption risk.

e) Strategic Risks, produced by difficulty accessing markets and difficulties in assct disinvestment.

Finally, in May 2017, the creation of an Executive Commutiee on Risks was appreved to support the
periodic monitoring of risks (monitoring of action plans and key indicators), support initiatives and
activities related to the implementation of action plans, as well as creating a culturc of risks in the Group.
This Committee met twice during the year.

Greater detail on this issue can be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility report on the Grupo NII
carporate website (https://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporate/es) inside the section “annual reports™ of the
financial information section within “shareaolders and mvestors section”.

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

NH Hotel Group, S.A. share capital at the end of 2017 comprised 350,271,788 fully subscribed and paid
up bearer shares with a par value of €2 each. All thesc shares carry identical voting and economig rights
and are traded on the Continnous Markst of the Spanish Stock Exchanges.

According to the latest notifications received by the Company and the notices given to the National
Securities Market Commission before the end of every financial vear, the most significant shareholdings at
31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
HNACOLTD 29.34%* 29.50%
Oceanwaoad Capital Managcment LLP 12.06% 11.97%
Hesperia Group 9.27%%* 9.27%**

Notwithslanding this list of shareholders, the followirg changes communicated to the CNMV by said sharehnlders are reported:

* Atthough in the CNMV Records it is recorded thal tac sharcholding of Grupo HNA in NH is 29.50% at 31 Decemnber 2017, Grupo
HNA reported a decrease to 29.34% in its sharehalding in NH ta the CNMV on 27 February 2017. In addition, on 3 Wovember 2017,
Grupa HNA netified the CNMV of the signing of a sales contract and repurchase agreement through which 11 would transfer NH
shares represerling approximately 1.14% of the capital. Depending on whether the sale has been formahsed and the terms and
canditions of it, Grupo HNA's sharehokling m NH cguld reach 28.20% of the share capital. Finally, on 19 January 2018, it notified
the CNMV of the engagement ta revicw its sharcholding in the Group, including identify potential buyers of its sharehiolding.
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*#* The shareholding of Hesperia Group consists of the direct shareholding held by Grupo Inversar [lesperia, S.A. (9.10%) and
Eurofondo (0. 17%).

The avcrage share price of NH Hotel Group, S.A. in 2017 was 5.05 euros per share {(4.04 euros in 2016).
The lowest share price of 3.84 euros per skare was recorded in January {3.17 euros in February 2016) and
thc highest share price of 6.26 euros per share in December (4.95 euros in January 2016). The market
capitalisation of the Group at the close of 2017 stood at 2.10163 billion suros (1.34680 billion euros at the

close of 2016).

At 31 December 2017, the Group had 9,416,368 own shares of which 9,000,000 correspond to the loan of
sharcs for the issue of the convertible bond in November 2013. Of these 9 million shares, at 31 December
2017, 7,615,527 have been returned, and are now controlled by NH, although they remain availahle to the
financial entities. Additionally, in August 2016, the Company purchased 600,000 own shares and in 2017,
delivered 183,632 shares to employees under the Incentive Plan.

CAPITALISATION at the end of each year (in millions of euros)

2.102

1.765

1.321 1392 1.347

—

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

A total of 237,704,360 shares in NII Iotel Group, 5.A. were traded on the Continuous Market over the
course cf 2016 (316,419,296 shares in 2016}, which accounted for (.68 times {0.90 times in 2016) the total
nutber of shares into which the Company’s share capital is divided. Average daily share trading on the
Continucus Market amounted Lo 932,173 securities (1,231,203 in 2016}.

AVERAGE DAILY TRADING (millions of euros)
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Forecasts indicate that this strong momentum will contimae in 2018, although at a more sustainable pace
after eight vears of constant expansion after the economic and financial crisis of 2009. Based on current
trends, economic outlooks and the forecast of the UNWTO Panel of Experts, the Organisation expects
global international tourist arrivals o grow at a rate of between 4% and 5% in 2018. By region, growth in
the ammival of lourists 1o Furope and the Americas is expected to be between 3.5% and 4,.5%.

On the other hand, GDP growth in Europe is expected to be +2.1% in 2018 (Data and estimates provided
by the E.C. “Europcan Economic Forecast — Autumn 2017 November 2017).

In this economic cnvironment, the Group expects to benefit from the increase in sales associated with GDI
prowth expectations in 2018, together with the positive impact of the repositioning investments made in
the last two years and supported by the implementation of price management lools which will allow us to
continue to optimise this strategy.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

in relation to the unsolicitcd sign of interest received from Grupo Barceld in November 2017, the
Company's Board of Dircctors unanimously rejected the operation prupased on 10 January 2018.

The Board noted that its decision was made to defend both the social interest of the Company and the
interests of all shareholders. It insisted that the unanimous rejection of this offer does not condition nor
impede the analysis of other future strategic opportunities which will be assessed based on the real value
they are ablc to generate to NH Hotel Group's sharebolders as a whole, within the framework of the
consolidation trends prevailing in the sector.

In taking its decision, the Board assessed the fact that the contemplated structure {merger) would not allow
sharchalder value to be created above that of that project independently by NI In its analysis, the Board
did not consider the intrinsic value assigned to NH by Grupo Barcel6's offer appropriate, nor its scope, nor
the exchange ratio offered by it.

Based on this analysis, the Board unanimously considered that the terms of the offer were inadequate and
did not reflect the real valuc of NH in any way, but especially for the following reasons:

e The exchange ratio did not reflect the relative valuation of both companies {even less with a
consolidation adjusted ¢o the rclevant hotel business of Grupo Barcel). It also did not offer a real
control premium on the market valuation of NH, nor did it consider the patential for revaluation
of NH independently (greater in any case to the relative value of 7.08 euros per share suggested in
said offer).

s Grupo Barceld's offer did not reflect the potential for growth in NH's results, nor the value of its
urban assets owned in Europe (as shown by the recent sale of the Barbizon hotel in Amsterdam),
nor the opportunity to generate profils with its balanced mix of contracts in management and
rental, nor the optimisation of its aperational and financial structure.

« The Board asscssed very negatively that Grupo Barceld's offer lacked liguidity for NH
sharcholders.

Likewise, and regardless of its decision in this matler, the Board also ratified the full confidence in the
current NH Strategic Plan with solid growth in revenues and significant operational improvement, together
with the value of its hotel assets and the potential to benefit from the reduction of its indebtedness, which
will allow for expansion opportunities and, in the future, participate in the consolidation trend of the hotel
sector.
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ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

FOR LISTED PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANIES

A |OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

| I—

A.1Fill in the following table regarding the shars capital of the Company:

! Date of last , Number of
maodHlcation Share capital (€} Number of Sharea voting rights
2610672014 70Q,543,576.00 | 350,271,788 , 350,271,738 I

Indicate whether there are different shares classes with different associated rights:

Yas

No

A.2List the direct and indirect significant sharehalders in your company at the end of the year, excluding

directors:
Number of Number of % of total
Name or business name of the shareholder direct voting indirect vating voting rights
rights rights
HNA GROUP CO LIMITED a 102,787,956 29.35%
QCEANWOOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP 0 42,235,143 12.06%
GRUPQ INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A 31,870,354 0 9.10%
Name or trada nama of tha Indlract Via: Name or company name of the Num:er -
sharehoider diract holder of tha sharaholding vating
rights
HNA GROUP CO LIMITED TANGLA SPAIN, S.L. 102,787,896
OCEANWOOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP OCEANWOOD OPFORTUNITIES MASTER FUND 32,195,671
OCEANWOCD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP OCEANWOOD EUROPEAN FINANCIAL SELECT 5,628,251
QOPPORTUNITIES MASTER FUND
QCEANWOQAD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP OCEANWQOD INVESTMENTS |l DESIGNATED 2,283,927
ACTIVITY COMPANY
QCEANWGOQOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP CROWN/OCEANWOOD SEGREGATED PORTFQLIQ 2,126,254

Indicate the most significant movements in the shareholding structure of the company during the year:

that hold voting rights on shares in the company:

A.3Complete the following tables with information on the members of the company’s Board aof Directors

Number of Number of % of total
Name or company name of Director direct voting indirect voting voling rights
rghts rights
MR JOSE ANTCONIO CASTRO SQUSA 1,000 32,475,188 9.27%
MR ALFREDO FERNANDEZ AGRAS 150.000 0 0.04%
MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN 17,709 0 0.01%
MS MARIA GRECNA 12,000 0 0.00%
MR PAUL JOHNSQON 8116 0 0.00%




Name or trada nama of the indlrect Vla: Name or company name of the "‘:’";ﬂbﬁ’ of
shareholder diract holder of the shareholding ﬂghé
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A ) 31,870,384
MR JOSE ANTONIQ CASTRO SQUSA EUROFONDO, S A. 604,304
% of total voting rights held hy the Board of Diractors ' 8.32%

Fill in the following tables with information on the members of the Company’s Board of Directars who
hold rights aver shares in the Campany:

Number of Numbar of Number of %vzfﬂt:tal
Name or company name of Director direct voting indirect voting aquivalent h htg
rights rights ghares g
MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN 140,649 0 140,643 0.04%

Adlndicate, where applicable, the family, commercial, contractual or corporate relationships existing
between major shareholders, insofar as they are known by the Campany, unless they have little
relevance ar arise from normal trading activities:

A.SIndicate, where applicable, the commercial, contractual or corporate relatianships existing between
major sharehaolders, and the company and/or its group, unless they have little relevance or arise from
normal trading activities:

A.8Indicate whether the company has been informed of shareholders' agreements which affect it, as
established in Articles 530 and 531 of the Capital Companies Act. If applicable, describe them briefly
and [ist the shareholders bound by the agreement:

Yes Mo | X

Indicate if the company is aware of the existence of concerted actions among its shareholders. If so,
give a brief description:

Yes Mo (X

In the event of any modification or termination of these pacts, agreements or agreed actions during the
year, please specify it:

The company is not aware of the existence of conceriad actions among its shareholdars.

A.7Indicate whether any individual person or legal entity exercises, or could exercise, contral over the
Company in accordance with Article 4 of the Stock Market Act. If so, give details here:

Yes No [X

| Remarks

A.8Fill in the following tables regarding the Company's treasury stock:

At year end:



Numbsr of diract eharas - Number of Indirect shares {*} % of total share capital
8,031,895 0

2.29% |

(*) Through:

Describe any significant changes, according to Royal Decree 1362/2007, that occurred during the year:

£xplain the significant changse

A.8Describe the canditions and the term of the current mandate of the Board of Directors to issue,
repurchase or transmit treasury stock, as conferred by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Generel Shareholders’ Meeting held on 29 June 2017 autharised the Baard of Directors of the Company to repurchase traasury

stock under the terms indicated belaw:

a) The acquisition can be made by any tile acceptec in Law, once ar mora times, provided Lhat the acquired shares, added ta thase the
Company already owns, do not excead 10% of tha Company's share capital, together vdth those owned by other companies in the group,

if applicable.

b) The acquisition, including the shares which thea Campany, or a persan acting In thelr own name but on behalf of the Company, may
have acquired beforehand and have in its portfolio, can ba made as long as this does not lead ta net equity being below the amount of
share capital plus the reserves made unavailatbla by !aw or the Company's articles of association. For these purposes, net assets shall
be considerad ta be the ameunt identified as such in accardance with the critela for preparing annual accounts, less the profits direclly
attributable to i, and plus the uncallad shara capital, as well as the amount of the princlpal and the share premium that are registered In

the accounts as liabililies.
c) The shames must be fully paid up.

d) Tha authorsation will be valid for 5 years from the day this agreement comes into force.

8) The minimum purchase price wlll be 85% and the maximum price will be 105% of the listed market value at the close of Spain's

continuous market the day before the transactlon, and the purchase transactions will adhere ta saecurity market regulations and customs.

The shares acquired due to the autharlsation can be disposed of or amortised, or used in the payment systems sat out in Article 146.2)
3 cf the Capital Companles Act, and In partlcular may be wholly or parily allocated to the beneficiaries of the Paymeant Plan or Plans for

Company executives and emplayees.

A.8.bis Estimated floating capital:

Eatimatsd floating caplital

48.33

A.10 Indicate whether there is any resfriction on the transferability of securities and/or any restriction on
voting rights. In particular, repart the existence of any type of restriction which could hinder control of

the company being taken through acquiring its shares on the market.

Yos No m

A.11 State whether the General Shareholders’ Meeting has agreed to adopt neutralisation measures

against take-over bids, pursuant to Law 6/2007.

Yes No |X

[f s0, explain the approved measures and the terms under which the restrictions would be lifted:



A.12 State whether the company has issued securities which are not traded on a regulated EU market.

Yes Mo | X

if applicable, indicate the different types of shares, and the rights and obligaticns each type of share
confers.

'GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

[

B.1Indicate whether differences exist between the minimum quorum established in the Spanish Capital
Campanies Act (LSC) and the quorum of the General Shareholders Meeting. If so, explain these

differences.

Yeg No (X

B.2Indicate, and if applicable, specity any differences from the system established in the Capital
Companises Act (LSC) for adopting company agreements:

Yes Na [¥

Describe how it differs from the LSC.

B.3Indicate the regulations applicable to modification of the company articles of assogciation. In particular,
note the majorities required for changes to the articles of association and, if any, the regulations
gavemning the protection of sharsholders' rights when making changes to the articles of association.

Title Vili, covering Artlcles 285 - 345, of Rayal Decres-Law 112010 of 2 July, appraving the Revised Text of the Capiial Companles
Act (hereunder, LSC), and Arlicles 158 - 164 of Rayai Decree 1784/1998, of 19 July, appraving the Regulation of the Companles
Reglster (hereunder, RRM), establish the legal system applicable to the modification of atticles of assaciation. The text of the articles
of assoclation of NH Hotel Group faithfully reflects these leqal regulations, with no higher quorum or majority requirad than Is sat out
therein.

B.4Indicate details of attendance at the general sharehokders’ meetings held during the year to which this
report refers, and for the previous year:

Attendanca detail

Date of % present In % by % remote voling Tkl

general person proxy Elactronic voteg Other

meeting s
28/06/2015 0.20% 70.18% 0.00% 2.09% 72.4T%
1111212015 9.25% 64,29% 0.00% 0.83% 74.17%
21/08/2018 0.08% 82.10% 0.00% 3.60% 85.78%
29/06/2017 39.02% 42 57% 0.00% 0.00% 81.59%

B.5State whether there are any statutory restrictions that establish the minimum number of shares
required to attend the General Shareholder's Meeting:

Yes Noa |X

B.6 Paragraph repealed.



B.7Indicate the address and access on the Company website to information on ¢orporate govemance and
other information on general shareholders' meetings which must be available to shareholders on the

Company website.

All infarmation of relevance to sherehalders, including informetion on corparate govemance and ather information on general
sharehadders' meetings is aveilable at all times an the NH Hotel Group website, www.nh-hetels.es, in the section ‘Infarmation for

shareholders’

C.1 Board of Directars

E COMPANY MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

C.1.1 Maximum and minimum number af directars established in the company's articles of asscciation:

Maximum number of Directaors 24
Mi-ni-mum number af Directors 5
C.1.2 Complete the following table with the members of the Board:
Name or company |Representativ |  Director o Date Date
name of Director a category Pozition of first of last Rection
pn the . . procedure
Bpard appoti appoi
ntmen ntmen
t t
MR ALFREDO Propiatary CHAIRMAN 19/06/2015 |28/06/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
FERNANDEZ AGRAS GENERAL
SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING
MR JOSE ANTONIC Proprietary DEPUTY 24/058/2012 |29/08/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
CASTRO S0LISA CHAIRMAN GENERAL
SHAREHDLDERS'
MEETING
MR RAMON Execulive Chisf 29/06/2017 |29/06/2017 | AGREEMENT BY
ARAGONES MARIN Exacutive GENERAL
Officer SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING
MR JOSE MARIA Independent | CIRECTOR 2170672016 12500712017 | CQ-QOPTED
CANTERQO MONTES- '
JOVELLAR
MS MARIA GRECNA Independent | DIRECTOR 2110642016 |25/07/2017 | CO-CPTED
GRUPO INVERZOR MR JORDI Proprietary DIRECTOR 28/02/2017 |29/08/2017 ' AGREEMENT BY
HESPERIA, S.A FERRER GEMERAL
GRAUPERA SHAREHQLDERS'
. 1 MEETING
MR PAUL JOHMNSON Independent | DIRECTOR 2110642016 |25/07/2017 | CO-OPTED
MR FERNANDQO Independent | DIRECTOR 21/08i2018 |25/07/2017 | CO-OPTED
LACADENA AZREITIA
MR .JOSE MARIA, Independent DIRECTOR 24/04/2012 |25/06/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
LAPEZ-ELOLA GENERAL
BONZALEZ SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING
MR JOSE MARIA independent | DIRECTCR 22/03/2017 [26/06/2017 | AGREEMENT BY
SAGARDAY LLONIS GBENERAL
SHAREHCLOERS'
MEETING
Total number of directors 10

Indicate whether any directors have left the Board of Directers during the period being reported:

. Director category at
Name or company nameé of Director time of departure I[;gl:no;
MR JUAN JOSE ANDRES ALVEZ Indapendent 27/101/2017




Name or company name of Director 3:'::)? d:::ft:g at m :f
MR FRANCISCO JAVIER ILLA RUIZ Fraprietary 07:’02."20??
MR CARLOS GONZALEZ FERNANDEZ Independent 26/06/2017
MR FRANCISCO ROMAN RIECHMANN Indepandent 20/06/2017
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR Other External 2500712017
' MS MARIA GRECNA Other Extemal 25/07/2017
MR PALIL JOHNSON Other External 250712017
MR FERNANDC LACADENA AZPEITIA Other External 25/07/2017
M3 KORO USARRAGA UNSAIN Independent 20/10/2017

C.1.3 Fill in the following tables about the Board members and their corresponding categories:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Name or company name of Director

Posltlon In the company's organisational chart

MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN

Chief Execulive Officer

Total number of executive directors

1

% of the Board as a whola

10.00%

EXTERNAL PROPRIETARY DIRECTORS

Name ar company name of Direcior

Name or company name of the majar shareholder
represented or who propased the appointment

MR ALFREDC FERNANDEZ AGRAS

OCEANWOQD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP

MR JOSE ANTONIQ CASTRO SOUSA

GRUFPO INVERSQR HESPERIA, S.A

GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A

GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A

Total numbaer of proprietary directors

3

% of the Board as a whole

' 30.00%

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL DIRECTORS

Name or company hame of Director:

MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-ELOLA GONZALEZ

Profile:

{Graduate in economics from the Complutense University of Madrid. Far the 1ast 35 years, he has been the

General Manager of various credit and banking institutions, such as Banco Zaragozano, 5.A. and Bardays,
S.A. He is currently a member of the Board of Directors of campanies including Festina Lotus, S.A., Calo,

S.A. and Cementos Occidentales, S.A.

Name or company name of Director:

MS MARIA GRECNA

Profile:



Economics degree from the Zconomics School of the Univarsity of Prague (Czech Republic) and a Masters
in Finance from the London Business School. She has run Earlwood Rental Properties, which she ¢o-
founded, since 2013. Earlweoad is 8 company focused an the acquisition, renavation and management of
homes with a pertfolio of gver 100 homes in the centre of Madrid and Barcelona and far properties in
construction and heoliday hemes in the Balearic |slands. Between 2005 and 2013 she worked for Varde
Partners (a global alternative investment advisor), first as CEQC of Varde Partners Europa (London)
betweaen 2005 and 2011 and later as CEO of Varde Partners |beria (Madrid) between 2011 and 2013, She
previously held positions in Sociéta Générala (Pragua) from 2002 to 2003, Crédit Suisse First Boston
(Londan and Prague), from 2000 to 2002, and Citigroup (Prague}, from 1985 to 2000.

Name or company name of Director:

MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDOY LLONIS

Profile:

Degree in Economics and Business Administration from ICADE (E-2) and |IESE Businass Schoal,
Univeraity of Navarra. BBVA programme for executives He began his professional career in Arthur
Anderson A.L.T., in the finarcial sectar and has since held seniar pasitions in various banking entities
such as Deutsche Bank, BBYA (Director of Global Syndicated Loans) and Banco Popular (Wholagale
Banking Director and Risk Dirsctor).

He is currently the Head of Crigination and CFQ of Copernicus Servicing, S.L. He has besan a Board
Member of companies such as Fomenteo de Construcciones y Contratas {2008-20089), Societé Fonciere
Lyonnaise, representing Colonial (2008-2011), Globalia Corparacion Empresarial (2007-2012),
Inmohbiliaria Colonial (2008 — 2013) and in Targobank, S.A,, representing Banco Popular Espanol, S.A.
{2013-2018).

Nanme or company name of Director:

MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR
Frofile:

He holds a degree in Law and Economics and Busingas Administration and
Management from the Universidad Pontificia Comillas {ICADE E-3) and a diploma

fram the Business Management Pregramme (PADE) of IESE Business School. He

was a founding partner of Results Mazimizer {consultancy for the execution and
implementatian of marketing. sales and communications projscts) and Enubes {digital
markating company) and has been the Managing Partner since September 2015.
Between July 2008 and August 2015 he held various senior pogitions in Mutua
Madrilena, first as S8ales and Markesting Diractor until May 2011 and subsequently as
Deputy General Manager, whilst also being a Director at SegurCaixa Adeslas {from

July 2011) and a Directoer at "utuactivos inversiones (from July 2071 3).

Between August 2003 and June 2008 Mr Jose Maria Cantero de Montes-Jovellar was
Marketing and Customers Director {(sales and value enhancement management of the
Residential Business Unif) of Amena/Crange in Spain.

Previously, between July 1924 and July 2003 he worked far Procter & Gamble Espana in
various positions within the marksting depariment Assistant Brand Manager, Brand
Manager, and his final pasiticn as Business Team Leader Textiles Care division far Spain
and Portugal.

Name or company hame of Director:

MR PAUL JOHNSON

Proflle:



Founding director and Chief Executive Officer of the hatel chain Kew Green Hotels Lid under whose
leadership went from start-uz to having 5C hotels. The group was acquired by the Chinese~ownad HK CTS,
a hatel chain, in August 2015. After ensuring a successful integratian with HK CTS, Paul left the company

1 May 2016 to develop other interests.

Paul is highly experienced in the leisure industry having held senior positions in sales and marketing far
the Welcome Break Group, dudget Rent 2 Car, Radisson Edwardian Hotels and Hilton Internationai. Paul
was shartlisted for Ernst and Young Entreprensur of the year in 2007 and 2008 and. in 2006, was a member

of tha Sunday Times Fastireck Awards Management Team of the Year.

Paul is currantly Hazad of Roupell Advisory Lid., a glabal hotel cansultancy.

Name or company hame of Director:

MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA

Profile:

Degree in Economics and BJsiness Administration and a Law Degree from ICADE (Specialty E=3) in

Madrid. Exacutive with mara than 35 years' experienca in financing and very oniented towards

management. Lately, specialised in the financial area in large listed multinational corporations, with
significant experence in the negotiation and structuring of financing operations, relationships with capital

markets and investment operations (M&A).
Since December 2014, he has been the CEO of Testa Inmuebles en Renta SOCIMI, S.A,

a leading property l2asing managament company in the third secter, having directed the
operation to float the company with Merlin Properties taking a stake in its share capital; an
operation valued at approximately €2 billion.

He is the chaimrman of ASPRIMA, the assaciation of companies with leased assets in
Spain.

Prior to that, for seven years he was tha CFO at Grupo Sacyr Vallehermopsa, managing
financing with banks and the relationship with analysts and investars and participating
directly in the investment prccesses and the partnership strategy te develop new
businesses in both local markets and internationaily.

Previously he waorked for 13 years in similar positions in Grupo ACS — Dragados, after having started in

Arthur Andersen where he spent tha first 10 years of his professional career.

Total number of Independent directors

6

% of total Beoard

60.00%

Indicate if any Director classified as independent receives any payments or henefits from the
company or its group other than remuneration for the post of Director, or maintains, or has
maintained, a business relationship with the company or any company in the graup in the last
year, whether in his own name or as a major shareholder, director or senior manager of an

entity maintaining, or which has maintained, such a relationship.

NQ

If so, include a reasoned statement by the Board as to the reasons why it considers that this

director can perform his duties as an independent directar.

OTHER EXTERNAL DIRECTORS




Identify the other external directors and state the reasons why they cannot be considered
proprietary or independent directors, and their relationship with the company, its directors or

shareholders:

Indicate the changes that, as applicable, have occurred to the category of each director during

the period:
Date of Previous Current
1
Name or company name of Dlrector change category categor
y
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR 25/07/2017 Other Extamnal | independent
MS MARIA GRECNA - 250772017 Other External | Independent
MR PALUL JOHNSON 25/07/2017 Cther External | !ndependent
MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA - 25/07/2017 | Other Extemal | Independent

C.1.4 Fill in the table below with the information relating to the number of female directors in the last 4

financial years, and their type:

Number of female directors “% of total directars of each type
2017 201& 2015 2014 2017 2016 2015 2014
Female ol o 0 0 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Executive
Fropristary a 4 0 1 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 10.00%
[ndependent 1 1 1 a 16.67% 25.00% 25.00% 0.00%
Other External 1] 1 D 0 0.00% 25,00% 0.00% 0.00%
Female
Executives ) )
Total: 1 2 1 1 10.00% 18.18% 3.33% 7.14%

C.1.5 Explain the methods adopted, if any, to seek to include a number of wamen in the Board of
Directors which wauld permit a balanced presence of women and men.

Explanation of the measures _|

The Board of Directors' rules define the establishment of a target concerning the iess raprasented gender on the Board
aof Directors and the guidelines on how fo fulfil said target as one of the abjectives of the Appaintments, Remuneratian
and Corporate Gavamance Commitiee. This target was legally established as 30% women mambers of the Board of
Directors by 2020,

In order to {ulfil the aforamentioned goal, 11¢ Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Govemanca Committee shall
ensure that the selection procaedure does not suffer from any implicit bias that may hamper the salection of female directors
and that women that fulfll the prafassional profile seught are included among the petential cendidatas.

The policy for selecling directors sesks to sravent discrimination, with meritocracy as the criterion guiding the selaction
process to idenlify the best candidates for tha Company. However, and natwithstanding the foregoing, sach time that there is
a vacancy on the Board of Directors, and the comesponding selection process begins, at least one weman must be conslderad

83 8 candidate unill the 30% target is met.

C.1.6 Explain the measures agreed, if any, by the Appointments Committee to ensure that the selection
process is not implicitly biased against selecting female Directors, and so that the company
deliberately seeks to include women wha meet the desired professional profile among patential

candidates:

Explanation of tha measuras

Appaintmants, Remuneration and Cerparate Govemance Committee has ensured women are included who meet the
required prafassional profile In the list of candidates, and has endeavoured to ensure there are na biasss inherent In the
selaction procedure that hinder the selection of female directors.
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As mentionad previousiy, the pollcy for sé&lacting directars sxprassly provides for the pravention of discrimination in the
candldate selection pracess and, gulded ty company interest, merilacracy shall sarve as the main selection criterion, with the
pracess seeking to identify the most qualified candidates. Howaver, each tima that there is a vacancy on the Board of
Diractars, and tha corrasponding selaction procass bagins, at laast one woman must be considerad as a candidate,
natwithstanding tha principles of mernit ard capacity, until the aferementionad 30% target for 2020 is met.

if, despite the measures adopted, if any, there are few ar na female Directors, explain the
reasons;

! Explanation of tha reasans

See abave section.

G186 bis Explain the conclusions of the appointments cammittee regarding the verification of
compliance with the policy an director selection. In particular, explain how this policy promotes
the objective that by 2020 the number of female directors is at least 30% of the total number of
members of the board of directors.

Explanation of the conclusions

In 2017, the Appomntments, Remuneration and Carporate Govermnance Coimmittee considered the regulatory fithess and the
Recommendations in the Good Govermnance Code in terms of the palicy for selecting directors.

NH Hatel Graup firmly belleves that diversty In all its facets and at all levels of its professionai team is an essential factor
for ensuring the Company's competithveness and a key element in its corporate gavemance strategy, pramoting the
participatlon and development of women 1 the erganisation, especially in positions of leadership, and, in particular, on the
Board of Directars.

In the candidate selaction procaess and, guided by company interest, mernitocracy shall serve as the main selection criterian,
with the process saeking to identify tha mast qualified candidates. Cansaguantly, éach time that there Is a vacaney on the
Board of Directors, and the comasponding salection pmoass bagins, at laast ona waman must be consldered as a
candidate, notwithstanding the principles cf merit and capacity, urtil the aforemantioned 30% target for 2020 1s met. This
company's goal is to covar any Board vacarcy with a naw famala diractar, therafora enabiing us to Increase the female

presence an the Board.

In 2017, tha Company has contiruad ta work with expert consulting firms that have intensffied the recruitment of female
directors.

C1.7  Explain how major shareholders are represented on the Board.

As set out in Article & of the Board Regulations, the Board will ensure that the majority graup of extemnal Directors includes,
on ane hand, thase proposed by the holders of significant stable holdings in the company capital {proprietary Directors) and,
on the other, prafessionals of recognised prestige who are not assacialed with the executive team nar with majar sharsholders

{independent Directors).

Proprietary Directors are those that represent or have a shareholding in the Caompany that ia grealer than or equal to what
is fegally considered significart, ar that mey have been appointed due to their status as shareholders evsn though their
shareholding does nat reach the legelly eatablished amount.

Far the purposes aof this definition, it shall be assumed that a director represents a sharehcldsr when:

a) He/she was appainted by virtue of the right to represantation.

b} Heishe is a director, senior manager, employss or regular service provider of this shareholder, or of campanies
belonging 1o its group.

¢) The company dacumentatian states that the shamsholder accapts that the director has besen appolnted by It or
represents it

d) Heishe is the spause, or cannected by a similar relationship, or related up to the secand degree of kinshlp to a major
sharahalder.

C18 Explain, if applicable, the reasans why proprietary directors have been appointed at the request
of shareholders whose holdings are below 3% of share capital:
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Indicate whether farmal requests far representation on the Baard from shareholders whose
shareholding 18 equal to or greater than other shareholders at whose request proprietary
directors have been appointed, have not been acted upon. Explain the reasons why they have
not been acted on, as applicablz:

Yes No |X

CA9 Indicate whether any director hzs left their positian prior to the completion of their mandate;
whether the director has explained their reasons to the Board, and by what means; and. in the
event that the written communication was sent to the whole of the Board, explain the reasons

given:

Name of the director:

MR JUAN JOSE ANDRES ALVEZ

Reason for departure:

Mr Juan José Andrés Alvez tendered his resignation as Board Member on 27 January 2017 due to
unforeseen personal reasons.

Name of the director:

MR FRANCISCO JAVIER ILLA RUIZ

Reasan for departure:

Mr Francisca Javigr llla Ruiz's positian as Director was tarminatad on 7 February 2017 due to his death.

Name of the director:

MR CARLOS GONZALEZ FERNANDEZ

Reason for departure:

At the end of his term as Board Member ¢n 26 June 2017, the Board of Directors did not seek the
reappointment of Caros Gorzilez Femandez at the General Shareholders' Meeting held on 29 June 2017.

Name of the director:

MR FRANCISCO RCMAN RIECHMANN

Ruason for departurs:

Mr Francisco Roman Riechmann tendered his resignation as Board Member on 28 June 2017 due to
personal reasons.

Name of the director:
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MS MARIA GRECNA

Reason for departure:

Ms Marla Grecna tendered her resignation as Board Member on 25 JJuly 2017. On this date she was
appointed as a new co-opted director by the Board of Directors as an independent director at the hahest
of the Appointments and Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee

Name of the director:

MR PAUL JOHNSON

Reason for departure:

Mr Paul Johnsan tendered his resignation ag Board Member on 25 July 2017. On this date he was
appointed as a new co-opted director by the Board of Directars as an indapendent director at the behest
of the Appointments and Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committes

Name of the director:
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR

Reason far departura:

Mr Josa Maria Cantara Marntas-Jovellar tendered his resignation as Board Member on 25 July 2017. On
this date he was appointed as a new co-opted director by the Board of Directors as an independent director
at the behest of the Appaintments and Remuneration and Corparate Governance Committee

Name of the director:

MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA

Reason for departure:

Mr Fernando Lacadena Azpeitia tendered his resignation as Board Member an 25 July 2017. Cn this date
he was appointed as a new co-opted directer by the Board of Directors as an independent diractor at the
behest of tha Appointments and Remuneration and Corporate Governance Cammittee

Name of the director:

M3 KORO USARRAGA UNSAIN

Reason for departure:

Ms Koro Usaraga Unsain resigned from her pesitien of Diracter on 20 October 2017 for professional
reasons.

CA10  Indicate, if applicable, the pawers delegated to the Executive Director(s):
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C111

Name or company name of Director:

MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN

Brief description:

All the powers that correspond to the board of directors, except those that cannot be delegated by law or
the company's articles of association.

Identify, if applicable, the memkbkears of the Board that hald administrative ar management
positions in other companies that form part of the group of the listed company:

Name or company hame Campany name of Do they
of Director group company Positlon ex::::vs
dutlas?

MR RAMON ARAGONES NH Lagasca, S.A, Director NO
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES JV EENING GRAND CHINA HOTEL Director NO
MARIN MANAGEMENT {CHINA)
MR RAMON ARAGONES NH HOTELES DEUTSCHLAND GMBH | Joint and Several Director YES
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGCONES NH 4OTELBETRIEBS — UND Jaint and Several Qiractar YES
MARIN ENTWICKLUNGS GMBH
MR RAMON ARAGONES NH HOTELBETRIEBS — UND Jolnt and Several Directar YES
MARIN DIENSTLEISTUNGS GMBH
MR RAMON ARAGONES NH CENTRAL EUROPE MGMT GMBH | Joint and Seversl Directar YES
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES JOLLY HOTEL DEUTSCHLAND GMBH  Joint and Several Diractor YES
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES HOTELES ROYAL, S.A. (COLOMBIA) Deputy Directar NO
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES NACIONAL HISPANA HOTELES, S.A. Director NO
MARIN DE C.V. {MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGOMNES OPERADORA NACIONAL HISPANA, Director NO
MARIN S.A. CE CV. (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES FRANQUICIAS LODGE, S.A. (MEXICQ) | Director NO
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORPORATIVOS Director NGO

| MARIN HOTELEROS (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGCNES HOTELERA DE LA PARRA (MEXICO) Director NO
MARIN
MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORPORATIVOS Director NQ
MARIN KRYSTAL ROSA (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL INMOBILIARIA DE Director NO
MARIN COATZACOALCOS, S.A. DE C.V

{MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORFPORATIVOS Director NO
MARIM CHARTWELL MONTERREY, SA.DE
C.V. (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL DE MEXICO, S.A. DE Directar NO
MARIN C.V. (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL DE NUEVQ LAREDO, Diractor NO
MARIN S.A. DE C.V (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES GRUPD HOTELERD MONTERREY, Director NO
MARIN S.A. DE C.V (MEXICO)
MR WON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CHARTWELL NUEVQ Diractar NO
MARIN LARZNO, S.A. DE C.V. (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES DESARROLLO INMOBILIARIO SANTA | Director NO
MARIN FE MEXICO, $.A. DE C.V. (MEXICO)
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Name or company name Company name of n:;vh:y
£ Di .
of Director group company osition -
| dutles?

MR RAMCN ARAGONES GRUPO HOTELERQ QUERETARQ, Directar NO
MARIN S.A. DE C.V. (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES HISPANA SANTA FE, S A DE C.V. Dircctor NO
MARIN (MEXICO)

G112 State, if applicable, the directars of your company that are members of the Board of Directars
of other entities listed on official stock exchanges, other than companies in your group, which

the company has been notified of:

Company name of
group company

MERLIN PROPERTIES SQCIVL. S.A.
CADOGAN 37 SICAV, S A

Name or company name
of Director

MR ALFREDO FERNAMNDEZ AGRAS

MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-FLOLA
| GONZALEZ

Positi
on

DIRECTCR
DIRECTOR

CA113 State, and if applicable explain, if the company has rules on the number of hoards that its
directors may belong to:

Yes | X No

Explanation of the rulas

Articla 28 of the Regulations of the Board expressly estabtlishes that directors must dedicate the necassary time and
affort to performing thelr dutles, and must 1otify the Appointments and Remuneration Committee of any circumstances
that may interfere with the required dedication. Simllarly, directors may nat belong to more than 10 boards of directors,
excluding the Board of NH Hotel Group, S.A. and the boards of holding companies and family companies, without the
exprass autharisation of the Appointments and Remuneratian Committee based an the individual circumstances in
each case.

C1.14 Paragraph repealed.

C1.15 State the overall remuneration ¢f the Board of Directors:

Remuneration of the Board of Directora {€ thousanda) 2,332
Amount of penalon rights accumulatad by the current Directors (€ thousands) 0
Amount of penslon rights aceumulated by the ex-Directors {€ thousands) g

C116  Ildentdy members of senior management who are not also Executive Directors, and indicate

their tatal remuneration for the year:

Nama or company name

Position

MR FERNANDC CORDOVA MORENQ

GENERAL MANAGER, PEOPLE

MS LAIA LAHOZ MALPARTIDA

GENERAL MANAGER, ASSETS AND REVENUE

MR ISIDORQ MARTINEZ DE LA ESCALERA

GENERAL MANAGER, MARKETING

MR RUFINO PEREZ FERNANDEZ

GENERAL MANAGER, OPERATIONS

MS BEATRIZ PUENTE FERRERAS

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MR CARLOS ULECIA PALACIOS

GENERAL SECRETARY

MR FERNANDQ VIVES SOLER

GENERAL MANAGER, SALES
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| Tatal ramuneration of eanlor managamant (€ thousands) 3,876 l

C117 State, if applicable, the identity of Board memhbhers who are also members of the Board of
Directors of companies of significant shareholders and/or entities in their group:

Company name of major
Name or company nameo of Director sharahoalder Posltion
GRUPQO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A JOINT AND
SEVERAL
DIRECTOR

Provide details, if applicahle, of the relevant relaticnships other than those included in the
previous heading, of the members of the Board of Directars with major shareholders and/or in
entities of their Group:

Name or business name of the associated Director:

MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA
Name or husiness nama of the relatad major ahareholder:
GRUPQO INVERSOR HESPERIA, 5.A
Description of relationship:

NATURAL PERECN REPRESENTING THE JOINT AND SEVERAL ADMINISTRATOR EUROFONDC,
SA.

C118 State whether there has been any change to the regulations of the Board during the vear:

Yes | X Ma

Description of changes

At s meeting of 29 June 2017 and at the praposal of the Chalman of the Board of Directars and the Chairman of the
Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee, pursuant to the provision of Article 3 of the
Board of Direclors' rules, the Board of Directors approved the amendment of Articles 36.1 and 36.4 of the Rules, s0
that the executive directors who receive remuneratian for the funclions they perform under thelr working or business
contract with the Company do not receive any additional remuneration as a Director.

CA19 State the procedures for selecting, appointing, re-electing, appraising and remaving directors.
Name the competent bodies, the procedures to be followed and the criteria used in each
procedure.

The directors are appointed by the Generzal Shareholders' Meeting, or provisianally by the Board of Directors in
accorgance with the pravisions ¢canlained in the Capital Campanies Act and the company’s arficles of assogation.

FProposals far appointments or the re-election of members of the Board of Directors is the responsibility of the Appoinlments,
Remunersation and Corporate Governance Committes in the ¢ase of independent directors and is the responaibilily of the
Baoard itself far all other cases. Proposals ahould always be accampanied by a report from the Board asaesaing the proposed
candidate's competence, experience and merits, which will be attached t¢ the minutes of the General Sharehalders’ Meeting
or that of the Board.

Proposals for appointing or re-electing an:: nen-independent Director must also be preceded by a report from the
Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Govemance Committee,
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The Board of Directors must ensure that the selectlon process for Its members favours diversity In terms of gender,
experlence and knowledge and daes not suffer fram impiicit biases that may lead to any type of discriminatlon and,
particularly, that it facilitates the selection of femala dirsctars.

In terms of appointing external directars, the Board of Directors and the Appointments, Remuneration and Carporate
Govemance Committee have a duty to ersure, within the scape of their respectiva competendes, that the election of
candidates falls on penple with a solkd regutation, proven skllls and experienca, and who are prepared to dedicate a
suffldent part of thelr time: to the Company, taking the utmaest care in choasing peaple who may be selected ta be
Independent directors.

The Board of Directors wik propase ar deslgnate peaple who meet the requirements set out In article 8.3.2 of the
Regulation of the Board of Directors to caver the pasltlon of independent directors.

In any event, those subject to any incapacity, disquallfication, prohlbitlon or confilct of Interests set forth in current
legislation may not be proposed for appointment as Board members.

All those directly or indirectly holding interests of any type or that have an emplayment, professional or mercantile relationship,
or relations of any other type with competitor companies, shall be considered as incompatible for the paosition of diredtor,
except when the Roard of Directors, with a favourable vote of at least 70% of its members, agrees 1o set aside this condition.
The above is without prejudice 1o any ather waiver that, in compliance with current legislation, the General Shareholders'
Meeting had to pravide.

G120 Explain how far the annual assessment of the board has led to important changes in its
intermal arganisation, and on the procedures applicable to its activities:

Descriptlon of changes -—‘

The self-assessment carried out annually by the Board of Directors through completion of the corresponding questionnaire
has enabled the thoughts of board members to be carmed through ta a serles of actlon plans.

Below are the specific actian plans for each cpportunity for improvement which the Board of Qirectors intends to
implement in 2018,

1. 8trangthen the presence af the board ir lang-tenm issues and stralegy.
2. Enhance reparting to the hoard an the percaption of significant third parties and, in particular, custamers and

mvestars.

3. Revise the periad of time between information supplied to the directors and the meetings.

4. Assess the compatencies and capabilities of the Board of Directars and analysis passible areas ta strengthen.
5. Agree and revise the training plan for the Board of Diraclars and, in particular, for new directors.

6. Extend the duration of the Audit Committee meetings.

C.1.20. bis Describe the assessment process and the areas that have been assessed by the board of
directors aided, as appropriate. by an external consuitant, with respect to the diversity of its
compasition and duties, the functianing and compasition of its committees, performance of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive of the company and the
performance and contribution of each director.

The Board of Directors at NH Hotel Group has collaborated with KPMG, an Independent, specialist firm, to respond to
Recemmendation 36 of the Code of Good Goavermnance of Listed Companles of the Spanish National Securities
Market Commission.

The survey addressed the following topics:

A) Methodalogy of Board of Director and Committee meetings
- Board of Diractars

- Exacutive Cammittea

- Audit Carmmittea
- Appointmants, Remunaration and Caorporate Govamance Commities

B) Corparate Gavemance

-~ Functianing

- Information

- Roles of the Board

- Informatian to Third Parties
) Strategic Planning

D) Qperational and Financial Supervision
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- Time

- Procedures

-~ Audit Committee Information

- Risk Identification and Supervision

C.1.20 b Break down, as appropriate, the business relationship that the consultant or any company
within its group maintains with the company ar any company in its group.

Not significant, very specific and concrete business ralationships.

CA121 Indicate cases in which Directars are compelled to resign.

Directors shall step down when the period for which they were appointed comes to an end ar when agreed by the
General Sharehoiders' Meeting based on ‘he powers legally attributed to it.

Article 14.2 of the Regulations of the Baard af Directors also stipulates that Directors shall place thelr office 2t the
dispasai of the Baard of Directors and tender thelr reskgnation in any of the followlng dreumstances:

a) When they are removed from the executize offices with which thelr appointment as a Director was associated or where the
reasons for which they have been appalntac are no longer valld. Such a drcumstance shall be understaod to apply to
Proprietary Directors when the enfity or business group they represent ceases to hold a significant shareholding in the
Company’'s share capital or when, In the ¢ase of Independent Directors, they become an execufive of the Company or of any

of its subsidiaries.

b) Where they are subject to any incapacily, disquahlfication, prohibition or conflict of inlerasts established in current legal
provisions.

¢) Where they are seriously reprimanded 2y the Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Govemance Cammittee for
failing to compiy with any of their obligations as Directors.

d) When their canlinued presence on the Beard may affect the good standing or reputation that the Compeny enjoys in
the market, or put its interests at risk in ary other way. In this case, the Director must immediately inform the Board of the

facls or procedural difficuities that affect said reputation or risk.

C122 Paragraph repealed.

C.123 Are reinforced majorities other than those applicable by law required for any type of decision?:

Yeos | X Na

If so, describe the differences.

Descriptian of the differances

For the appointment of Directars wilh direct or indiract interests of any typa in, or an emplaymant. professlonal, commereial
or any ather relationship with competitor companias, 2 vata in favour by 70% of tha Board mambers is required (Article

11.3 of the Board regulatlons).

G124 Explain if there are any specific requirements, other than those relating to Directors, to be
appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Yes No |[X

C.125 Indicate whether the Chairman fFas the casting vote:

Yes | X No
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Matters for which thera is a casting vote

'Resalutions will be pass;e& by absolute majority of the votes of the directors attending the meeting. In the event of a fie,
the Chairmean, or the Vice-chairman subsituting them, shall have the casting vate.

C126 Indicate whether the Articles of Association or the Board Regulations establish any age limit
for Directars:

Yes No (X

CA1.27 State whether the articles of association or the Board Regulations establish a limited mandate
for Independent Directors, othe* than as provided for in the legal regulations:.

Yes Na |X

C128 Indicate whether the Articles of Association or the Regulations of the Board of Directors
establish specific rules for delegating votes to the Board of Directors, how this should ba done,
and in particular, the maximum number of delegations any Director may have, and whether
there is any limit as to the director category tc which votes may be delegated, other than the
limitations imposed by law. If sc, give a brief summary of these rules.

Article 40 of the Articles of Assodiation seis the rules around delegating votes, stating that "Directors shall personally attend
Board meetings and, when they are unab!2 ta do so in exceptional circumstances. shall ensure that the proxy granted to
ancther member of the Board shall include the relevant instructiens insofar as possible."

Similarly, Article 22 of the Board Reguiaticns in implementing said artidle adds thal *Non-executive directars ¢an only
delegate their vote to anather nen-executive directar.”

The Board of Rirectors has nat govemed the maximum number af times a Direclor may delegate their vote,

C129 Indicate the number of meetings that the Board of Directors has held over the year. Also indicate,
as applicable, the number of times that the Board has met withaut its Chairman attending. The
calculation of attendance includzs representations made with specific instructions.

Number of Board meetings 1
Number of Board meetings not attended by the Chalrman 0

If the Chairman is an executive director, indicate the number of meetings held with no
attendance or representation of any executive director and under the chairmanship of the

coordinating directar.
Number of meetings 3

State the number of meetings held by the different Board Caommittees over the year:

Committe No. of Mastings
=)
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 18
AUDIT AND CONTROL COMMITTEE 10
APPQOINTMENTS, REMUNERATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 9
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C130 State the number of meetings that the Board of Directors has held during the year with the
attendance of all of its members. The calculation of non-attendance includes representations
made with specific instructions:

Number of meetings attended by all the directors 8
- Attendances as a percentage of total votes during the year 97.29%

C131 State whether the individual and consolidated financial statements that are presented to the
Board to be approved are certified in advance:

Yes Na | X

|[dentify, as applicable, the persan(s) that has/have certified the Company’s individual and
consolidated financial statemeris to be drafted by the Board:

G132 Explain, if applicable, the mechanisms established by the Board of Directors to prevent the
individual and consolidated annual accounts it draws up from being submitied to the General
Meeting of Shareholders with gualifications in the auditors’ report.

Article 41.2 of the Regulations of the Board establishes thal the Beard of Directors shall enaurs ths financial statements are
drawn up definitively sa that thaera is na nead far auditor qualifications. Nevertheless, whan the Board cansiders that its aitterla
should remain unchanged, it shall publicly explain the content gnd scope af the discrepancies.

C133 Isthe Secretary of the Board a Director?

Yes No | X

If the secretary is not a directar, complete the following table;

Name or company name of sacretary Representative
MR PEDRC FERRERAS DIEZ

C1.34 Paragraph repealed.

C13 State the mechanisms established by the Company, if any, to preserve the independence of
external auditors, financial analysts, investment banks and rating agencies.

The Board af Diractors hag establishad s stable and professional relationghip with the Campany’s extemal accounts auditor
through the Audlt and Cantrol Committee, strictly respacting Its Independence, By way of an example, the Audit and Control
Committee halds reqular meetings with the extemal auditar without the exscutive team belng present. In this sense, article
25, b; of the Regulations of the Board of Cirectors expressly establishes that one of its rasponsibliitles s to pass along ta the
Board of Diractors proposals far selacting, appainting, re-elacting and substituting external auditors, as well as ¢onditfons for
thefr contracting and regulary collecting Information from them on the audit plan and Its execution, In addition te preserving its
Independence in exercising its functions.

Furthermare, the Audit and Cantrol Committee is responsible for establishing suitable reiationships with audilars or audit
firms in arder to receive information regqarting any issues that may jeopardise thelr independence, so that these cen be
examined by the committee, and any other matters related with the process of conducting financial audits, as well as any
other communications stipulated in the financial auditing legislation and audit regulations.
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In any avant, it must receive written confimation on an annuwal basls from the audltors or audlting firms of their
independenca from the Company ar enlitiss relaled ta it either directly ar indirectly, as well as Information on any
additianal service of any kind pravided to such antities and tha correspanding fees received by the aforementioned
auditors or by parsans relatad to them in accordance with the pravisions set farth in leglslation regarding auditing.

Likewise, every yaar, prior ta issuing tha sudit repart, the Audit and Control Committee must also 1ssue a repart in which it
gives its opinion an tha indapendence of tha auditars er auditing fitms. This repart must always contain an assessment of
the addilional services referanced in the above paragraph, considerad Individually and together, that are separate from
the legal audit and with ragard to thair incependence and to audit regulatians.

G138 State whether the Company has changed its externai auditor during the year. If so, please
identify the incoming and outgcing auditors:

Yes No [|X

In the event that there were disagreements with the outgoing auditor, explain the content of the
disputes:

CA137 State whether the audit firm carries out other work for the company and/or its group other than
audit work and if so, state the total fees paid for such work and the percentage this represents

of the fees billed te the company and/or ifs business group:

Yas | X No
Company | Group Total
Amount for work other than suditing (€ thouaands) 501 98 9439
Amount for work other than audit work / Total amount invoiced by the audit 76.03% &,8% 38,03%
flrm (%)

C138 GState whether the audit repart of the financial stalements for the previous year included
qualifications or reservations. If so, state the reasons given by the Chairman of the Audit

Committee to explain the content and scope of these qualifications or reservations.

Yas No | X

C139 State the number of consecutive years in which the current audit firm has audited the annual
accounts of the Company and/or its group. Also, indicate how many years the current audit firm
has been auditing the accounts as a percentage of the total number of years aver which the

annual accounts have been aucited.

Company | &Group
Numbar of consaecutive years 25 23
Numbaer of years audited by the current audit firm / Number of years that the company has 80,85% 80,65%
heen audhed {%)

G140 Indicate and, if applicable, provide details of whether there is a procedure whereby directars
can receive external advice:

Yes | X No

Details of the procedure
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Articia 28 of tha Regulations of the Board of Directars expressly states that directors may request the use of legal, accounting
or financial advisars, ar ofher experts, pald for by the Company, to help them in the discharge of their duties. Such help must
relata to specifically defined and complex problams that arise In the course of their work. The decision to employ such
services must ba communicatad ta the Chairman of the Company and Implemented through the Secrefary of the Baoard,
unless tha Board of Directars conslders thal suich services are not necessary or appropriate.

CA41 Indicate and, if applicable, provide details of whether there is a procedure whereby Directors can
have the information necessary to prepare for meetings of the management bodies with
sufficient time:

Yes (X No

Details of the procedure

According to article 21 of the Requlations of the Board, the announcement of the meeting, which will be published at least
three days before the date of the meeting, will include a preview of the likely egenda for the meeting and will be accompanied
by the necessary written information that is available.

Furtharmare, article 27 of the aforementloned Regulations indicates that Directors must diligently infoirn themselves of the
Campany’s prograss, and to that end, collact any necessary ar periinent Information in order to carrectly perfarm their duty.
Ta this end, the Board has been assigned the broadest possible pawers o gain informatian about any aspect of the
Company; ta axamine its books, reglsters and documents and any other information conceming its operations. Said right to
infarmatian is alsa extended to the vardous subsldiary companies thal are included in the consolidated group, insofar as it is
necessary far the Diractar to correctly perform thelr functions as refemred to in artidde 6 of said Regulatians.

With the aim of nof disturbing the Company's narmal managament, the exercise of the right to infermation will be channelled
through the Cheirman or Secratary of tha Board of Directors, who will respand to requests from Directors by directly providing
him/her the infarmation or putting them in touch with the appropriats peopla in tha suitable level of the organisation. With the
aim of being assisted in tha exercizsa of thair functions, the Directars may obtaln the necassary consulting from the Company
to perform their functians. In spacial circumstancas, they may even request that the Company hire legal, accounting or financial
cansultants or ather experts. Such help rrust relata to spadfically dafined and complex problams that arise in the course of
their work. The decision to employ such sarvicas must ba communicated to the Chalman of the Company and implemented
through the Secretary of the Board, unisss the Board of Diractors considers that such senices are not necessary ar
approprials.

G142 State and, if applicable, provide details on whether the company has established rules that
require directors to report and. as apgplicable, resign in those cases where the company's
credibility and reputation may be harmed.

Yes [ X No

) Explaln ths rulas _|

" The Regulations af the Board includes a mazhanism to ablige the Directors to provide Immediate notif cation of all legel
proceedings in which they may he adversely affacted.

In this way, article 14.2.d) of the Regulaticns of the Baard of Directors of NH Hotel Graup, S.A., exprassly estahiishes
that Directors shall place their office at the disposel of the Board of Directors and tendar their resignation when their
cantinued presence on the Board may affect the good standing ar reputation that tha Company en|ays in the market, or
put its interests at risk in any other way. in this case, tha Director must immadiatsly inform the Board of the facts or
procedural difficulties that affect said repuiation ar risk.

It alsc esiablishes thatin all events, those subject to any incapacity, disqualification, prohibitian ar carfict of Interests set
forth in cumrent legislation may not be proposed far appointment as Board members.

C143 State whether any member of the Board af Direclors has notified the Company that they have
been prosecuted or issued with @ summons for oral proceedings in relation to the offences
indicated in Article 213 of the Spanish Capital Companies Act:

[—
Yas | X Mo | |
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Name of the director:

MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SDUSA

Crminal Proceedings:

Order dated 1§ January 2015 to proceed to tral in the Proceedings abbreviated 91/2013 heard by
Examining Magistrates’ Sourl no, 4 of L'Hospitalet de Llobregal for alleged crimes referred ta in article 213

of the Corporale Entarprises Agt.

Remarks:

On 22 February 2018 tre A.P. of Barcalona has issued a judgemant of {otal acquittal.

State whether the Board of Directors has studied the case. If 5o, give a reasoned expianation
of the decision as to whether ar not the Diractor should continue in his or her post, or i
applicable, describe the actions taken by the Board of Directors up to the date of this report, ar
those it intends ta take,

Yas [X No |:

Decision madefaction taken:

The Board analysed the case at its megling on 11 November 2015 without adopting any decisian in that
regard, under the constitutional principle of presumption of innogence and considering that their continued
presence an the Board coes not effect the Company's standing or reputalion, nor does it put ita interests
at riek in amy way.

Reasoned explanation:

The Board, at its meeting on 11 November 20158 analysed the case and was informed of {he gal
framework to be considered (art. 24.2 of tha Spanish Coanstitution, articles 213 and 223 of the Corporate
Enterprises Act, arlicles 37.2 d) of the Articles of Association and 14.2.d) of ihe Regulations of the Board
of Direclors, as well és recammandation 22 of the Code of Good Governance of Listad Companies), and
unanimously decided to zcknowledge the information offered by the Cirectors, without adopting a decision
in that regard, under the constitutional principle of presumplion of innocenca and cansidering that their
continued presence on fhe Board does nat affect the Gompany's standing or reputation, nor does it put its
interesis at risk in any way.

C.144  List the significant agreements signad by the company and that come into force, are modified or
are terminated in the case of a change in control of the company resulting from a take-over bid,
and their effects.

The NH Hotel Group has signed s«veral financing contracts that contarn a dause establishing thelr eafy maturity in the
event of circumstancea giving rsa ta a crange in control of NH Holel Group, S.A. In additon, NH Hotel Group, 8.4 issued
converlible Bonds on & November 2013, as weil as guaranteed senfor bonde datad 23 Septembar 2018 and 4 April 2017,
which Includs certain consequences in the event af a changs In cantrol of the Jssuer, such as the posslaltity of NH Hotel
Graup, S.A. being required to repurchaaa the sentor bonds or adjust the canversior prica for canvertlble bonds.

In addition, there are hotel managament contracts signed by Group subsidiaries in which Grupo [nversor Hesperia, S.A. {Gihse)
can axercise, in accordance with the tarme of a Framework Agreemenl signad by the Company, the pawer to resalve all such
contravts in the event of a change af control of NH Holel Group, 8.4, f such power is exertised, Gihsa myust pay ihe Coimpany,
a§ a pracondilion for the rasolution by change of control to take effect, Emounts as specified in the Agreemenl Framswork in
compensation for the effects derived from the resolulion of hatel management cantracte.

Finally, the change of contral falfowing a public takegver bid could have different effects on other [@aaging and hotel
managernent agreemante signad by the Company,
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C145 Identify, in aggregate form, and indicate in detail the agreements between the company and its
directors, managers or employees providing compensation, guarantee ar protection in the avent
of their resignation or wrongful dismissal, or upon conclusion of the contractual relationship due

10 a take-over bid or other transactions.

Number of beneficiaries: 1
Type of beneficiary:
A member of Senior Management.

Description of Agreement:

In order ta encaurage loyalty and permanence in the Campany, compensation has bean provided for which
may be more than the amount rasulting from applying legal regulations, in the event of unilataral termination
by the Company. This amcunt will be equal to one times the fixed annual salary and tha last bonus

received, except in the case of disciplinary dismizsal.

Indicate whether these contracis must be communicated to, and/or approved by the governing

bedies of the company or its group:

Board of Directars Ganarail Shareholders'
Meating
. Body that authorises the clauses Yes No
Yes| No

Is the General Shareholders' Masting notiad of the clauses?

C.2 Committees of the Board of Directors

C.2.1 List all the committees af the Board of Directors, their members and the proportion of Executive,
Proprietary, independent and other external Directars thereon:

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Name Pasition Category |
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SQUSA CHAIRMAN Proprietary
MR ALFREDO FERNANDEZ AGRAS DEPUTY CHAIRMANMN Proprietary
GRUPQ INVERSOR HESPERIA, SA MEMBER Praprietary
MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN MEMBER Execulive
MR PAUL JOHNSCN MEMBER Independent
% of Executive Directars 20,.00%
% of Proprlatary Diractors 80.00%
% of Independent Directors 20.00% |
% of other external directors 0.00%

Explain the functions of this committee, describe its organisational and working procedures and
rules and summarise its most important activities during the financial year.
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The Executive Committee shall comprise al leasl three but no more than nine directors, appainled by the Board of
Directors.

In ferms of the qualitative composition af the Exectiiive Commlitee, the Board shall ensure that the different types aof directar
represented will be similar to that of the main Board and Its secretary will be the secrstary of the Board. The Chairman of the
Executive Commiltee shall be chosen by the body itself from the Directors that camprige il. The Chairman of the Executive
Committee may be a director other than the Chalrman of the Board of Directors.

The Chairman of the Executive Committes shall alternate turns preskiing the General Shargholders’ Meeting with

the Chairman of ihe Board of Directors.

In all events, the valid appoimment or re-election of members of the Executive Committes shall require the favourable
vate of at least two thirds of the members of the Board of Dlrectors.

Given its dalagated powers, the Executive Committee will resalve all those issues not reserved for the excluslve
competency of the plkenary Board of Direciors by law or the Articles of Assodatlon, reporting to the Board.

The Executive Committee will provide pric examination of those issues submltted to the plenary Board of Directors which
hava not been previously examined or proposed by the Appointments, .Remuneration and Corporate Governance
Committss ar tha Audit and Comiral Committee

Tha Executiva Committae has tha mission of providing perspective and a broad vision both ta the Board of Directors and
ihe exacative team, providing thair expariance in the preparation of relevant materials, training amd guidance on mafters
ihat ara kay to tha Company's fulure, therzby facilitating the Board of Dire¢tors' declsion-making process in the matters of

their compatanca.

The Execulive Committee may apply said function to matters such as:
1. [Investments and finandng

2. Strategy for acguisitions and idanlifying posgible objectives

3. Business model

4. Cost structure

5. Lang-term vislon In asset management; and

6. Group structure

The Executive Committee will meet as many times as It Is convened by its Chairman, and its Secratary and Depuly
Secretary will be those wha perform the identical positions on the Board of Directars. Tha Exacutiva Committea shall ba
validly convened when half plus one of [ts members with a right to vate are presamnt or represamied at tha mesting.

Resolutions shall be passed by a majarity of the diractors at the meating with tha right to vata (in parsan ar by praxy), with
the Chairman holding the casting vote in ine event of a tle.

Furthermore, non-member Directors may attend Executive Committes meetings on a ona-off basls, when nvited hy
the Chairman of the Committee.

The Executive Committee shall notify the 3oard of Directors of the matters discussed and the declslons made at its
meetings.

State whether the composition of the delegate or executive committee reflects the participation
on the Board of different categories of directors:

Yes No |X

If not, explain the coamposition of the Delegate ar Exacutive Committea

The Executive Committee is composed o7 ane Exacutive Director, three Praprietary Directors and onée Indepéendent Divector.,
Although the Secratary and Deputy Secretary of the Executive Committee serve In the same pasitions on the Board of
Directors, the composition of the Executive Commiftee is not the same as the Board |n terms of the different cateqories of

Directors.

AUDIT AND CONTROL COMMITTEE

Name ' Position Category
MR FERNANDC LACADENA AZPEITIA CHAIRMAN Independent
MS MARIA GRECNA MEMBER Independent
MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDCY LLONIS MEMBER Independent
% of Proprietary Directors 0.00%
% of Indapendent Directors 100.00%
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% of other external directors 0.00%

Explain the functions of this committee, describe its organisational and working procedures and
rules and summarise its most important activities during the financial year.

The Audit and Control Committee shall comprise & minimum of thres and a maximum of six directors, appointed by the
Beard of Directors. All members sitting on said Cammittee shall ba External Directars, the majority of whom, at least, must
be Independent directors, and one of wher: must be designated by taking inta cansideration their knowledge and experience
in accounting, auditing, or both.

The Chairman of the Audit Cammittee must be sppaintad from amang ils indapandant memhers. The Chairman must also be
replaced every four years; previaus chairmen may be re-alactad ane yaar after thair previous mandate has ended.

The Audit Committee will have st lsast ths fallowing raspansibilitias:
1. Repart to the General Maeting of Sharsholdars on any matiers broached within the sphere of Its compelence.

2. Supervise the effactivanase of tha campany's intemal control, Intemal auditing, where applicable, and risk-
management (including tax risk) systamns, as wall as discussing with auditars or audit companies any significant
weaknesses In the intarmnal cantral aystam idantified during audits.

3. Qversasa the process of drawing up anc submitting regulated finandlal reporting.

4. P'ags along to the Board of Direztars proposals far selecting, appolnting, re-electing and substituting external auditors, as
wel as canditions for their contracting and regulany collecting Infermation from them on the audit plan and its execution, in
addition to prasarving its Independance Ir exerclsing its functions,

5. Establish sultabie relationships with auditars or audit firms in order to recefve information regarding any issues that may
jeopardise thelr independence, so {hat these can be examined by the commitles, and any other matters related with the
process of conducting financlal audits, as ‘well as any other communications stipulated in the financigl auditing legislation and
audrit regulations. [n any event, It must recsive written confirmation on an annual basis frem the auditors or auditing firms of
their independence from the Company or 2ntities reiated to it either directly or indirectly, as well as information on any
additzanal senvice of any Kind provided to such entities and the correspanding fees received by the aforementianed auditors ar
by persons related to them In accardance with the provisions set forth in legislation regarding auditing.

6. Issue, once a year and prior to the relezse of the auditor's repert on the financial statements, a repart exprassing an
opinlan on the independence of the auditers or audit firms, This report must elways contain an assessmant of the additional
services referenced in the above paragraph, considered individually end together, that are separate from tha lagal audit and
with regard ta thelr Independence and to audit regulations.

7. Pravide previous information for the Boerd of Directors an all mattera established by law, the arlides of association
and in the Regulation of the Board, and, in particular om:

a. The finandial infarmatian which the company muat periodically publish;

b. The creation or acquisition of any equity investments in spedial purpose vehicles and companiss registered In tax havens:
and

c. Related party operations.

4. Safeguard the independence and effectivenesa of the internal audit area; propase the salection, appointment, re-election
and remaoval of the manager of the intema: audit service; propase the budgat far this sarvice; recelve periodic information
about its activities; and verify that senior management lakes inle account the conclusiens and recommendations of its

reports.

9, Set up and oversee a mechanism that zllows employees confidentially and anonymously to report any breaches of
the Code of Conduct.

10. Supervise campliance and intarnal cacas of conduct, as well as the rules of corporate governance.

The Audit and Cantral Committee will mest at |east once every quarter and as many tines as may be necessary, sfter being
called by the Chairpersen an their awn initiative or upon the request of two of the Committee ar the Board of Directors.

Tha Audit and Contral Committee may require any of the Company's employees or managers, induding the

Campany's Accounts Auditor, to attend fts meetings.

Through its Chairman, the Audft and Control Committee wiil give the baard an aceount of its activities and work daone, either at
the meetings scheduled for the purpose or at the very next meeting when the Chairman of the Audit and Control Committee
deems it necessary. The minules of its meetings wili be available to any member of the board that requests them.

Non-member Dlrectors may attend Audit 2nd Contral Committee meetings on a one-off besis, when invitad by the
Chalrman of the Commitiee.
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ldentify the director appointed as member of the audit committee taking info account their
knowledge and experience of accountancy, auditing, or both, and report an how many years
the chairman of this commitiee has held the post.

Name of tha axperienced director | MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA
No of years chairman in post Q

APPOINTMENTS, REMUNERATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Name Position Category
MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDQY LLONIS CHAIRMAN Independent
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-.OVELLAR MEMBER Independent
GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A o MEMBER Proprielary
MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-ELOLA GONZALEZ MEMEER Independent
% of Proprietary Directors 25.00%
% of Independent Directors 75.00%
% of other extarnal directors 0.00%

Explain the functions of this committee, describe its arganisational and working procedures and
rules and summarise its most important activities during the financial year.

The Appeintments, Remuneration and Cciporate Governance Committee shall comprise a minimum of three and maximum
of six Directors and shell be exclusively non-executive directors appointed by the Board of Diractars, twa of whom, at least,
must be Independent Cirectors. The Chairnan of the Committee shail be chosen by the Independant Diractars that
comprise i,

The Appointments, Remuneration and Corparate Gavemance Committee will have at laast tha following responsibilifes:
1. Evaluate the skills, knowledge and experience necessary on the Board of Directors. For thase purpases, It shall
define the abilities and functions required oy candidates to cover each vacancy, and assess tha time and ded|catlon
reéquired tQ comredtly carmy out their functioas.

2. Establish a representation gozl for the Izss represented sex an tha Board of Diractars and create guldelines for how ta
achieve said gaal.

3. Fass alang Lo the Board of Directors preposals far appointments of Indapandent Diractors for thelr designation by co-
opting or for their submission to the decisian of the Ganeral Sharehalders' Meeting, as well as proposals for the re-election
or remavai of said Direclors by tha Ganaral Sharahaldars' Masting.

4. Infarm the Baoard of proposals far appointmants of remaining Directors for their designatlon by co-apting or for their
submission to the dacision of the Genaral Sharaholders' Meeting, as well as propasals for thelr re-clection or removal by the
Genaral Sharahaldars' Meeting.

5. Provide notificatlon of proposals for appainting or remaving senior management and the basic conditians of their cantracts.

6. Examine or arganise the Chalmman of the Board's and the chlef executive’s succession and, if appropriate, bring proposals
befare the Board so that such successions are effected in an orderly fashion.

7. Propose to the Board of Directars the remuneration palicy for the Directors and general managers or far thase who
perform functlons of upper management that are directly dependent upan the Board, the Executive Committaas
or Chief Executives, as well as individual ramuneration and other cantractual condilions far executive directors, ensuring

their compliance.

&. Supenvise and moniter compliance with corpovate gavernance rules and with the corparate sacial responsibliity policy
and plan, proposing any necessary Reports to the Board.

3. Periodically evaluate the suitability of tha corporate govemsance syslem, with the aim of ensuring that it fulfils its
mission of promoling the company's intereats.

The Baard of Directors shall be informed cf ll the fasks carried aut by the Appaintments, Remunaeration and Corparate
Govemance Committae during its first meeting, and in all avents the corresponding documentation shall be made
available to the Board so that it can take thase actians inlo cansidaration when performing s dutles.
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The Appolntments, Remuneration and Ccrporate Govemance Committee shall mest as often as considarad nacessary by its
Chairman, or when requested by two of its members or the Board of Diractars.

Furtharmare, non-member Directors may attend Appolntments, Ramuneration and Corporate Govarnance Cammittee
mesetings on a ane-off basis, whan Invitad by the Chalrman of the Comm ttas.

C.2.2 Fill in the table below with the information relating to the number of femzle directors on Board of
Directors' committees in the last four financial years:

Numbher of female
directors
2017 2016 2016 2014
Numhber % Number % Number % . Number b
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0 0.00% ad 0.00%
AUDIT AND CONTROL 1 33.00% 1 20.00% 1 20.00% Q 0.00%
COMMITTEE
APPOINTMENTS, Q 0.00% 1 16.70% 1 20.00% 0 0.00%
REMUNERATION AND
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

C.2.3 Paragraph repealed

C.2.4 Paragraph repealed.

C.2.5 Indicate, as applicable, the existance of regulations governing the committees attached to the
Board, where they are availabie for consultation and any amendments that have been made to
them during the year. Also state whether an annual report on the activities of each committee

has been voluntarily drafted.

Tha Campany Artidas of Assaociation (Artides 45 - 48), and the Regulations of the Board of Directors {Articlss 23 - 26)
camprehensively cover all regulations relating to the Board's Committees. The afarementioned intermal ragulations of the
Company are available on the company website {www.nh-hotels.es), in the section "Information for Sharshaldars” -
"Corporate Governance". Said website also includes all informatian regarding the compaosition of each Committes.

The Audit and Cantral Committas and the Appaintments, Remuneration and Corporate Gavernanca Committea annually
igasus a8 repart on tha adivitias they have carried out during the financial yasr.

C.2.6 Paragraph repealed.

RELATED AND IN-GROUP TRANSACTIONS

0.1 Explain the procedure, if any, 1o approve transactions with related parties and parties within the
group.

Procedure for rebbrting approval of related party transactions

Artides 33.1.c) of the Articles of Association and 5.5.¢) of the Beard Regulatlons assign the Board of Directors the duty of approving
retated party transactions, understood to be tfransactlons between the Company and Directors, significant sharehalders or bodies
represented an the Board, or people assoclated with them, as defined In the LSC. This approval will follow a report by the Audit and
Contrad Commlttee {(Article 48.4 of the Articles of Assoclatlon and 25 b) of the Board Regulations).
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Authorisation of the Baard shall not be required howszver, for related party transactions that simultaneously meet the following three
conditions:

1. That are camied out undsr agreements with standardised conditions and are applied in a genaral way ta numernous clients:

2. That are camied out at generally established rates or prices, set by the supplier of the good ar sarvics; and

3. Operations with a quantity that does nat exceed 1% of the campany’s annual revenuas.

Additionally, on 26 March 2014 the Board of Direclors appraved a Procedure on Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions,
available an the Company's website, which includes the approval of such transactions in greater detail. In this way, the afarementioned
Pracedure Impiements the provisions of the Reguiatons of the Board of Directars and the Intemal Code of Conduct on the Securities
Market of the NH Hotel Group, S.A., and aims to detail the ruiles to be followed in thosae fransactions the Group performs with Directors,
with people subjact to rules of conflict of interest, or with major shareholders. Said Pracedure establishes In detail everything reiative to i)
the written communication that must be submitted by sharehalders or Directors regarding trensactions te be performed by them or their
respective Related Partles ta the Secretary of the Board of Directors, who will send it to the Audit and Control Committee periadically far
its review and, If nacessary, to be passed along to the Board, provided that it does nat fall within the pre-established criteria of cases thal
da nat have ta be submitted to the Board; and ii) the obligation of maintaining a registry of said transactions.

.2 List transactions which are significant for their amount or relevant due to their subject, between the
company or entities in its group, and significant shareholders of the company:

Nama or buginess name Name or company name Nature of Amount
of the major shareholder of the conmpany or the Type of transaction {thousand
group company relatlonahi of euros)
p
GRUPO INVERSOR HOTELES HESFz=RIA, S.A, Contractual | Management contracis 2,191
HESPERIA, S.A
HNA GROUP CO LIMITED HOTEL Cantractual | Operzaling lease contracis 684
EXPLCITATIEMZATSCHAPPIY
DIEGEM NV

D.3 List transactions which are significant for their amount or relevant due to their subject, between the
company or entities in its group, and the managers or directors of the company:

D.4 Report on the significant transactions carried out by the company with other entities belonging to the
same group, provided they are not eliminated in the process of drafting the consolidated financial
statements and do not form part of the Company's normal business in relation to its purpose and
canditions.

in all cases, any in-group transaction with entities established in countries or territories considered tax
havens will be reported:
Business name of the entity in its group:

SOTOCARIBE, S.L.

Amount (€ thousands): 7,382
Brief description of the

transaction: LOAN
D.5 State the amount of the transactions camied out with other related parties.

0.6 Describe the mechanisms established to detect, determine and resalve possible conflicts of interest
between the Company and/ar its Group, and their directors, managers or major shareholders.

Article 32 of the Ragulations of the Board eslablishes the duty of layalty and tha duty to pravent situations of conflict of interesl that the
Directors must comply with. Thus, the aferementioned article states that Directors must parform thelr duties with the loyalty of a faithful
represantative, operating under good faith and in the Sompany's best interast. in particular, the duty of loyalty abfiges Direclora to:

a) Not exerclse thelr powers for purposes other than thcsa for which thay hava heen conceded.
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b) Keep the information, data, reports or backgrounc that they have had access to in the performance of their duty confidertial, even
when they have left the position, except far cases where allowed or required by the law.

c) Abstain from participating in the deliberation and vating for agreements and decisions in which they or sn sssnciate have a direct or
Indirect conflict of interests. Those agreements or decisions that affect their posilion as a Director shall be excludsd from the above
requirement to abstain, such as their selectian ar rergval for positions in the administration body or others of similar significance.

d) Perform their duties under the principle of personzl responsibility with freedom of criteria or judgament and independence with regard
to instructions from and connections to third parties.

€) Adopt the necessary measures for avoiding situat:ons in which hisfher interests may enter into confct with the company’s interests
and with his/her respansihilities to the company.

In particular, avoiding the situations of conflict of interest refermsd to in the abave Isttar a), abliges the Direcior to abstain fram:

1) Camying out transactions with the Campany, except where thay wara ardinary transactiona carmied out under standard conditions
for clients and of fittle tmpartance, with these being undarstoad to be those whoss infarmatian is not necessary to express the true
Image of the equity, financial situation and profit and ‘oss of Ihe company.

i) Using the Company name or iheir pasition as director ta unduly influance tha completion of private transactions.
iif) Making use of company assats, including canfidential Company information, for private purposes.
Iv) Exploiting the Company’s businass opportunities,

v) Receiving benafits or ramunarstion fram third parties other than the Company and its Group of associate companies while carrying
aul my duties, except where these were mere acts of courtesy.

vi) Carrying out activities an thelr own account, or for third parties, which would entail either actual or potential effective
compatition with the Campany or which, In any other way, would place them in permanent conflict with the Company’s interests.

The zbave provigions shali alsa be applicable In the case that the beneficiary of the prohibited acts or activities is an associate of the
Directar, in accardance with the definiion provided ir article 231 LSC.

The Company may walve the prahlbltions set out ir this artide, as established in article 230 LSC.

In any event, directors must notify the Beard of Direclors of any direct or indirect situation of conflict of interest that they or thair
assoclates may have with the Company.

Sltuallons of conflict of interest involving Directors will be subject to inclusion in the Annual Report.

For the purposes of the provisions of this Regdation, associates are defined as thase persons referred to in Article 231 of the Revised
Text of the LSC,

Additionally, on 26 March 2014 the Board of Directors asproved a Procedurs on Canflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactlons,
available an the Company's website, which includes the approval of such transactions in greater detail, In this way, the aforementloned
Pracedure impiements the pravisions of the Regulaticna of the Baard of Directars and the [nternal Code of Conduct an the Securities
Market of the NH Hotel Group, S.A., and aims to detzil the rules to be followed when the Company's interests or those of any of Its
Group's companies directly or indirectly clash with a Directar's personal interests. Said Procedure establishes in detail everything relative
to [) the abligation of communicating possibie situations of conflict of interest to the Secretary aof the Boaard, who will send them to the Audit
and Control Committee periadically; i) the obligation of the sffected Directar to ahstain frarm attending and intervening in the phases of
deliberation and voting regarding those matters in which they ere involved in a conflict of interest, bath in meetings of the Board of
Directors as well as before any ather company body, committee or board that participates in the corresponding transaction or declslon,
and iii) the obligation of keeping a registry of said transactions.

D.7 Is more than one company in the Group listed in Spain?

Yes No |X

|dentify the affiliate companies listed in Spain:

Listad Subsidiary Company

Indicate whether the respective areas of activity and the corresponding husiness relations
between them have been publicly defined in detail, as well as the areas and relations of the
listed subsidiary company with the other companies in the Group;
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State any possible business relationships between the parent
company and the listed subsidiary, and between the [atter and other

State the mechanisms created for resolving any conflicts of interest between the listed
subsidiary and the ather companies in the Group:

| Mechanlsms for rasolving possible conflicts of Interest

RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
E.1Explain the scope of the company’s Risk Management System, including tax risks.

The NH Hotel Group (hereinafter Grupa NH) risk management system is applicable 1o all the companies aver which NH has effective
comrol.

NH’s risk managament systam aims ta identify event: that may negatively affect achievemant of the abjectives of the company’s
strategic plan, praviding the maximumn level of assurance ta shareholders and stekehalders and protecting the graup's revenua and

reputatian.

The madel set up to manage risks is based on the ERM (Enterprise Risk Managemeant) mathodology and Includes a sat of
methodalogias, praceduras and support tools which enable NH to:

1. Idemtify the mast significant risks that could affact achiavement of strategic objectives

2. Analyse, measure and assess such risks depending on thalr probability of occurreance along with thslr Impact, which is assessed
from a financlal and raputaticnal paint of view

J. Prioritisa such risks

4. |dentify measures to mitigate such risks based on the group's risk appstita. This Is firmed up by definlng risk managers and
sefting up action plans agread by the Managasmant Committes.

5. Monitar mitigation measures sat up for the main rieks

6. Parladlcally update risks and their assaasment

Such methadolagies and procedures are also used ir relation to tax risk managsmsnt

NH Group has a Corporata Tax Strategy that forms gart of the Group's Comporate Govemance System, the objective of which is 1a
establish the values, principies and ruies that must govein the Group's activities in terms of tax, with 2 Tax Risk Management and
Control Procedure,

E.2ldentify the company bodies responsible for creating and implementing the Risk Management System,
including tax nsks.

Board of Directors
The entity's Board of Directors is responsible for oversecing the risk management system, in line with the provisions of Article 5 of the
Regulation of Ihe Board of Directars, including tax risks.

Audit and Coniral Committee

As regulated by paragraph 3 of article 25 b) of the Regulation of the company’s Board of Directars, the Audit and Cantreol Cormmittes
supports the Board of Directors in supervising the effectiveness af the Company's internal control, internal audit, if apprapriale, and
the risk management systems, induding tax risks, in addition to discussing significant weaknesses in the internal control systam
delected during audit with the auditors of accounts or audit firms.

Execulive Committee on Risks

In May 2017, the creation of an Executive Committee on Risks was approved ta suppart the peradic monitaring of risks fmonitoring
af action ptans end KRis — Key Risk Indicators), support initigtives and aclivities related to the implernentation of aclion plans, as
well as creating a culiure of risks in the company. This Committee met twice in 2017.

Management Cammittee

The Management Commiftee meets weekly and i3 made up of the Chief Officers or heads of general management for each area. The
Management Cammittea's duties include, amaongst others, nsk management and cantrol based an tha risk appstite. Tax risk control falls
ta tha Finance department.

Furthermore, NH has the following committses.

Revenue Committee: In charge of monitoring revenue and defining such action plans as needed to achieve oblectives based on the
forecast of future demand.

Assets Commlitee: Reviews the optimisatlon of hotel spaces, rent renegcotlatlons and the exit plan fram NH's partfolio,

Expanslon Committea: In charge of scrulinising Inves:ment opportunities and managing risks assoclated with Investment portfolio

management.
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Investmant Cammittee: in charge of monitoring and controlling risks related to hotel refurbishment and re-branding

projects.

Exparience and Innovation Committee: In charge of monitoring the implementation of experience improvement inttiatives, their results
and propasing new projects.

Pricing Committee: In charge of monitoring the implementatian of pricing and revenue management strategy, its results and proposing
improvements.

Rasutts Commilttee. Response for monitoring the income statement, detecting deviances and implementing messuras to resalve

them.
Operating Madel Committee: In charge of monitaring the implementation of the new opevating modei, in addition to ensuring efficiency in

terms af Inherert costs.

Transformation Cammittee: In charge of monitoring the implementation of the Group's transfomation plan, which ancompasses
organisatianal changes to processes and systems, |7 charge of new projects that require systems developmenis.

Joint Venture China Project Committee: [n charge of menitoiing the JV in China and the develepment af the actions required from
NH Hotel Group to ensure it is successful.

Finance Department
The Finance Department is the department responsible for establishing the design, implementation and camprehensive monltaring of the

Group's intemai Financial Reporting cantral system. The Corporate Tax Depariment forms part aof the Finance Department and is
responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring the Group's Tax Risk Management.

Strategy Departiment
The Strategy Depariment is in charge of overseeing all strategic initiativas using Kay Parformance indicators (KPIs).

Risk and Compliance Function
The Risk and Compliance function, which ia part of the Intemal Audil department, is in charge of drawing up the Comorate Risk Mep,

monitoring lhe KR results monthly as wall as the implamaentation sfatus of the action plans agreed wlth each risk manager and their
association with strategic objectivas.

The risk map was updsatad during 2017 and appraved by the Board of Directars at thelr meeting on 25 Qctaber 2017. In additian, actian
plans were defined to mitigate the main rigks, as wall as KRIs to camy out periadic monltoring on them, setting suitable tolerance levels

for this.

E.3State the main risks, including tax risks, which may affect business goal achievement.

a) Finandiat Risks, such as fluctuation of Interest rates, exchange rates, infiation, liquidity, non-compliance with financing
undertakings, restrictions on financing and credit management.

b) Compliance Rlsks, arlsing from possibie regulatory changes, interpretation of legisiation, regulations and cantracts, and non-
compllance with Internal and extemal regulations. Tax and environmental risks are included under this heading. It also covers
Reputatlonal Risks, arislng from the campany’'s behaviour which negatively affects fuifilment of the expectations of ane or more

of lts stakeholders {sharehalders, customers, suppliers, employees, the environment and society in general).

¢) Business Rlisks generated by inadequate management of procedures and resources, whether human, material or technological. This
category includes the difficutty of adapting to changes in customer demands and requirements, including thase resulting from External
Risks caused by natural disasters, political instability ar terrorist attacks.

d) Syslems Risks, produced by attacks or faults in infastructures, communications netwarks and applications thal may affect security
(physical and logical) and the integrity, availability ar reliability of operational and financial informnation. This heading also indudes
business interruption risk.

e} Strategic Risks, produced by difficulty accessing markets and difficulties in assat diginvestment.

E.45tate whether the entity has a risk tolerance level, including for tax risk.

Grupo NH has defined 68 KRls forits 15 main risks which have been measured perodically since June 2017. Tolerance levels hava
been defined far each of the main KRIs. When the KFl indicates a specific lsvel of tolerance, the Risk Cwner is asked ta define mitigatian

measures to bring the level of risk back to the desirad tolerance level.

Far lax mattars, the Group acts in line with its Corporzte Tax Strateqy and the Tax Risk Management and Control Pracedura. On 11
Novamber 2013, the Group approved its adherence tc the Good Tax Practlces Code which was approved on 20 July 2010 in the

plenary session of the Large Companies Forum.

E.5State which risks, including tax risks, have had an impact over the year.

In relation to risks which have materialised and had a negative effect on the company in 2017, the fact that a significant exposure to
geopolitical risks exists must be noted. In this, the unsiable situstion in Catalonia had a negative impact on the campany. Additicnally,
albeit 1o a lesser extent, the tewmorist attack in Barceleva and the strang earthquaks in Maxica also affect company opérations.
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Additionally, the Company's group has subsidiaries |1 several countries with operating currancies olher than the euro, the group’s
reference currency, Fluctuations in the exchange ral2 of some of these subsidiaries {mainly Mexico, Colombia, Chile and Argentina)
negatively affected investments and/or operations cer'ed out by group companies in thase subsidiaries.

With the exception of those previously mentioned, no cther risk materialised which had a nagative impact. [n any event, the Company’s
risk management system has managed lo identify, 212lyse and adequately deal with thosa rigks which threaten compliance of the

Organisation's abjectives.
E.6Explain the response and supervision plans for the entity's main risks, including tax risks.

The design of the respansa to Risk takes into accourt the cost/benefllt analysls between the Impact of Risk and the ections to be
taken 1o manage it, the appetita and taieranca for Rigk and the strateglc goals of the NH Group.

The NH Group follows an axtansive coverage pollcy oy taking out Insurance pollcies for 1he risks to which it is exposed. It also
has g policy af continuougly reviewing this coverage.

Tha Strategy Depariment aversees the achlevement of strateglc goals by cantinuausly manitoring strategic initiatives and detection of
new risks.

The Intamal Audit Department, In the exercise of its Risk and Compliance function, supervises implementation of response pians to
managa tha main risks.

In each of the Risk Committee's meetings since its creation in May 2017, it has monitored the evolution of the KRIs as well and the
degree of implementation of the risk map's action plans. The Risks Map is updated annually.

Finally, since November 2017, the company has had a tool fo automate the identification and assessment of risks. This tool will
contribute to signiflcantly reducing the time involved in the planning and assessment of risks and controls and will be the only point of
Informatlon at a giobal |evel for risk management.

The Audit 2nd Gantral Committee regulary carries out the following supervisary and contral functions, as specified in Article 25
b) of the Regulation of the Baard of Directors:

The Tax Depariment aversees the Group's tax risk management. The Group hes eppraved a Tax Risk Managemant and Cantrol
Pracedure in order to identify and, as far as possible. mitigate any tax risk that may arise in Spain or in the countries In which the Group

operates,

INTERNAL RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS IN RELATION TO THE
FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS {SCIIF)

Describe the mechanisms making up tha risk control and management systems in relation to the
pracess of issuing financial reports (SCIIF) an your company.

F.1The company's control environment

Repert, indicating the main characteristizs of at least:

F.1.1. What badies and/or areas are responsible for: (i) the existence and maintenance of an
appropriate and effective financial reporting system; (i} its implementation; (iii) its supervisicn.

Amongst clhers, the Board of Directors has the powers to determine the risk management and contral policy ss well as Iha
internal information and control systems as stated in section 3 of article 5 of its goveming rules. Likewise, the Board aof
Directars is responsibla for an sultabie and effactive Internal Contral System regarding the Group's Financial informatian
which aims to provide the Group with a rezsonabls assurance as ta the reliability of the financial informalion preduced and

published on the financial markats.
The Group's Finance Management is responsible for the design, implementation and proper working of tha SCIIF, Durlng

2017, the transition of the SCIIF definition and custody functions from Intemnal Audit 1o the Internal Cantrol Department,
within Finarce Management, were finalised to comply with the three lines of defence of the COSO framework.
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The Audit and Contral Committsa is reaponsibla far monitoring the effectivenass af Intemal cantrol In accordance with
section b) of arlicle 25 of the Board of Diractors' govarning rules. This raspangihility is in tum delegated ta the Intemal Audit
Department.

F.1.2. If the following efements exist, particularly in relation to the financial report generation process:

* Departments and/or mechanisms resnonsible for: {i) designing and reviewing the organisational structure; (i) clearly
defining areas of responslbllity and authority, with a suitable distribution of tasks and functions; and (i) the
existence of sufficient procedures fer these to be properly disseminated within the entity

Dafining and reviewing the arganisational structure of the Group Is the responslibllity of the Management Committee.

Significant changes to the organisation chant, |.e., those affacting Senior Management, are approved by the Board of
Directars, after befng proposed by the Appalntments and Remuneration Committee. The organisatian chart is avsilabie
ta all amployeas an both the Group's Irtranet and Its webslte.

Both the hierarchical and functional lines of responsibility are duly communicated to ail Group employees. The intemal
communlcation channels are used for this, amongst which we highlight the intranet, executive meetings and infarmation
boards In each hatel,

In order to fulll the abjectives and responsibiliies relating te maintenance and supervision of the Financial Reparting
Control process, speeific functions have been defined which apply to those responsible for each process involved with
Financlal Reporting, in arder to ensure comptiance with the implemented controls, analyse haw well they function, and
report any changes or incidents thal may occur.

On an asc¢ending scale of responsibility, this structure includes the supervisors of each pracess in the area of control, tha
directors of each business unit and the directors of each comparate area directly concerned with the processas relaled to
the imternal Financial Reporting Controi Sysiem.

Within Finance Management, the Intemal Control Department is entrusted with receiving information from the different
individuals respansible for the process and is alse responsible for ensuring correct aperstion of the Internal Control

System.

« Code of conduct, the approval body, the degree of dissemination and instruction, includad principles and values
(indicating if there are specific mentions of the transactions register and the generation of financial reparts), the
body in charge of analysing breaches and proposing corrective actions and penalties.

The NH Graup has had a Code of Concuct since 2006, whose last review was appraved in June 2015. Responsibiiity for
appraving the Code af Conduct rasts w th the NH Group's Board of Directors. This document affects all NH Group
employees, and applies not only to smployees, managers and members af the Board of Directors, but also, in certain
casas, ta nther stzkeholders, such as customers, suppliars, competitors, sharshalders and the communities in which NH

runs ifs hotsls.

The Code of Conduct summarises tha profsssional conduct expected of all employees at centres operating under NH
Group’s brands (herainafter, NH Group employees), who are commltted to acting with integrity, honesty, respect and
professionalism in the performance of their wark. The NH Graup is committed to complylng with the laws and regulations in
the countries and jurisdictions in which it operates. These Inciude laws and regulations on health and safety, discrimination,
taxation, data privacy, competition, anti-corruption, preventlan of maney laundering and commitment to the enviranmant.
The kay areas covered ty the Code are:

- Commitment to people.

- Commbltment to customers.

- Commbitment from suppliers.

- Cormmitment to competitors,

- Cormmitment to shareholders.

- Commitment to communities and society.

- Commitment to the Group's assets, krowladge and resources.
- Obligations regarding fraudulent ar unzthical practices.

- Commitment to the stodk market.

Since 2014, NH Group has driven the c/salion af the Compliance function, tha scope of which applies to the foliowing
key araas:

- Intamal Cede of Conduct: Sets aut minimum standards to be respected i refation {a the purchase and sale of securities
and privilegad and corfidantial informat cn and its pracessing.
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- Conflict of Interests Pracedure: Estatlishes tha rules to be followed in situations whera there is a conflict of interesis
between the Campany, or any of the companies making up the Group, and the direct or Indirect personal interests of the

Directors or persons subject to the conflid of interasts rufes.

- Code of Conduct: Imtends tn estahlizh the main values and rules which should gowvern tha conduct and actions of each of
the employees and executives of the Group, a8 well as the members of the goveming bodles of the ¢companies that form

part of the Graup.

- Criminzl Risk Prevention Madel: Describes the crime pravention and manageament principles in place at NH Group and
defines the structure and operation of the control and monitoring bodles set Lp withln the Company, systematising existing
comntrols for the purpase of prevenling and mitigating the risk of crimes being committed In the Company’s various areas.

Compliance Commitlee

NH Hotel Group sat up the Compliance Committee in 2014, comprising members of the Management Committee and
Senior Managament. It has the powar o averses campllance with the Groun's Intermnal Code of Canduct, Canflict of
Interests Procadura, Code of Conduct and Criminal Rlsk Praventlon Modal.

The Compliance Committee submits a detailed report to the Board's Audit and Cortrol Committee regarding the
activilies carmmed out and has the power to impose disciplinary sanctions an employees in matters within its scope af

responsibility.
Campliance Office

The Compliance Office is in charge of distributing and overseeing compliance with the Cade of Conduct and drawing up
the Cnminal Risk Prevention Model. The Compliance Office reports directly Lo the Compliance Committee and is also
respansible for managing the confidential Code Complaints Channel and Code of Conduct quernias.

The Criminal Risk Preventian Model hss been implemented in Spain (Business Unit and Corparate) and Italy, where
training was imparted on this topic during 2017.

Al the end of 2017 a process to relionsiise the Criminsl Risk Prevention Matrix in Spain began which alms ta provide lhe
company with a more efficient model wailst during the year the Compliance Office has basn working on Implementing the
Crminzl Risk Prevention Madal in tha seven most important countrias wherse Grupoe NH operates. This will be completed
throughout 2018 with the launch of spezific training for each country.

Likewise, Grups NH has bagun tha rall-cut of an IT tool (SAP GRC) which wil help audit and manage the Criminal Risk
Prevention Modal and aliow managemant of tha SCIIF, tha risks map and the tax infarmatlon report.

Tha Coda of Canduct ig available for employees on the company intranel, In the app for employees and for third parties
an the Group’s wabsite, Thraugh the Human Resources departmeants of each business unit, the Group has put in place
a procedura for raquasting all employeas tc adhare ta Ihe coda, with training on the Code of Conduct being impared to

Gnupo NH's amplayaas.,

At 31 Dacembar 23017, use of the Code ¢f Conduct through the online course Is at 75.63%. This percentage excludes
Hotalas Raoyal which was cammled out In 2016 through the physical sligning of the document and reached 98.71% adherence.

The Code of Conduct contains the fallewaing points specifically relating to financial reports and the recording of
transactlons:

The Group has is committed to reparting transparency, construed as the undertaking to release reliable information to the
financlal markets, as well as to any other kind of markets. Henee, the company's intemal and external financial and
ecanomle reporting shall faithfully reflect its economic, financial and equity position in accordance with generally accepted
accounting standards.

The Manipulation of Information section stresses that "the individuals responsible must transmit truthful, complete and
comprehensible financial reports. Under na circumstances may they knowingly pravide incorrect, inexact ar inaccurate
infarmation. Therefore, individuals respansible shall refrain from:

- Keeping a record of transactiens in non-accaunting media not recorded ih official baoks.

- Keeping accounts which, referring to the same activity and finandal yeer, hide or fake tha company’s true situation.

- Recording expenses, income, assets or liabilities which are nan-existent or nat in line with reality.

- Noling businesses, acts, transactions ar, in general, financial transaclions in the compulsory books, or maklng a nate
of them with figures other than the krue anes.

- Making entries in accounting hooks, incormactly indicating thair purposs.

- Using falae documents.

- Deliberately destraying docurments before the end of the legally-required time limit for retaining them.
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» Reporting channal for informing the Audit Committse of financial and accounting irregularities, as well as any
breaches of tha Code of Conduct and iregular activities in the arganisation, nating if this is confidential.

A pracedure has been established fer lodging camplaints about breaches of the principles enshrined in the Cade of
Conduct, and this enables employees to provide confidentiel informnation about any non=compliance with tha principles set
out in the Code of Conduet, This procedure ensures transparency, confidentiality and respect thraughaut all its stages. As
mentioned previausly, it is managed b the Compliance Office,

The procedure for reporting and dealirg with possible non-campliance and reporis relating to tha Code of Canduct

is administered by the Senior Vice President of the Group's Intemal Audit Department, who acts indapandentiy and
ensures the channel's confidentiality, civing an account of the mast significant incidents aver the course the year to
the Group's Audil and Control Commitize.

Complaints should preferably be lodged electronically using a channe! expressly set up for the purpose and avallable to
all stakeholders {Codeofconduct@nh-hatels.cam), through which they are forwarded to the Intemal Audit Department. In
addilion, they may he sent by post for the attention of the Seniar Vice President of NH Hatal Group, 5.A. Internal Audit

Department at Senta Engracia 120, 28303 Madrid, Spain.

The 3enior Vice President of the Interral Audil Department is responsibla for anaiysing the informatlon presented and
requesting the cormespaending evidence and reports. All complaints receivad are submittad to the Compilance Committee
and the Audit and Control Committee, uphklding the principla of confidantiality guarantaad in the Code of Conduct.

» Regular training and refresher courses on, at least, accounting standards, audits, internal control and risk
management for staff involved in preparing and reviewing financial reperts and avaluating the reporting system.

Regarding the evolution of the SCIIF, lhrough Internal Control the Finance Department has given the following training
sesslans in 2017,

Intemmal training of five employees of th2 Finance Depariment wath an introductory framewark on internal Contral and the
SCIIF with the aim of their acquiring the fundamental knowledge to carry out the review of the financial information
controls self-assessment made by first line of defence users and reported 1o Intemal Control.

Internal training af six employees of the Finance Department’s second line of defence for the managemant and control
of risks through the SAP GRC internal control reporting tool.

Training sessions aimed et first line of defence employees- 14 from the retained function of tha Eurapean business units
and nine from Corporate- with the aim af training in reporting the assessment of the design and seif-assessment of SCIIF
controls Lo Internal Contral through the SAP GRC internal contral reporting tool.

Addrtionally, the Finance Department attends fraining courses or conferences on updated accaunting standards,
cansdlidation standards and the agpedfic finandal reperting applicable to the sector, which are considered espedially
relevant to its wark, We highlight attendance al training sessions during 2017 on IFRS 18, leasss; IFRS €, financlal
instruments; and IFRS 15, revenue from cortracts wilh customers; Rayal Dacree-law 18/2017 of 24 November on non-
finandal information to be discloged in the censolidated annual accounts and managameant, repart; and on the new audit

report.

In turn, and fo guaraniee an adequate reperting of risks identifiad in the Group, throughout 2017 the Corparale ntemal
Audif Depariment has given training sessions to train 26 users involved in risk management In an appropriate management
of the Risk Management module of the SAP GRC intarnal caniral taol.

F.2Financial reporting risk assessment

Report, at least

F.2.1. Which are the main characteristics of the risk identification process, including error and fraud,
regarding:
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» Whether the process exists and is decumentad.

The goal of the process of assessing financial rsks is to establish and maintain an effective process for
identifying, analysing and managing th:= risks relevant to the preparation of Financial Siatements.

At NH the sk management process consists of three levels of partiagpation:

- The Board of Directors reviews the Audit and Control Commiittee's supervisian of risk management palicies,
processes, personnel and control systams.

- The Intemal Audit Degartment, which assumes the nisk function, annually leads the updating of the Carporate Risk Map
approved by the Baard of Directors.

- The Chief Officers or eding managers of each araa, including the Executive Managing Directars and ofher
professionala directly invalved in the rizk management process within their area of respansibility,

The types of risk idenlified in the Internial Caniral Syatem on Financial Infarmatian are dassified as follows:
Technolagical nsks

Technological risks relate to the manazement of information systems to ensure tha completeness, avaiahility and
reliability of financial information and a.oid exposure of the company's significan! assets to potantial loss, damage ar
MisSuse,

Thesa risks relate to the following areas:
- Access sacunty

- Availability

- Completensss

- Supervislon of

Accounting Risks

These are the risks related to the Incorrect accounting record of the transactlons and breach of the applicable accounting
princlples (the Internatlonal Financial FReporling Standards in the case NH Hoted Graup's consolidated accounts) whereby
the consalidated financlal statements €5 not express, in all signiflcant aspects, the true image of the consolidated equity,
financlal sltuatlon, profit and loss and cash flows, with them belng able to change or Influence the reasonable judgement
of a person.

In arder to provide reasonable assuranse regarding the reliahbility of the financial informalion disseminated ta the market,
the Imternal Control area of NH Holel Group's Finance Depariment follows a permanent review and risks identificalion
pracess which it dacuments In twa interrelated matrices; the risk and control of the fmancial information matrix and the
scope of the SCIIF matrix,

The risk and cantre] of the financial infcrmation matrix cantaing the risks and sub-risks categories in each process and
sub-process having a potential impact on the finandal information as well as the associated SCIIF cantrals ta mitigata tha

impact of these riks.

The scape of the SCIIF matrix identifies thase headings of the consolidated balance sheet and income statemant with a
significant associated risk and a potential material impact on the published financial information. Matsrialily is estahlished
acconding o quantilative criteria, based on the latest consolidated annuai accounts, and on qualitativa critaria such as
the volume and unil amount of transactons, the aulomalion of processes and the integration of systems, tha accounting
camplexity, the degree of estimation and application of judgements and assessments, and the level of criticality based an

experience,
Organigational snd resaurce managemant risks

Thase risks includa prablams in tha plenning, managamant and maonitaring of financial, mstarial and human resources,
and difficulties in intardepartmantal communicationa and decision-making, induding possible quality problams and other
threats in tha course of the Group's aclivities.

These risks relate to the following areas:
- Budget Control

- Credit Management

- Receivables Management

- Payables Managemeént

- Personnel Management

- Fraud

Data processing risks
These risks include problems in data pracessing in information systems, mainly in the following areas:

- Human Error
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- Completeness of Invoicing

- Completeness of Master Files
- Review

Fresentation and process risks

These risks can [ead 1o ineffecliveness and inefficiency within the Graup structure whaen drawing up flnanclal reports
in terms of quality, time and costs, and include the fallowing aspecls:

- Timeliness of the information
- Campliance with intemal standards end

policies Business enviranment risks

Business environment risks arise dua {o axternal factors which can lead to slgnificant changes in the basis underlying
intermal control of the objectives of fingncial reparting and the Graup's atrategies. Business enviranment risks are related
to the following matters:

- Failure to camply with commitmants undartaken.
- Tax caniingendes.

Qutsourcing Risks

Outsaurcing rigks arise as a result of the process of transferring part of Ihe administration service to a third party, and are
celegarisad as falows:

- Sarvica Lavel Agmements.
- Availability

- Parsanne! Management

- Knowledge Management

- Legal

The risk ldemification and assessment process is carried out by the Intemal Audit Department and supervised by the
Audlt and Cantrel Committee as part of its duties.

The rsk identification process is docurrented in the Corparate Risk Manual.

* Whether the process covers all financial reporting assertlans (existence and occurrance; completeness; evaluation:
presentation, disclosure and comparability; and rights and obligations), whether it is updated and how often.

In arder te ensure tha raliability of Finarcial Reporting, when idenfifying rieks and controls, the accounting errors that may
arise from the fallawing abjectivas for financial information are always considered:

- Completenass: balances or transactions that should be recorded but are net.

- Transaction art-off: thoge booked In a perlod other than when they were accrued.

- Accuracy: transactlons recorded with 2rrors (amaunts, conditions).

- Qoourence/Exlstence: registered transactions which have not taken place within the periad.

- Valuation/Allocation: record of fransacdons invelving incorrect sums due to inadequate valuation caiculations.
- Presentation/Classification: classiftcation errors in the various entries of the financial statements.

- Understandability: lack of quality of financial infarmation which makea it difficult to understand for 2 person with
reasonable economics and business krowledge.

With the transition of the SCIIF definition snd cusiody functions to the Intemal Comtrol area af the Finance
Depantment, during 2017 a review of the assaciated rigks and controls was carried out, considering the fulfilment of
the aforementioned financial information abjectives for this.

* The existence of a process for identifying tha consolidation parimeter, taking aspects such as the possible existence
of complex company structures, and instrumental entities ar thase with a specific purpose into account.

The Finandial Department will consolidzte the accounts every manth.
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.This process invalves the reporting of the sub-consalidated income statement and balance sheet reported by each
Business Unit, in accordance with thelr consolidation perimeter, to the Corporate Finance Department.

Each year, the Corporata Consolldatica Department confirms the consclidation perimeters with the finanze directors of
the buginess units,

Additionally, throughaut the yaar, the business units report on variations which arise in their cansolidatian perimeter to the
Finance Department which, In tum, ccordinate the modification of these in all the Group's financial reporting and
consolidation systems.

On the ather hand, the tax departmen: of the Corporate Finance Department is responsible for maintalning the Group's

organisational chart and perlodically “sparting the updated version to a distribulion list of peaple within the Flnance
Depsrtment ta contral changes in the consclidation perimeter,

+ Whethar tha process takes into account the effects of other types of risks foperational, technological, inancial,
legal, reputational, environmental, e'c.) insofar as these affect the financial accounts.

In designing the risk management process associated with ganerating Fnandlal Reparts, the following objectives have
been focused an:

~ Definition of the Finandal Informatian Contral System processes and sub-processes.

Determinatian of the relevent risk categories and typas for gach of the different Intemal Financial information Cantral
System pracesses defined in the paint above.

Coresponding subcategaries have baen dafinad for each of these risk categories,
- Definitian and analysis of controls far @ach specific risk and establishment of their degree of effectiveness.

A risk matrix has heen estabilshed for each of the sub-processes detailed above, in which the mast relevant risks for each
process are defined, along vdth the operational contrals and their effectiveness in mitigating the rigks that affect them.

- Which geverning body of the company supervises the process.

The company's Board of Directors is responsible for suparvising the risk assessment process. In order ta camy out
the aforementioned supervision duties, the Board of Directors tums to tha Audit and Control Committee, which
performs this duty through the Intemal Audit Departmant.

F.3Control Activities

Report, indicating the main characteristics, on the availability of at least:

F.3.1. Procedures to review and authorise the financial report and description of the SCIIF, to be
published on the securities market, indicating its responsible bodies, and documentation
describing the workflows and controls (including those regarding fraud risk) of the different types
of transactions which can have a tangible effect on the financial accounts, including the
accounting close procedure and the specific review of the relevant judgements, estimations,
evaluations and projections.

There 15 a flnancial information review and authorisation procedure in the NH Hatel Group which |5 set out below:

- Intemal reporting of financial information:

Each month, the Group's Finance Management send the Group's most significant information management to the Exacutiva
Committee and Board of Directors for their review which contains the income statemant and the rhain ecanomic indicators.
Prior to reporting to these governing badies, the infarmation undengoes a review process by the finance directors st a
business unit level and by Finance Management at a corporata lavel.

- Reporting of informatian ta slack markets:
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The consolidated sccounts and tha half-yearly cansclidated financlal reports are prepared based on the information reports
of the businass unita and, once reviewed by their respective directars, the consolidatlon process Is undertaken by Corporate
Consalidation and the informatian required to prepare the consolldated accounts Is provided both by the Finance
Department and othar Carporate deparimants always with the review of the comesponding people responsible for it. Onee
the canselidated finandal stataments hava basn raceivad, thay ara raviews hy the Group's Finance Management and by the
Audit and Cantrol Committea bafara bsing praparad snd approved by the Board of Directors (sectlon b) of arlicle 33 of the
Parent's Articles of Assaciation and secticne . d) and 5. b) of Article 5 of the Board of Directors® Gaveming rules). Once
prepared, they are published thraugh tha Mafional Securitias Market Commissian.

Additionsily, each quarter, the Group pubishes financlal Informatlon to the stock markets. Finance Management is
responsibla for tha procass of issuing such information while the Board of Directaors, In accordance with section 3 of article 40
of ita Govarning ruies, is responsible for ensuring the preparation is carried out in line with the principles, criteria and
prafessional practices with which the Anrual Accounts are praduced and enjoy the same reliability. To this end, said
ffarmation is raviewed by the Audit and Contral Committee which, when it deems il appropriate, requires the presence of
both axtemal and intemal auditors.

likewise, the Board of Directars may request anaiysis of specific iasues, as well as the details of particular financial
transactlons which, because of their importance, require greater analysis.

The Comporate Organisation Department is responsible for documenting and updating the year-end pracesa which is published
on the corporate intranet. This process includes the SCIIF controls implemented to mifigate those risks identified at year-end
among which are thase risks related to th2 different review levels of the financial information generated.

On the other hand, NH has an internal financial reporting control system {SCIIF) based on the COSC model (Committae
of Spansoring Crganisations of the Treadway Cammission) to achieve the fallowing objectives:

- Effectiveness and efficiency of operatiors

- Reliability of financial reporting

- Campliance with applicable laws and reguiations
- Safeguarding assets

NH Hotel Group’s SCIIF model is doaimented in a matrix of finandal risks and controls which includes the following business
cycles, which ere relevant io the preparation of the finandial information prepared and published by the Group:

- Accounting clase, consoiidation and financial reparting process
- Purchasing and suppliera

- Sales and customers

- Cash

- Finanaing

- Fixed gasets

- Inter-campany

~ Tax

= Human resources

= Pravisions and contingencies

=~ Loyalty programmea

- Sharad services centre

- Business support technological processes

The structure of the financlal sk and controls matrix Includes the follewing information;

- Qrganisational unlt: the organlsatianal level to which the contrels are implemented and determines the scope af the
assessed entltles.

- Process and sub-process: set of activities related to a specific funciion within the operation of an organisatianal unit.
They include those with a potential significant impact an the finandial information prepared by the Group.

- Risk: the possible evenls ar actions whieh coukd affect the capacity of the company to msat financial reporting objectives
and/or implement strategies successfully.

- Rescription of the control: definition of th2 control activities induded in tha palicies, procaduras and practices
applied by the Graup to ensure it meets its control objectives amd tha risk is mitigated.

- Evidence: the documantation maintainad by thosa raspansible far the cantral (company personnel) sa that the entire
model can ba ragulardy suparvigad and audited.

- Clagsification af the contrala: kay ar not, preventive or detective, and manual or autamatic: this 1ast ane depending on
whether thay can ba menitared using data from automated tools.

- Ownership of the contrals: they belong tc the first lIne of defence in accordance with the COSC model. They are those who
axacute the cortrals and those responsible for thelr self-assessment and the assessment of their design.

- Those responsible far the controis: withir the first line of defence they are the supervisors of the correct execution and
reporting of the controls for each aclivity bafore their reporting to Internal Control, the model's second line of defence.
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- Frequency: haw oftan the canlrols are executed.

Within the nisks identlifiad in tha businass zycles defined in the SCIF matrix are the risks of fraud and the controls assaciated
with its mitigation.

Likewise, lhe matrix includaes controls spszific to the review of relevant judgements, estimatas, valuations and

projections whose exacution mitigatas the risk of reparting unreliable financial informatlon.

Additionally, the Group has s docurneniac procedure which collates the pallcles to follow In the valuation of those assets
of the consolidatad balance sheet which Involve the making of Judgements, astimates, valuations and/or projections with
a matarial impact on tha conealidated finencial statements.

Intamsl Cantral, within the Corporate Finznce Department and (he second line of defence in compliance with the COSO
madal, is charged with managing and upcating the Hsks and SCIIF controls matrix as well as the periadic review of the self-
assessment of the cantrols made by the owners of those controls, within the first line of defence, to ensure their
effactivanass and to mitigate associated risks.

Tha Carparate Intemal Audit Department, as the third line of defence. annually audits the Group's intemal cantral model ta
afford the Audit Committee and Board of Directors reasonable security as to its effectiveness and, as a result, the reliabiiity of
the financial information generated and published on the stock market.

Additonally, section F of the Annual Carparate Governance Report published by the NH Hotel Group is subject to an
external audit by a recagnised finn to guasantee the tnuthfidness of its content.

The Group Is eurrently in the final phase cf implementing the SAP GRC toal Pracess Control madule ta managa the SCIIF
which will end at the beginning of 2018. Fram the end of January 2018, the toal will enter use and allow integrations of the
SCIIF reporting Into a singlé repository and improve efficiency in monitering changes to the riska and controls matrix and
communlcatlon between users invalved in SCIIF reporting, as well as the manitoring of ection plans ta conmect weaknssses
found In the madei. Likswise, its implemertation will suppose a greater degree of invalvement in SCIIF reporting of all users
of the first line of the model and of the Greup as a whale, induding an intemal cerlification madei twice per year.

F.3.2, Internal control policies and procedures for the information systems (including secure access,
change monitoring and management, operational continuity and separation of functions) which
support the company’s processes relating to the preparation and publication of financial reports.

Internal control of [T ayatems

There is an intemal control model for the Graup's infarmation systems which covers the different IT processes and is based
on their associated risks. This model {based on COSO and COBIT) includes a matrix of 130 general IT system controls
(GITC) and policies and procedures relating to the secunty the |T systems nead.

The internal cantral model covers the systams that contribute to the preparation of the Group's consalidated financial
statements and thus assures the completeness, availability, validity and quality of the information provided 1o the markets.

The GITC matrix is aligned with the contrcl models created by the NH Graup for other business cycles, which are
structured into the following processas:

Access to programmes and data

There are policiss and procedures that et up controls over:

- Reslrcted access to the systems, avolding unauthorlsed access or changes to programmes that could affect the
complstenass, integrity and rellability of firanciai reports.

- Correct separatlon of funcions, In erder ‘o guarantee secure access ta the accounts infermation systams.

- Securty In the faclles housing the systems, ensuring that only authorised personnel have access ta them.
Operations

There are policdes and procedures that set up contrals over:

- The availability of the informatian, ensuring that financial data ara complsats, valid and accurate.

- Good management of incidents, anabling cuick resolutions and minimising their impact.

- That aperations are maonitored, ensuring that thay ara exaculed complataly and an time. Any Incidents are resclved, enabling
jobs to be restarted and run corractly.

The Group has had an Infonmation Security area, part of the [T Department, which monlitors security in all IT processes,
assuring tha availability, reliability and compieteness of infarmation.

Sacurity Paolicy
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The security policy ig the reference framework defining the dlreciives to be followed by all employees, and makes it possible
to ensure the sacurity of tha IT systams and, therefore, of all the business processes. This policy was revised during lhe
215 financial ysar.

During 2017, varicus initlatives linked to the Informatian Security Master Plan continued to be implemented, including thase
relabing to the organigafian of security, ckange management and physical security,

F.3.3. Intemal control policies and procedures to supervise the management of outsourced activities
and those aspects of evaluation, calculation or appraisal entrusted to independent experts,
which may materially affect the financial accounts.

The function has been outsourced to a third party in the campanies mduded in the scope af the SCIIF.

The NH Group has implemented an intermal cantral madel for the Shared Senvices Centre (SSC) aligned wilh the controi
models defined for the other business cycies.

Therefare, a matrix has been defined with 6 sub-processes and 18 contral activities, including controls relating to the handover
pertod of ransferring the administrative functian to the SSC, Ihe settling-in periad, the provision of the service, compllance
with regulations, the contintity of the servce and the governance model in the outsourcing contract.

The service provider has also been asked to obtain an ISAE “International Standard on Assurance Engagements”
3402 report, allowing Grupo NH o check whether the cantrol abjectives and activities of the service provider have
been effective in the comesponding perioc.

F.4 Information and Cammunication

Report, indicating the main characteristics, on the availability of at least:

F.4.1. A specific area responsible for defining and updating accounting policies (accounting policies
area or department) and resolving queries aor conflicts arising from their interpretation,
maintaining canstant communicaticn with those responsible for operations in the organisation,
and an updated manual of accounting policies communicated to the units through which the
company operates.

Through Corporate Consolidation, NH Hatel Group's Finance Managernent is responsible for defining, updating and comrectly
applying the accounting palicies as well as respanding te guestions and queries which arise in their intempretation.

In this same sense, it is charged with communiceling any change which accurs in accounting matters to the heads of the
husiness and corporate units and which affects them in the reporting of financial infarmalion.

The Group haa an accounting policies manual and a consoiidation manual -both published on the Intranet- in accordance
with the Intemational Finandial Repaorting Standards (IFRS), which are those which govern the NH Hotel Group. Likewise, the
Group shares a single accounting plan apslicable in all the business units in which it opsrates.

The Organisation Department is responsitle for unifying, analysing and publishing the ruies and procedures applicable in the
Groug, among which are the aperational, administrative {incliding accounting). quality and regulatery procedures.

The Internal Audit Department is responsibla for periadic review of the processes, pallcles and procedures defined in ths
Group.

F.4.2. Mechamisms to capture and prepare financial reports with standardised formats, applicable and
for use in all units of the company or the Group, supparted by the main financial statements and
notes, and the infarmation provided on the SCIIF.

As discussed in section F.4.1, the consolidated financial information which NH Hotel Group publishes on the stock market is in
accordance with IFRS. In this sense, the irformation reporled fram the Group's business units follows Intemalional

reguiations.
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Likewiga, there is a singie accounts plan applied by all tha companias which ara induded ir: the cansalldated group.
Grupo NH has a commaon cansalidstion tool for all companias. This tool caniralises al tha information corresponding ta the
accourting of tha companias which maka up thse financial consalidatian of the NH Hatel Group irta a single system. The
input of financial information fram the ERP to the canzolidation systam is automatic far thoes companies already migrated
to tha comman ERP mplamantad in mas: Group compsnias, ar manually for thoss campanies with a different ERP. In this
senss, preventiva cantrols hava besen dafined in the cansolidation todl itself which ensurs data is inpuf corractly. From
January 2018, the input of finandal infermalion fram tha ERP ta the consalidation syateam will ba automatic for all Group
companias a8 tha campanies recently incarparatad into the NH Hotal Group consalidatian perimater will be included.

Financa diractars of tha business units reaort tha financial information {o tha carporale affica monthly using two unlque
standard reparting packets dasigned by tha Corparats Financa Dapartmant for reparting of tha finandial management
infeormation and the consdlidatad balance shest.

The dumping of infaormation from the accounts and the accounting headings ta the reporting Is the same for both models,
having praviously been approved by the Corporale Finance Dapartment. Any change in criteria for the dumping and
prazantalion of information to be reported is communicated from the corporate affice to the finance directars of the business
units.

In tum, the Comporate Finance Deparmert uses the same reporting models to prepare the management reports and annual
accounts published on the stock market.

All thls ensures that the infarmatian reporizd between business unkts is comparabie and homagenesus to be induded
In the Group's consalldated financial repotting.

At an Internal contrai level, the Graup has designed & single reporting model for the maonthly sending of SCIIF controls self-
assessment to its owners. Likewise, the Internal Contral area pursues the hormogenlsation of the processes in all the Group's
busingss unkts 5o that the risk and cantral matrix [s the same far alf the arganlsational units, In tum, whenever Internal Contral
modifies the design of the controls, It is cemmunicated to the owners of the processes and comtrols sa they are infarmed and
report according to the latest version of ths SCIIF risks and conlrols matrix.

F.5Supervision of the system

Report, indicating the main characteristics of at [east:

F.5.1. The supervision of the SCIIF by the Audit Committee and whether the company has an internal
auditing area whose competency includes supporting the committee in supervising the internal
control systemn, including the SCIIF. It will also report the scope of the evaluation of the ICFR

during the year and the procedure by which the body in charge of the evaluation will report its
results, if the company has an eclion plan which details passible corrective measures, and if its

impact on financial reporting has been considered.

Supervisory aclivities of the Audit Commites

The Audit and Control Committee is the advisory body to which lhe Baard of Directors has dslagated its powers to update
and supervise the SCIIF, As part of this function and 1o fulfil the tasks delegated by tha Board, the Commlttee recelves and
reviews the financial reparts which the NE Group issues to the markets and regulatory badias, particularly the cansolidated
annual financlal statements accompanied 2y the Audit Report The Committee supervises the preparation process and the
completeness of the financial reports of the Company and its subsidiaries, and checks lhat the [egal requirements applicable
to the NH Group are complied with, the ccieolidation perimeter is appropriate and that generally accepted accounting
standards are applied carrectly.

The Audit and Control Committee receives an annual repert fram the Intema Audit SVP on its assessment of the
effectiveness of the SCIIF model, the weaxnesses detected during intemal audlts, and the plans or actions already in place
te remedy any detected weaknesses.

During 2017, the Intemal Control Functior.. reporting to the Financial Department assumed full responsibility for

the SCIIF, in addition to its maintenance and extension o the different companies which form part of Grupo NH.

Currently, Grupo MH has a computer teol implemented which helps autemate the SCIIF assessment and certification
pracess, which will begin to be used during 2018 for the assessment and monthly monitoring of the SCIIF.

The Awdit and Cantral Committes supports and suparvises the work of the Intemal Audit departmant in its assesasment of the
SCIIF. The Commitiee praposzes the selecticn, appeintment and replacement of the body or parson raspansible far Internal
Audil services, validates and approves the strategy, the Internal Audit plan and objectives for the year, and is responsible for
evaluating the parformance of tha Intema! Audil Departmant Managsr annually.



The Internal Audit plan for assessing the SCHF is submitted to the Audit and Cantrol Committee far approval befare
being purt into practice, in order to include all the considerations of the Committee.

The level of implementation of the relevant recommendations arising from the SCIIF is raviewed by the Audlt and Caontrol

Committee at least once a year,
The Audit and Control Committee procecures are dacumented in the presentatians made by ssid Committee and

subsequently included in the cormesponding sighed minutes.

Internal Audit Function

Internal audits are canfed cut by the Group's Internal Audit Department, which raparts functionally to the Audit and Control
Committee and administratively to the General Secretaniat. This hierarchical structura is designed to enable the Internal Audit
function to remain structurally independent and to eéncourage direct communication to and from the Audit and Control

Cammittee,

The Intemal Audit function, via a team censisting of 9 auditors located in bath Corporate and the business units, ensures,
within reason, the effectiveness of the intemal control systam, suparviging and evaluating the deslgn and effectiveness of
the risk management system applied to the company, including apedific IT audits.

This function has intermal auditing statutes which ware updated in 2017 and have been farmally approved by the Audit and
Control Committee, and an intemmal audit manusl which sets aut the Department's working methods.

In relation to monitoring tha SCIIF, the Intarnal Audlt Department Is responsible for:

- Independemty avaluating the intemal central model for financlal reporting.

- Testing the asssrtions of the Board.

- Testing the effactivaness of intamal cant-ols In the companles within the scope of application, in 2 maximum perind of one
yaar for key contrals and three years for nan-key controls.

- Helping ta identify weaknesses In contrels and reviewing action plans to carrect inadequate canlrals,

- Carducting fallow-up checks to see [f waaknesses in controls have been properly remedied.

- Caardinaiing between the Board and the external auditor when clarification is needed an scope and testing plans.

Scaope of SCIIF 2017

The Group's SCIIF madel covers the business unils in Nerthem Europe {Benelux and Central Eurape), Sauthem Europe
(Spaln, France, Portugal and Italy) and Lain America (Mexico and Argentina, partially implemented), which consist of
230 hotels and 13 business cycles of majcrimportance in the presentation of financial reparts.

A total of 455 cantrol activiies have heen defined, divided between financial reparting and IT systemns, and classified as
key and non-key controls. Those responsible for the controls have been defined at Corparate level, for Business Unlts and

within the Shared Services Centre.

Grupo NH has defined a menthly calender for internal cantrol reporting where, at the snd of each manth, each responsible
body performs a self-assessiment of the cantrols for which it is responsible.

During 2017, the Intemal Control Department supervised the self-assessment process and svidence deposlited in 2 file
shared by the Shared Services Centre, A¢ministration and the Internal Cantral Departmant.

The assessment pracess in 2017 analysed a fotal of 345 controls for the gacgraphic area of Spaln, the Netherlands, Balgium,
Germany, Austna, Itaiy, Mexica, Argentina and controls at Corparate lavel, which involvad reaching 76% of their total. These
contrals were evaluated according ta the guidelines included in the "SCIIF Evaluation Procedure”, summarised below:

- The controls evaluated each manth (redating to Administraiion and the Shared Services Centre) were subjected ta two typses
of review, one based on the supervision of the evaluation by the cwners of the confrols, and another where the objective was
to repeat the tests and checks of the effectiveness of the confrol.

- For the other conlrols, evidence was obigined and the necessary tests were run to enable canclusions to be drawn

on their effectiveness.
- User-defined files (UDA) have been idertfied which impact the preparation of financial reports, where the existanca has

been venfied of contrals of complsteness, availability and security.

The review has detected weaknesses in irtemal controls and room far Improvement in certain processes which do not have
a significant impact on the quallty of financial reparting, and actien plans agreed with the bodies respansible for the controis
have been praposed. Jointly with the Internal Control Department, the Intermal Audit Department will chack tha
implemantation of these actlon plans durirg its reguiar tests of the SCIIF.

F.5.2. Whether there is a discussion procedure through which the accounts auditor {as established in
the NTA), the internal auditing area and other experts can report to senior management and the
Audit Committee or company administrators on the significant weaknesses in internal control
detected during the process of raviewing the annual accounts, or athers for which they are
respansible.



Likewise, whether there is an action plan ta correct or mitigate the weaknesses found.

The Audit Committee meats periodically ia raview the regular financial reports. It also discusses matters relating to
intemal controls and/or other current initiztives.

The Financial Department, through tha Chief Financial Officer, is respansibie far notifying seniar management of any
important matter relating to the SCIIF ancfor finandial reporting through the meetings of the Management Committee.

All the weaknesses detecied by the Intemal Audit Department during fts work are sublect to recommendatians and ection
plans agreed with the audited department. The [ntemal Audlt Department supendses the implementation af the agreed
actions and reparts thair status to the NI Group's various govemning badles {malnly the Audit Committee).

The extemal auditor notifias the Audit anz Control Committee of the condlusions of its audit procedures, and any other
matters which may ba considerad imporiznt. The external auditar also has aceess te the Audit and Control Committee in
ordsr ta shara, camment an ar repart any aspedts they conslder necessary or pertinent. The external auditor, without
breaching his/her indapendanca, will part'slpate In the dialogue with Management.

F.6 Other relevant infomation

None.

F.7 Repaort by the external

auditor Repart on:

F.7.1. Whether the SCIIF reports sent to the markets have been reviewed by the extemal auditor, in
which case the company must include the corresponding report as an appendix. If not, it must
report its reasans.

The Group's Management has declded to submit the information relating to the SCIIF included in this section F of the Annual
Carporate Govamance Repart for 2017, drawn up by the Company'’s Management, 10 the extermnal audilar for review. This

rapart is sttachad as an Annex.

DEGREE OF COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Indicate the Company's degree of cempliance with the recommendations of the Code of Goad
Governance for listed companies.

If any recommendation is not followed or is only followed in part, a detailed explanation of the reasons
must be included so that sharehaolders, investors and the market in generai have enough information to

assess the company' methods. Generalised explanations will not be acceptable.

1. The articles of association of listed companies should not limit the maximum number of votes that a single
shareholder may cast, nor contain other restrictions that stand in the way of a company take-over
through the acquisition of its shares in the market.

Complies | X Explain

2. When a parent company and a subsidiary company are both stock market listed, both must provide
detailed disclosure on:
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a) Their respective areas of activity and possible business relations betweaen them, as well as
between the listed subsidiary and the other companies in the group;

) The mechanisms in place for resolving potential conflicts of interest that may arise.

Complles [ ] Fartially complies Explain Not applicable [X

3. That during the ordinary general meeting, in addition fo circulating the annual corporate governance
report in writing, the chairman of the board of directars verbally informs the shareholders, in sufficient

detail, of the most important aspects of the company’s corporate governance and, in particular:

a) About changes that have occurred since the last ardinary general mesting.

b) About specific reasons why the company does not follow any of the recommendations in the
Corporate Governance Code and, if any, alternative rules applicable in this area.

Complies | X Fariglly complies [_| Expiain

4. That the company defines and promotes a policy of communication and contact with shareholders,
institutional investors and voting advisers which fully respects reguiations against market abuse and

gives similar treatment to shareholders who are in the same position.

And that the company publishes the policy on its web site, including information relating to the way in
which it is put into practice and identifying the contact persons ar those responsible for camrying it out.

Complies | X Pariially complies (] Explain

5. That the board of directors doss not bring a proposal to the general meeting for delegation of powers to
issue shares or convertible securities which exclude preferential subscription rights for more than 20%

of the company’s capital at the time of delegation.

And that when the board of directors approves any issue of shares or convertible securities excluding
preferential subscription rights, the company immediately publishes reports on its web site about this

exclusion as referred to under company law.

Complies | X Partially complles Explain

6. That listed companies drawing up the reports listed below, whether on a compulsory or voluntary basis,
publish then on their web site sufficiently in advance of the ordinary general meeting being held, even if

their circulation is not mandatory:

a) Report on the independence of the auditor.

b) Reports on the wark of the audit and appointments and remuneration committess.
¢) Audit committee report on related-party transactions.

d) Report on the corparate social responsibility policy.

Complies | X Partally complies Explain

/. That the company transmits general shareholders’ mestings live on its web site.

Complies | X Explain
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8. That the audit committee ensures that the Board of Directors makes svery effort to present financial
statements to the General Shareholders' Meeting that are free from limitations or qualifications in the
audit report and, in exceptional circumstances where they may exist, both the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and the auditors shall provide the shareholders with a clear explanation of the content and
scape of such limitations or qualifications.

Complias [X] Partlally complles [] Explain

9. That the company permanently publishes the requirements and procedures that it will accept to prove
ownership of shares, the right to attend the general shareholders' meeting and the exercise or delegation

of the right ta vote.

And that such requirements and procedures facilitate the shareholders’ attendance and the exercisa of
their right to vote and that they are applied in a non-discriminatory manner.

Complies Pardally complies Explain

10.That where any legitimate shareholder has, prior to the general shareholders’ meeting being held,
exercised the right to supplement the agenda or submit new proposals for resolution, the company:

a) Immediately circulates such supplementary points and new proposals for resolution.

b) Publicises the attendance card form or vote delegation or remote voting form with the amendments
needed so that the new points on the agenda and alternative proposals for resolution may be voted
onh under the same terms as thase propased by the board of directors.

c) Puts all such points or alternative proposals to the vote and applies the same voting rules as thoze
for the points made by the board of directors including, in particular, the assumptions or deductions
on the outcome of the vote.

d) Report, after the general shareholders’ meeting, the breakdown of the vote on such supplementary
points or altemative proposals.

Complies Parlially complles Explain Not spplicable | X

11.That, in the event that the company foresees payment of fees for attendance at the general
shareholders’ meeling, it sets up a general policy on such fees beforehand and that said policy is stable.

Complies Partially complies Explain Not applicable [ X

12. That the board of directors performs its duties with a unity of purpose and independence of judgement,
gives the same treatment to all shareholders wha are in the same position and is guided by company
interest, understood to be the achievement of a profitable business that is sustainable in the long term,
that promates its continuity and the maximisation of the company’s financial value.

And that in pursuing company interests, apart from respecting the laws and regulations and behaviour
based on good faith, ethics and respect for commonly accepted uses and goad practice, it seeks to
reconcile company interest with, as appropriate, the legitimate interests of its employees, suppliers,
customers and other interest groups who may be affected, along with the impact of the company's
activities on the community as a whole and the environment.

Complies | X Partiaily complies Explain
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13. That, in the interests of effectiveneas and participation, the board of directors should comprise no
fewer than five and no more than 15 members.

Camplies | X Explain [ ]

14. That the board of directors approves a policy for selecting directors that;
a) I8 specific and verifiable.

b) Ensures that proposals for appointment or re-election are based on prior analysis of the board of
directors’ needs.

¢) Encourages diversity of knowledge, experience and gender.

That the result of prior analysis of the hoard of directors’ needs is included in an explanatory report from
the appointments committee which is published when calling the general shareholders’ meeting to which
it is submitted for ratification, appointment or re-election of each directar.

And that the policy for selecting directors promotes the objective that by 2020 the number of female
directors is at least 30% of the total number of members of the board of directors.

The appointments committee will verify compliance with the policy for selecting directors annually and
will report on it in the annual corporate govemance report.

Complies | X Parially complies Expiain

15. External proprietary directors and independent directors should comprise a significant majority of the
Board of Directors, and the number of executive directors be kept ta a minimum, taking into account the
complexity of the corporate group and the percentage shareholdings of the executive directors in the
company.

Complies | X Panlially complies Explain

16. That the ratio of proprietary directors to the total number of non-executive directars should not be greater
than the existing ratio between the capital of the company represented by such directors and the
remaining capital.

This criteria may be flexible:

a) In companies with high capitalisation where shareholdings that are legally considered to be
significant are scarce.

b) In companies in which there are numerous shareholders represented on the baard of directors and
these shareholders have no links between them.

Complias | X Explain

17. That independent directors represent at least half of all the directors.

Nevertheless, where the company does not have high capitalisation or where, even if it does, it has one
shareholder, or several acting jointly, who control more than 30% of the company capital, the number of
independent directors represents, at least, one-third of all the directors.

Caomplies | X Expiain

18. That companies publish and update the following information about their directors on their web site:
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a) Professianal profile and biography.

b) Other boards of directors ta which they belong, whether or not they are listed companies, along
with information about their other remunerated activities, whatever they may be.

¢) Indication of the director's category stating, in the case of proprietary directors, the shareholder that
they represent or with whom they have ties.

d} Date of their first appointment as a director in the company as well as the date of subsequent re-
appointments.

e) Shares and share options held by the directar.

Complles [X Parfially complies [ ] Explain

19. That the annual carporate govemance report, after verification by the appointments committee, explains
the reasons why proprietary directors have been appointed on behalf of shareholders with shareholdings
of less than 3% in the company capital and the reasons for ignoring, if applicable, formal requests for
presence on the Board from shareholders with shareholdings equal to or greater than others who have
successfully proposed proprietary directors.

Complies Partlally complles Explain |_—_J Not applicabie [ X

20. That proprietary directors present their resignation when the shareholder they represent transfers its
entire shareholding. And the number of praprietary directors is also reduced when the shareholders in
question reduce their holdings 10 a level that requires fewer such directors.

Complies Partially complies Explaln [X Nat applicable [ ]

The Company's General Shareholders® Meeting used its votes ta sat the reprasentation of the praprietary sharehoider on the Board of
Directors. As a result, there is (i) a proprietary shareholder with a holding of around 28% (HNA Graup) without representation on the
Board, (l) another praprietary sharehalder with a holcing of around 12% (Qeeanwoaod) which, with one director would be under-
represented an the Board, and (i) a third propristary sharehalder with & holding of araund 9% (Grupo Hesperia Inversor) which, with twa
directors would be over-represented. With regard to this Jast sharehaldar, in 2014 thay raduzed thelr sharshalding in NH but reteined two
representathses on NH's Board of Directors as it was considerad that the in-dapth knowladge hoth representatives had of the hotel
industry was an asset worth presening for the benefit of all sharehalders. And so it was approved by the General Sharehdders' Meeling
on 28 June 2017 and by the proxy advisors which covered seid Meeting who rscommanded vating In favour of the appaintment's
approvai.

21. The Board of Directors does not prapase the removal of any independent director before the statutory
period for which the director has been appuinted concludes, unless the board of directors has just cause,
based on a report by the Appointments Committee. In particular, it will be understood that just cause
exists where the director takes up new posts or undertakes new obligations which prevent him/her from
dedicating the time needed to perform the duties of the post of director, or failing to carry out the duties
inherent to the post or he/she incurs in any of the ¢ircumstances which cause him/her to lose histher
independent status, in accordance with the provisions of applicable law.

The removal of independent directors may also be proposed as a result of mergers, take-overs or other
similar carporate actions that change the structure of the company's capital when such changes in the
structure of the board of directors obey the criteria of proportionality indicated in Recommendation 16.

Complles | X Expiain
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22. Companies establish rules that require directors to report and, as applicable, resign when circumstances
arise that could damage the company’s credibility and reputation, and in particular to notify the board of
directors of any criminal proceedings in which they are involved, and the subsequent developments of
any counrt action.

If a director is indicted or sent for trial far any of the offences provided for in company law, the board of
directors shall examine the case as soon as possible and, based on the specific circumstances, decide
whether the directar should continue in their post. The board of directors reporta and explains all such
accurrences in the annual corparate governance report.

Complies | X Parliglly complies Explain

23. All directors clearly express their opposition when they believe that a proposal for a decision presented
to the board of directors may not be in the Company’s interests. Particularly independent and other
directars who are not affected by any potential conflict of interest should oppose decisions that may be
detrimental to shareholders not represented on the board of directors.

When the board of directors adapts significant or repeated decisions about which a director has serious
reservations, the director draws the appropriate conclusions and, if they decide to resign, explains the
reasons in the letter referred to in the following recommendation.

This recommendation alsa applies to the secretary of the board of directors, even though they may not
be a director.

Compiies |X Parially complies Explain MNat applicable

24. When, due to resignation or for other reasons, a director vacates their post befare the end of their term,
they explain the reazons in a letter sent to every member of the board of directors. And, notwithstanding
the fact that this departure is reported as a significant event, the reasan for the departure is reported in
the annual corporate governance report.

Camplies [X Partiaily complies Explain Not applicable [ |

235. That the appointments committee ensures that non-executive directors have sufficient time available
to perform their duties properly.

That the company rules set out the maximum number of company boards that its directors may belong
ta:

Camplies | X Partially complies Explain

26. The board of directors is to meet as frequently as required to efficiently perform its functions, at least
eight times a vear, following the schedule of dates and matters established at the start of the year, and
each director, individually, may propose other items not initially included on the agenda.

Complies | X Parlially complies Explain

27, Directars may only be absent when it is essential and the number of absences should be included in the
annual corporate governance report. When non-attendance is inevitable, the absent director may
nominate a proxy and provide instructions.
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Complies Partiaily complies X Explain l_l

Qut of a tolal of 11 meetings of the Baard of Directors, it was not possible to nominate a proxy with instuclions in 3 for reasons of
urgency. In any case, the percentage of attendance over total votes during the year was 97.28%.

28.When directors or the secretary raise concerns about a propasal or, in the case of directors, about the
performance of the company, and such concems are not resolved by the board of directors, these
concerns are recorded in the minutes at the request of the director raising them.

Complles [ X Partially complies Explain Nat applicatle

29. The company sets up appropriate channels so that directors may abtain the advice needed to perform
their duties, including, if the circumstances deem fit, external advice payable by the company.

Complies E Parially complies Explain

30. Independently of the knowledge demanded from the directors to carry out their duties, the companies
also offer directors with the opportunity ta participate in knowledge refresher programmes where the
circumstances 80 require.

Complies | X £xplain Not applicable

31. The agenda at meetings clearly shows the points regarding which the board of directors must make a
decision or adopt a resolution so that the directors can study them ar gather the information needed for

their adoption beforehand.

Where, exceptionally, on the grounds of urgency, the chairman wishes to submit decisions or resolutions
for the board of directars’ approval which do not appear on the agenda, prior, express consent will be
required from the majority of directors present, and this will be duly recorded in the minutes.

Complies (A Partially complies Explain

32. Directors are periodically informed about changes in shareholdings and the opinion that significant
shareholders, investors and ratings agencies have about the company and its group.

Camplies [X] Partatlly complies Explain

33. The chairman, being responsible for the effective functioning of the board of directors, in addition to
carrying out the duties that are legally and statutorily attributed thereto, prepares and submits a
programme of dates and matters to be addressed to the board of directors; organises and coordinates
the periodic assessment of the board and, if necessary, the company's chief executive; ensures that
sufficient time ts given to the discussion of strategic matters, and agrees and reviews knowledge
refresher programmes for each director where the circumstances 50 reguire.

Complies [X Partialy complies Explatn
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34. Where there is a coordinating director, the articles of association or board of directors’ regulations offer
him/her the following powers, in addition to the powsrs provided by the law: chair the board of directors
in the absence of the chairman and vice-chairmen, if any; speak up for non-executive directors concems;
maintain contact with investors and shareholders to establish their points of view for the purposes of
farming an opinion on their cancerns, particularly in relation to the campany's corparate governance;

and coordinate the chairman’s succession plan.

Camplias Partially complies Explaln Nat applicable [ X

35. That the secretary of the baard of directors takes particular care so that, in their actions and decisions,
the board of directors are aware of the recommendations on good gavernance contained in this Code

of Good Governance applicable to the company.

Complies [ X Explain

36.Once a year the board of directors, in plenary, assesses and adapts, as necessary, an action plan
correcting shortcomings detected in relation to:

a) The quality and efficiency of the board of director’s work.

b) The operation and compasition of its committees.

¢) The diversity of the composition and powers of the board of directors.

d) The perfarmance of the chairman of the board of directors and the chief executive of the company.

&) The perfarmance and contribution of each director, paying patticular attention to those respansibie
for the variaus committees of the board.

Assessment of the various committees will be based on the report that they submit to the board of
directors and, with respect ta the board, the report submitted by the appecintments committee.

Every three years, the board of directors will be aided in camying out the assessment by an external
consultant whose independence will be verified by the appointmenis committee.

The business relationship of the consultant, or any company in its group, with the company, or any
company in its group, must be broken down in the annual corporate governance report.

The process and the areas assessed will be subject to description in the annual corporate governance
report.

Complles [X Partlally complles Explain

37. When there is an executive committee, the participation structure of the different director categories is
similar to that of the main Board and its secretary is the Secretary of the Board.

Complles Fartially camplies X Explain Not appticable

The Company's Execulive Committee does not have a similar director category structure as the Board of Clrectors Itself as, in the
Executive Committee thers is a graater waight of propriatary directors than on the Board of Directors. This Is the result of an informed and
free decision by the Board of Diractors which, logically, has been approved by qualified majarities conslderng that the make up of its
Exacutive Committee is adequats to camy out its duties.

The Sacretary and Deputy Sacretary of the Board serve n the same positions on the Executive Commitiee.
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38.The board of directors is always aware of the issues discussed and the decisions adopted by the
executive cammittee and each member of the board of directors receives a copy of the minutes of the

executive committee’s meetings.

Camplies [X Partially camplies Expiain [ ] Nat applicabla ||

38. Members of the audit committee, particularly its chairman, are appointed on the basis of their knowledge
and experience in accountancy, auditing or risk management and the majority of its members are
independent directors.

Complies (X Parislly complies Explain

40. Under supervision of the audit commitiee, there is a unit that carries out the internal audit function,
tasked with ensuring the proper functioning of the information and internal control systems and that
functionally comes under the non-executive chairman of the board or of the audit commiittee.

Camplies | X Pariaily complies Explaln

41.The manager of the unit responsible for internal audit submits histher annual work plan to the audit
committee, directly reports corresponding incidents and submits an activity report to the committee at
the end of every year.

Complies [X] Parffally complies ] Explain Not zpplicabls | ]

42. In addition to those provided for by the law, the audit committee is responsible for the following
functions:

1. In relation to internal control and information systems:

a) Supervising the preparation and safeguarding the integrity of the financial reporting relating
to the company and, if applicable, to the group, reviewing compliance with regulations, the
adequate delimitation of the consolidated group and the proper application of accounting
standards.

b) Safeguarding the independence and effectiveness of the unit responsible far internal auditing;
proposing the selection, appointment, re-election and removal of the manager of the internal
audit service; proposing the budget for this service; approving its focus and work plans,
ensuring that its activity is mainly focussed on relevant risks for the company; receiving
periodic information about its actlivities; and verifying that senior management takes into
account the conclugions and recommendations of its reports.

¢) Establishing and supervising a mechanism that allows employees to report confidentially and,
if possible and considered appropriate, anonymously, any potentially significant irregularities,
particularly financial and accounting, they discover within the Company.

2. In relation to the external auditor:

a) In the case of the resignation of the external auditor, examining the circumstances that may
have fead to this.

b) Ensuring that the external auditor's remuneration for their work does not compromise their
quality or independence.

c) Monitoring that the company notifies the Spanish Stock Market Commission (CNMV) of the
change of auditor as a significant event and accompanies it with a statement about the
existence of disagreements with the outgoing auditor and the content of such disagreements,

if they exist.
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d) Ensuring that the external auditor has an annual meeting with the board of directors in plenary
to repart on the work carried out and on the evolution of the accounting position and risks to
the company.

e) Ensuring that the company and the external auditor follow prevailing regulations on the
provision of services other than audit services, the limits on the concentration of business with
the auditor and, in general, any other regulations on the independence of the auditors:

Complias [X Pardaily complies Explain | ]

43. The Audit Committee may summon any employee or directar of the company, and may require the
appearance of the same without the presence of any other director.

Camplies (X Partially complies Explain

44  The audit committee is informed about structural and corporate amendment transactions that the
company plans to carry out for analysis and prior reporting to the board of directors about their financial
terms and their accounting impact and, in particular, as appropriate, on the proposed swap ratio.

Compilies { X Partialiy complies Expialn Not applicable C

45. The risk management and control policy identifies at least the following:

a) The different types of risk, either financial or non-financial, (operational, technological, legal, social,
environmental, reputational, amongst others) to which the company is exposed, including contingent
lizbilities and other off-balance sheet risks amongst financial and economic risks.

b) The lavel of risk that the company considers acceptable.
¢) The measures planned to mitigate the impact of identified risks should they materialise.

d) The intemmal control and information systems that will be used to control and manage the
aforementioned risks, including contingent liabilities or off-balance sheet risks.

Camplies | X Partally complies Explain

46. Under the direct supervision of the audit committee or, as appropriate, a specialist committee of the
board of directors, there is an intemal risk control and management system run by an internal unit or
department at the company which is expressly given the following functions:

a) Ensure the proper functioning of the risk control and management systems and, in particular, that all
significant risks that may affect the company are adequately identified, managed and quantified.

b) Actively take part in drawing up risk strategy and in impartant decisions on its management.

¢) Ensure that risk control and management systems suitably mitigate risks within the framewark of the
policy defined by the board of directors.

L

Camplies (X Partially complfes Explain




47. The members of the appointments and remuneration committee —or the appointments committiee and
remuneration committee, if they are separate— are appainted endeavounng to ensure that they have
suitable knowledge, skills and experience for the functions that they are called to perform and that the
majority of such members are indepsendent direciors.

Campliae | X Parislly complias Explain

48. Companies with high capitalisation have separate appointments and remuneration committees.

Complies Explain Mot applicable | X

49. The appointments committee consults the chairman of the boarad of directars and the chief executive of
the campany, particularly regarding issues concerning executive directors.

And that any director can request the appointments committee to take into consideration potential
candidates ta cover any director vacancies, if, in their opinion, they deem the candidate apprapriate.

Complies | X Parially complies Explaln

50. The remuneration committee carries out its functions independently and, apart from the functions
allotted to it by the [aw, also carries out the following:

a) Propose the basic conditions of contracts for sentor management to the hoard of directors.
b) Monitor compliance with the remuneration policy established by the company.

c¢) Periodically review the remuneration policy applicable to directors and senior management, including
systems of remuneration with shares and their application, in addition to ensuring that individual
remuneration is proportionate to that paid to the company’s other directars and senior management.

d) Ensure that possible confilicts of interest do not affect the independence of the external advice given
ta the committee.

@) Verify the information regarding directors’ and senior management's remuneration contained in the
various carporate documents, including the annual report on directors’ remuneration.

Complies (X Pertielly camplies Explain

51. The Remuneration Commitiee consults the chairman and the Chief Executive Director of the
company, particularly regarding issues concerning executive directars.

Camplies | X Parlially compliaa Explain

52.The rules on the compaosition and functioning of the supervision and control committees are contained
in the board of directors’ rules and are consistent with those applicable to the committees that are legally
mandatary in accordance with the above-mentioned recommendations, including:

a) That they are exclusively made up of non-executive directors, with a majority of independent
directars.

b) The chairmen are independent directors.
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¢) The board of directors appoints the members of these committees taking into account the knowledge,
skills and experience of the directors and the tasks of each committee; it discusses their proposals
and reports, and during the first plenary session following their meetings, gives account of their
activities which regponds to the work carried out:

d) The committees have access to external advice when they deem it necessary to perform their duties.
e) Minutes of their meetings are drawn up and made available to all the directors.

Complies Partially complies Explain Mot apgllicable | X

23. Supervision of compliance with the corporate govemance rules, intemal rules of conduct and corporate
social responsibility palicy is the responsibility of one or distributed amongst several committees of the
board of directors which may include the audit, appointment or corporate social responsibility committee,
if there is onse, or a specialist commitiee that the board of directors, exercising its powers of self-
organisation, decides to create for that purpose, to which the following functions are given, as a

minimum:

a) Supervise compliance and internal codes of conduct, as well as the company's rules of carporate
governance

b) Supervise the communications strategy and relationship with shareholders and investars, including
small and medium shareholders.

c) Periodically assess the adequacy of the company’s corporate governance system, for the purpose
that it complies with its mission o promote company interests and takes into account, as appropriate,
the legitimate interests of other stakeholders.

d) Review the company’s corporate responsibility policy, ensuring that it is directed at creating value.

e) Monitor carporate sacial responsibility strategy and practices and assess the level of compliance
therewith.

) Supervise and assess relationship processes with the various stakeholders.

g) Assess all matters relating to the company's non-financial risks —including operational, technological,
legal, social, environmental, political and reputational.

h) Coordinate the process for non-financial and diversity information reporting in accordance with
applicabie regulations and internatianal reference standards.

Complies |4 Partially complies Explain

54.The corporate social responsibility policy includes the principles or undertakings that the company
assumes voluntarily in its relationships with the various stakeholders and identifies, as a minimum;

a) The aims of the corporate social responsibility policy and the development of support tools.
b) Corparate strategy in relation to sustainability, the environment and social matters.

c) Specific practices in matters related to: sharcholders, employses, customers, suppliers, sacial
matters, the environment, diversity, tax responsibility, respect for human rights and the prevention of
lllegal behaviour.

d) The methads or systems for manitaring the resuits of the application of specific practices listed under
the previous letter, associated risks and their management.

e) Mechanisms for supervising non-financial risk, company ethics and behaviour.
f) Channels for communication, participation and dialogue with stakeholders.
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g) Respansible communication practices that avoid the manipulation of information and protect
integrity and honaour.

Complies Partlally complles Explain

55.The campany reporis, in a separate document or in the management report, on matters related to
corporate social responsibility, using one of the internationally accepted methadologies to do so.

Complies | X Parilalty complies Explain D

56. Directors' remuneration is sufficient to attract and retain directors with the desired profile and to
remunerate the dedication, gualification and responsibility that the post demands, but not so high as to
compromise the independent opinion of non-executive directors.

Complies [X Explain [ ]

57.Variable remuneration linked to company and personal performance is limited to executive directors, in
addition to remuneration with shares, options or rights aver shares or instruments referenced to share

vailue and long-term savings systems such as pension plansg, retirement plans or other saocial benefits
systems.

Giving shares by way of remuneration to non-executive directors may be contemplated when this is
conditional on said shares being retained until they cease to be directors. The foregoing will not be
applicable to shares that a director needs to dispose of, as appropriate, to pay for the costs related to
their acquisition.

Complies X Parlially camplies Explain

28. In the case of variable remuneration, payment policies incorporate the limits and technical safeguards
required to ensure that such remuneration is in line with the professional performance of the
beneficiaries and is not solely denved from the general evolution of the markets or the business sector

of the company or from other similar ¢ircumstances.
[n particular, the variable components of remuneration:

a) Are bound to performance criteria that are predefined and measurable and that such criteria consider
the risk assumed to obtain a result.

b) Pramate the company's sustainability and include non-financial criteria that are appropriate for the
creation of long-term value, such as compliance with the company's intemal rules and procedures
and its policies for risk control and management.

c) Are set up on the basis of a balance between fulfilling objectives in the shart-, medium- and lang-
term that make it possible to reward continuous performance during a periad of time that is sufficient
to appreciate the contribution to sustainable creation of value, in guch a way that the elements for
measuring this performance are nat solely based around ane-off, occasional or extraordinary events.

Camplies Partially complies X Explain Nat applicable

The Company's executive directars' short-term varlable remuneration has ten per cent linked to the professional performancs of the
CEQ, i.e. his performance assessment. The elght conmpetences measured in this performance assessment are non-financial and are
linked to predetamined and measurable performance criteria, as Is recommended.
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Iy retation [o long-term variable remuneration, although it does not include non-financial criferia as a measure of achievement, it doaes
include a “clawback® clause with an application pericd of two years from the end of each cyde and for which the payback of the award

may be demanded in the following cases:
|. Restatemnent af tha Company's financlal statemeants wherever not due to the modification of applicable accounting standards or

:nterpretations.
ii. The Executive Direclor being sanctlened for sarfous breach of Ihe code of conduct and other internal reguiations which may ba applicable.
iii. When the settlement and payment of the award was wholly or partially produced on the basis of information whose falsehood or

serious inaccuracy is manifestly demonstratad a posterion.

59. Payment of a significant part of variable components of remuneration is deferred for a sufficient minimum
period of time to verify that the remuneration terms previously set up have been fuifilled.

Complies Partially compiies X Explain [ ] Not applicable

There i3 no defermal scheme i the Company's curmerit annual variable remuneratlon system for any of its participants. With lang-larm
variable remuneration, its very nature allows the Company's perfarmance to be seen In the medlum and [ong term (3 years), in
addition ta ex pest comtrol instruments which would be activated when clrocumstances arise which make it evident that the payment

was made on an aranequs premise.

60. Remuneration linked to the resulis of the company shall take into consideration any possible
qualifications in the auditor's report that might reduce such results.

Complies |4 Partially complies Explain Not applicable

61. A significant percentage of the executive directors’ variable remuneration is linked to the handover of
shares or financial instruments referenced to their value.

Compiies Partially compiies Explain Nof applicable

62. Once the shares or options or rights over shares relating to the remuneration system have been allotted.
the directors may not transfer ownership of a number of shares equivalent to twice their annual fixed
remuneration, nor may they exercise the options or rights until a period of, at least, three years has

passed since their allotment.

The foregoing will not be applicable to shares that a director needs to dispose of, as appropriate, to pay
for the costs related to their acquisition.

Complies Partially camplies Explain [X Not appllcable

Bath the 2014-20M9 and 2017-2022 "Performance Shares" Plans establish the abligation ta retain the shares delivered to the Execulive
Dlrector for at least one year. In addition, the Executive Director wiil be abliged ta hold an amaunt in shares equivalent to at keast one
year of fixed remuneration throughout their entire tenure. To detesmine compliance with Ihis obligation, it considers the share price on the

day they were delivered.

83. Contractual agreements include a clause that allows the company to claim repayment of the variable
components of remuneration where the payment has not been adjusted to the terms for performance or

where they were paid in the light of data which is later proven to be inaccurate.

Complies X Partially complias Explain Not applicable

64. Payments for tekmination of contract do nbtlexceed an amoludt established as thd:aquivalem of twa
years total annual remuneration and they are not paid until the company has been able to prove that the
director fulfilled the performance criteria set up beforehand.
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Complies Partially complies (] Explain  [X] Not applicable

Fegarding the outgaing Exacutive Bady, the poasible compansation which could comespand to it iz panding judicial review, with the
court having sel 20 Movamber 2018 far 1he pre-trial rsanng. YWhan any news ariges, this infoermation will ba transfarred quickly and
included into the new annual repartg which may ba racessary. Natwithstanding the foregoing, and in accordance with griter|a of
accaounling pruderke, the Campany's Annual Accourts heve had the maximurm amounts which, if applicabla. could ba darived from
the svantus! compansgslian to Mr Faderico Gonzalez Tejera fully providad far.

In no avent will Ramaén Aragonas Marin, the Exscutive Director appaintsd in 2017, be antitlad ta receiva any campensation derfved
fram tha termination of hig posilion and anding of such caommargial relationship. Howsvar, the pozsgibla indemnities derved from an
arding of the smplaymant relationship will cantinue in affect during his tarm as Executive Diractor, racognising that period as time
employad. Onca anded, as appropriate, tha buginass ralatianship will aka aver tha labour rslationship which was In effect between
company and amplayee until the {aking on of the new positian in all its effacts, except in garious and culpable breach and thus

declarsd jurisdictionally.

OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION

E

1. If there are any aspects relating to the corporate governance of the Company ar the Group's entities
which have not been covered in the other sections of this report, but which are necessary to include
in arder 10 gather complete and detailed information on the structure and practices of the governance
of the entity or the Graup, please notz them briefly.

2. You may include any other informatian, clarification or detail in this section, related to the previous
sections of the report, which may be relevant but not repetitive.

Specifically, please indicate whether the company is subject to legislation other than that of Spain in
relation to corporate governance and. if applicable, include the information that must be provided and
that is different to the information required by this report.

3. The company may also indicate whether it has voluntarily committed to other cades of ethics or best
practices, whether international, in the sector or in another context. If so, identify the code in question

and the date of adheasion.

SECTION A2,

Although in the CNMV Reconds il is recarded that the shareholding of Grupo HNA in NH is 28.50% at 31 December 2017,
Grupo HNA reported a decrease to 29.34% in it$ shareholding in NH to the CNMV on 27 February 2017,
In addition, on 3 Nevember 2017, Grupo HNA nciified the CNMV of the signing of a sales ¢enlract and repurchase agreemeit

thraugh which it would transfer NH shares representing approximately 1.14% of the share capital.
Depending an whether the sale has been fonnalised and the terms and conditions of il, Grupoe HNA's shareholding in NH cowdd reach
28.20% of the share capital. Finally, on 19 January 2018, it notified the CNMV of the engagement to review its sharaholding in NH,

including identify potential buyers of its shareholding.

Althaugh the dirsctors ara expressly excluded in ssction A.2, to show the shareholding in NH Holsl Graup, S.A. clearly, the
sharehalding of Grupe Inversor Hespearia. S.A. is included in that saction as it is also a director af the Company. The shareholding of
Grupa Haaperia consists af the dimct shareheoldirg held by Grupa Invarsaer Hasparia, S.A. (2.10%) and Eurofanda (0.17%).

SECTION A.5.
All relatlons of a commerclal, contractual or corperate nature between significant shareholders and the Company and/or its

group have been described In the section on Related Party Transactlons (insofar as the significant shareholders are also
Campany directors). These relatlons have not besn Included In section A.5 since these transactions are ¢onsidered to arise

from the ordinary caurse of the Company's business.

SECTION A.8.

At 31 December 2017, final ownership of NH Hatal Group, S.A. awn shares came te 8,031,885 shares.
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During 2017, the Company did not acquire own shares. The other operations comaspand ta refunds of shares undertaken as part of
the loan agreement far 9,300,000 shares in NH Hotal Group, S.A. enterad into as part of the issue of the bonds convertible or

exchangeable for shares of NH Hotel Group in November 2013 bstwaan the Company and the thrae finandal institutions involved in
the placement of the bonds, The oulstanding balance of the shara lending initialiva at 31 December 2017 came ta 1,384,473 shares.
By virtue of the foregoing, the final ownership of NH Hate! Graup, S.A. own shares at 31 December 2017 came te 8,031,895 shares,

which are altached to the same number of rights to vote.

SECTION C.1.12

Given that the IAGC warkfarce only allows inclusian of pasitions which the Diractars had on the Board of Directors of other listed
companies, it is hereby informed that Mr Fernancdo Lacadena Azpeitia is the Financial Diractar at Merdin Properties Sacimi, S.A.

SECTION C.1.17

Mr Jordi Farmer Graupera, the individual represertative of Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A., a significant sharehalder in the
Company, hakis the position of joint and several director of Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A.

SECTION €C.1.33.
The Board also has a Deputy Secretary, Mr Carlas Ulecia Palacios, who holds the past of General Secretary of the Company.

SECTION C.1.43.

HNA, via its campany Tangla, S.L., brought criminal proceedings against Mr José Antonio Castro Sousa based on the
agreements adapted at the General Sharehalders’ Meeting of 21 Juns 2016 at which kMr Caslro served as the Chaimnan of the
Meeting. The Instructing Judge of said criminal aclion dismissed and filed tha proceedings on 21 September 2017, This ardsr to
dismiss and file has been appealed by HMNA, and is pending resclution.

SECTION C.2.1.

Notwithstanding the detalled composition of the Board of Directors, the Company has a co-chairmanship system which specifies
the appointment of a Chalrman of the Board (Mr Aifredo Fernandez Agras) and a Chairman of tha Executive Committee (Mr José

Antonio Castro Sousa).

In relatlon to the reference made to the Audit and Control Committea and tha identificatian of the "member of the audit
committee who has been appointed taking their knowledge and experience in accounting, auditing or both Inta account”, the
IAGC form only allows the appeintment of one of the members (as required by articla $29m af the LSC, which requires that "one
of them be appolnted taking their knowledge inte account" in these matters), clarificstion is wanted that all members af the Audit
and Control Committee have extensive experience and knowledge in accounting and auditing, which is why they have been
appainted to be part of the Committee in question.

SECTION D.2.

On 18 April 2017, NH and the sharehatder Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. sighed a framework contract for hotel mansgesmant for 2
tatal net amount of 31,000 (thousand) euros, of which 11,000 (thousand) eures was paid in 2017 {published through Relevant
Event with record number 250817 dated 19 Aprll 2017). Said agreement has brought about a new sirategic and transfarmational
framework far the Company when signing new hctel managament contracts for a lerm of 8 years,

It is herehy recorded that concaming the management agreement entered into between Hoteles Hesperis, S.A. and the major
shareholder Grupao Inversor Hasperia, S.A , the Iotal transaction volume in 2017 came to 8,989 (thousand) ewos. The bhalance at 31
Dacember 2017 resulting from sald managemen: agreement is contained in this report and cames to 2,191 {thousand) auros.

SECTION D.3.

Sae nota D.2. where the sharehokier Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. which carries out significent operations with the Caompany is a
Diractar of tha Campany at the same time.

SECTION G.3.

Aithough 1he General Shareholders' Meeting complied with the provisians of this Recommendation, it was the Chairman of the
Appaintments, Remuneration and Corporate Gavemance Committas (and not the Chairman of the Board) whao provided this

infarmation,

This annual corporate governance report has been approved by the company’s Board of Directors in its
session on 28/02/2018.

Indicate whether any directars voted against or abstained in relation to the approval of this report.
Yes Na |X
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Transfation of a report originally issued in Spanish. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-
language version prevails.

AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE "INFORMATION RELATING TQ THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (ICFR}" OF NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED ON
DECEMBER 31t 2017

To the Directars of
NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A.:

As requested by the Board of Directors of NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. (“the Entity”} and in accordance
with our proposal-letter of January 22, 2018, we have applled certain procedures to the
accompanying “Information relating to the ICFR” of NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. for the fiscal year ended
on December 31%, 2017, which summarises the internal contrel procedures of the Entity in relation
to its annua!l financial reporting.

The Board of Directors is responsible for adopting the appropriate measures in order to reasonably
guarantee the implementation, maintenance and supervision of an adequate internal contrel system
and for making improvements to that system and for preparing and estahlishing the content of the
accompanying information relating to the ICFR system included in section F) of the accompanying
Annual Corporate Governance Report {ACGR).

It should be noted in this regard, irrespective of the quality of the design and operational
effectiveness of the internal contro! system adopted by the Entity in relation to its annual financial
reporting, that the system can only permit reasonable, but not absolute, assurance in connection
with the objectives pursued, due to the limitations inherent to any internal control system.

In the course of our audit work on the financial statements and pursuant to Technical Auditing
Standards, the sole purpose of our assessment of the internal control of the Entity was to enable us
to establish the scope, nature and timing of the audit procedures to be applied to the Entity's financial
statements. Therefare, our assessment of internal control performed for the purposes of the
aforementioned audit of financial statements was not sufficiently extensive to enable us to express
a specific opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control over the regulated annual financial

reporting.

Far the purpose of issuing this report, we applied exclusively the specific procedures described below
and indicated in the Guldelines on the Auditors” Repert on the Information relating ta the System of
Internal Control over Financial Reporting of Listed Companies, published by the Spanish National
Securities Market Commission on its website, which establishes the work to be performed, the
minimum scope thereof and the content of this report. Since the work resulting from such procedures
has, in any case, a reduced scape that is significantly less extensive than that of an audit or a review
¢f the internal control system, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness thersof, or on its
design or operating effectiveness, in relation to the Entity's annual financial reporting for the fiscai
year ended on December 31, 2017 described in the accompanying infarmation on the ICFR system.
Therefare, had we applied procedures additional to those established in the aforementioned
Guidelines or performed an audit or a revliew of the internal control over the regulated annual financial
reporting, other matters or aspects might have been disclosed which would have been reported to

you.

Alsc, since this special engagement does not constitute an audit of financial statements and is not
subject to the consolidated Spanish audit law, we do not express an audit opinion in the terms
providad for in that Law.
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The procedures applied were as follows:

1.

Perusal and understanding of the information prepared by the Entity in relation to the ICFR
system - disclosure infarmation included in the directors’ report - and assessment of whether
this information addresses all the information required considering the minimum content
described in section F, relating to the description of the ICFR system, of the ACGR form, as
established in CNMV Circular 7/2015 of December 227, 2015, which amends CNMV Circular
S/2013 of June 12, 2013.

Inguiries of personnel in charge of preparing the information detailed in point 1 above for the
purpose of achieving: (i) familiarisation with the preparation process; (ii) obtainment of the
information reguired in order to assess whether the terminelogy used is adapted 1o the definitions
provided in the reference framework; (iii} obtainment of information on whether the
aforemeantioned control procedures have been implemented and are in use at the Entity.

Review of the explanatory documents supporting the information detailed in point 1 above,
Including documents directly made available to those responsible for describing the ICFR
systems. In this respect, the aforementioned documentation inciudes reports prepared by the
Internal Audit Department, senior executives or other internal or external experts providing

support functions to the Audit Committee.

Compariscon of the information detalled in point 1 above with the knowledge on the Entity's ICFR
obtained through the procedures applied during the financial statement audit wark.

Reading of the minutes taken at meetings of the Board of Directors, Audit and Control Committee
and other committees of the Entity to evaluate the consistency between the ICFR business
transacted and the information detailed in point 1 above.

Obtainment of the representation letter in connection with the work performed, signed by those
respansible for preparing and formulating the information detailed in point 1 above.

The procedures applied to the information relating to the ICFR system did not disclose any
Inconsistencies or incidents that might affect the information.

This report has been prepared exclusively in the context of the requirements of article 540 of
Carporate Enterprises Act and by CNMV Circular 7/2015 of Becember 22M, 2015, which amends
CNMV Circular 5/2013 of June 12th, 2013, published by the Spanish National Securities Market
Cornmission for the purposes of the description of the ICFR system in Annual Corporate Governance
Reports.

DELOITTE, S.L.

Pilar Cerezo Sabrin
February 28%, 2018



